
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

E-mail: democraticservicestdc@teignbridge.gov.uk 
 

24 February 2025 
 
 

EXECUTIVE 
 
 
A meeting of the Executive will be held on Tuesday, 4th March, 2025 in the Council 
Chamber, Forde House, Brunel Road, Newton Abbot, TQ12 4XX at 10.00 am 
 
 

PHIL SHEARS 
Managing Director 

 
Membership: 
 
Councillors Buscombe, Goodman-Bradbury, Hook, Keeling (Leader), Nutley, Palethorpe (Deputy 
Leader), G Taylor, Williams and Parrott 
 
 
Please Note:The public can view the live streaming of the meeting at Teignbridge 
District Council Webcasting (public-i.tv)  with the exception where there are 
confidential or exempt items, which may need to be considered in the absence of the 
press and public.  
 
 
A G E N D A  
 
Part I 
 
  
1. Apologies for absence   
 
2. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 8) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 11 February.  

  
3. Announcements (if any)   
 
4. Declarations of Interest (if any)   
 
5. Executive Forward Plan   

Public Document Pack

1

https://teignbridge.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://teignbridge.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://teignbridge.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 To note forthcoming decisions anticipated on the Executive Forward Plan 
  

6. Public Questions (if any)   
 Members of the Public may ask questions of the Leader or an Executive Member. A 

maximum period of 15 minutes will be allowed with a maximum of period of three 
minutes per questioner. 
  

7. Dog PSPO  (Pages 9 - 20) 
 To consider the attached report 

  
8. Housing enforcement policy  (Pages 21 - 

100) 
 To consider the attached report  

  
9. Ogwell, Newton Abbot - Strategic cycling and walking link 

phase 2  
(Pages 101 - 
128) 

 To consider the attached reports  
  

10. Update on future high street fund project   
 Executive Member to report  

  
11. For Information - Individual Executive Member Decisions   
 Executive Member Decisions  

  
12. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 - 

Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

 It is considered items will not need to be discussed in private session, but should 
this be necessary the meeting is recommended to consider the following:  
 
RECOMMENDED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of item(s) 
on the grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in the relevant paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.  
 

Part II: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public excluded 
NIL 
 
 
If you would like this information in another format, please telephone 01626 361101 or 
e-mail info@teignbridge.gov.uk  
 

2

https://democracy.teignbridge.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=135&RD=0
https://democracy.teignbridge.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?XXR=0&ACT=Find&RP=0&K=0&V=0&DM=3&HD=0&DS=2&Next=true&NOW=190319114139&META=mgdelegateddecisions
https://democracy.teignbridge.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?XXR=0&ACT=Find&RP=0&K=0&V=0&DM=3&HD=0&DS=2&Next=true&NOW=190319114139&META=mgdelegateddecisions
mailto:info@teignbridge.gov.uk


 
 

 
 

EXECUTIVE 
 
11 FEBRUARY 2025 
 
Present: 
 
Councillors Goodman-Bradbury, Hook, Keeling (Leader), Palethorpe (Deputy 
Leader), Parrott and Williams 
 

 
Members in Attendance: 
Councillors Clarance and Rogers 
 
Apologies: 
Councillors Buscombe, Nutley and G Taylor 
 
Officers in Attendance: 
Phil Shears, Managing Director 
Martin Flitcroft, Director of Corporate Services 
Trish Corns, Democratic Services Officer 
William Madden, Estates Manager 
Christopher Morgan, Trainee Democratic Services Officer 
Chris Smith, Estates Surveyor 
 

 
 
  

114.   MINUTES  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 6 January 2025 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Leader.  
  

115.   ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Leader gave an update on devolution and the local government reform.  
The Devon District Forum consisting of all Leaders had been meeting and as 
from 10 February 2025 a group of 7 Leader, of which he was one, would 
produce a plan by 21 March 2025 as per the instructions of the Minister of State 
for Local Government and English Devolution. This would be the best deal for 
the Council and Devon and which the data evidence would support.  
 
The Council would be further updated on the matter at the Council meeting on 
25 February 2025. 
 
 
  

116.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
None. 

Public Document Pack

13

Agenda Item 2



 
 

  
117.   EXECUTIVE FORWARD PLAN  

 
The Executive Forward Plan was noted.  
  

118.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 
None.  
  

119.   FINAL FINANCIAL PLAN PROPOSALS 2025/26 TO 2027/28  
 
The Executive Member for Corporate Services Cllr Parrot presented the agenda 
report. In proposing the recommendation set out in the agenda report the 
following was also referred to: 
• There had been 841 responses to the survey. 
• 78% agreed with an increase of the Council Tax by 2.99%. 
• 85% agreed with the Council’s priorities, an increase over 64% the previous 

year. 
• The top 3 non statutory services supported in order of priority were public 

toilets, open spaces, and beaches and resorts. 
• The Overview and Scrutiny Committee had considered the financial plan 

proposals at meetings on 7 January and 4 February 2025 and had agreed 
with the proposals.  

 
The Leader thanked the Chief Finance officer and staff for putting together the 
financial plan.  
 
It was proposed by the Executive Member for Corporate Services, seconded by 
the Leader and unanimously,  
 
RECOMMENDED  
 
The Executive proposes to Full Council a budget as set out as in appendix 4 for 
revenue and appendix 7 for capital and 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That these proposals be considered together with any subsequent consultation 
comments for approval by Council as the final budget for 2025/26 and the outline 
plan for the subsequent years 2026/27 and 2027/28. 
 
The proposed budget includes: 
 
• An increase in council tax of £5.87 or 2.99% to £202.28 
• Maintaining 100% council tax support 
• Continuing to react to the climate change emergency by maintaining ongoing 

revenue budgets for a climate change officer and associated spending in 
revenue and provision in the capital programme, including ongoing provisions 
for corporate decarbonisation schemes as per 5.5. 

24



 
 

• A £2 million provision for employment sites funded by borrowing. 
• Continuing funding for a Scrutiny Officer to assist Members with the Scrutiny 

function and working groups and other temporary resources for facilitating 
the Modern 25 work. 

• Authority for Executive to exceed the approved overall revenue budget by up 
to £200,000 per 4.25. 

• Support for housing including the Teignbridge 100 (see 5.3) whilst backing 
business and bringing people and organisations together for local 
neighbourhood planning. 

• Other central funding reductions – in particular provisional assumptions for 
business rates for future years and reset of the baseline.  

• Reserves at 12.7% of the net revenue budget or £2.5 million. 
• Infrastructure delivery plan investment funded by community infrastructure 

levy and external sources where available as per 5.4. 
• Continuation of grant funded South West Regional Monitoring Programme as 

per 5.6. 
• Town centre investment in infrastructure and employment as per 5.7. 
• Revenue contributions to capital being increased from £500,000 to 

£1,500,000 per annum. 
• Increasing the ‘invest to save’ reserve to £500,000. 
• Councillors community fund set at £1,000 each. 
• Providing additional 5% funding to core voluntary group grant contributions. 
• The Financial Plan 2025 – 2030 as updated for adoption (at Appendix 8) and 

to facilitate Member progression of work plans by Overview & Scrutiny to 
address the budgetary position and deliver savings. 

  
120.   UPDATE ON FUTURE HIGH STREET FUND  

 
The Executive Member for Economy, Estates and Major Projects Cllr 
Palethorpe, reported that the Future High Streets Fund (FHSF) programme in 
Newton Abbot was progressing across key projects, including Queen Street 
enhancements, Bradley Lane regeneration, and Market Hall & Market Square 
redevelopment. 
 
Queen Street Enhancement – Final Phase 
The final phase of improvements resumed in January 2025 after a December 
pause. Key works include: 

• Raised junction at Queen Street/Albany Street to improve pedestrian 
safety. 

• New zebra crossing at the War Memorial. 

• Additional road markings, blue badge parking bays, and 20 mph signage. 

• Seating, planters, and trees to be installed by end of February 2025. 
Queen Street is now ‘Restricted Access Only,’ with enforcement set to begin 
once all elements are completed. 
 
Bradley Lane Regeneration 

35



 
 

Site clearance is progressing, with full completion expected by March 2025. Key 
updates include: 

• Demolition work continues to be on schedule. 

• Planning approval secured for bat house installation, with surveys 
confirming no current bat presence. 

• Plans for leat diversion are being finalised, with construction contingent 
on tender responses and environmental conditions. 

This project aims to prepare the site for future development and much-needed 
housing. 
 
Market Hall & Market Square Redevelopment 
Redevelopment efforts are proceeding as planned: 

• Soft demolition (internal strip-out) is completed. 

• Structural demolition of 1970s additions are underway, expected to finish 
by March 2025. 

• The refurbishment remains on schedule to enhance facilities for traders, 
visitors, and businesses. 

Conclusion 
All projects remain on track, ensuring Newton Abbot benefits from improved 
accessibility, enhanced public spaces, and sustainable town centre 
development. 
 
The update was noted.  
  

121.   NOTICE OF MOTION THE LAWNS COVENANT, BISHOPSTEIGNTON  
 
The Executive Member for Economy, Estates and Major Projects Cllr Palethorpe 
reported on the legal and procedural matters concerning the Bishopsteignton 
Scouts’ planning permission and the restrictive covenant on the land which had 
been thoroughly reviewed in relation to the Notice of Motion set out on the 
agenda. 
 
The land was previously owned by Teignbridge District Council and transferred 
to Bishopsteignton Parish Council for £25,000 on generous terms.  
 
Subsequently, Bishopsteignton Scouts were granted planning permission to 
develop the site. However, planning permission did not override a legal covenant 
and legal restrictions remain enforceable unless formally removed through 
proper legal processes. The restrictive covenant remains in force and its removal 
would pose a significant legal and financial risk to the council. 
In conclusion, there is no evidence that Council officers assured the Parish 
Council or the Scouts that the covenant could be lifted. The legal position on 
restrictive covenants is well-established, and any removal would require formal 
legal processes that could be subject to legal challenge, which would expose the 
Council to potentially substantial legal costs to the taxpayer. There is no 
documented legal correspondence between the legal representatives of 

46



 
 

Bishopsteignton Scouts, the Parish Council, and the Council regarding any 
attempt to remove the covenant. 
The Executive Member for Economy, Estates and Major Projects proposed that 
the position as set out above is accepted and that any further action should be 
taken by Bishopsteignton Scouts and the Parish Council through their own legal 
representatives. This was seconded by the Leader and unanimously,  
 
RESOLVED 
 
The position as set out above is accepted and that any further action should be 
taken by Bishopsteignton Scouts and the Parish Council through their own legal 
representatives. 
  

122.   DAWLISH – MARINA BOWLING CLUB, SANDY LANE, DAWLISH  
 
The Executive Member for Economy, Estates and Major Projects Cllr Palethorpe 
proposed the recommendation set out in the agenda report. The situation had 
demonstrated how community organisations, and the Council can work in 
partnership to benefit and enhance opportunities for residents and community 
club members.    
 
A new 28-year lease would enable the Club to invest into the facilities and 
ensure future community engagement. The Council would also benefit from the 
position of being cost neutral, as the maintenance liabilities would pass to the 
Bowls Club.  
 
The proposal was seconded by the Leader and unanimously,  
 
RESOLVED 
 
(1) To approve the grant of a 28-year lease to Dawlish Marina Bowls Club. 
(2) To delegate authority to the Director of Corporate Services to take such 

decisions as are necessary and appropriate to conclude the grant of the 
lease. 

  
123.   FOR INFORMATION - INDIVIDUAL EXECUTIVE MEMBER DECISIONS  

 
The Executive decisions found at the link on the agenda were noted.  

 
 
The meeting started at 10am and finished at 10.37am 
 
 
 

 
CLLR R KEELING  
Leader  

 

 
 

57



This page is intentionally left blank

8



 

Committee 
Date of meeting 

 
 
Teignbridge District Council 
Executive 
4th March 2025 
Part i 

Renewal of the Public Spaces Protection Order 2022 for dog control 

Purpose of Report 
To ensure that effective controls remain to deal with irresponsible dog owners and 
reduced the anti-social behaviour associated with some dogs and their owners. 
 
Recommendation(s) 
 
The Committee RESOLVES to: 

(1) Approve the extension of the Public Spaces Protection Order Number 1 
(Dog Control) of 2019 (as extended and varied 2022) for a further three 
years from the 1st April 2025 until 31st March 2028 

 
Financial Implications 
There are no financial implications of this report. See comments in 3.1 below. 
Martin Flitcroft 
Director of Corporate Services 
Email: martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk  
 
Legal Implications 
There are no legal implications arising out of this report. See 3.2 below. 
Paul Woodhead 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
Email: paul.woodhead@teignbridge.gov.uk  
 
Risk Assessment 
 
An equality impact assessment has been completed to consider the impacts of this 
extension.  Other risks are considered in section  
David Eaton 
Head of Neighbourhoods 
Email: david.eaton@teignbridge.gov.uk  
 
Environmental/ Climate Change Implications 
 
See section 3.4 for comments 

9

Agenda Item 7

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/
mailto:martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk
mailto:paul.woodhead@teignbridge.gov.uk
mailto:david.eaton@teignbridge.gov.uk


 

Committee 
Date of meeting 

Report Author to comment on the Environmental/Climate Change Implications  
David Eaton 
Head of Neighbourhoods 
Email: david.eaton@teignbridge.gov.uk  
 
Report Author 
 
David Eaton 
Head of Neighbourhoods 
Email: david.eaton@teignbridge.gov.uk  
 
Executive Member 
 
Councillor Linda Goodman-Bradbury 
Neighbourhood Services 
 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 Equality Impact Assessment 
 
Background Papers 
Full Council decision to implement the Public Spaces Protection Order for Dog Control in 
Teignbridge 
Agenda for Full Council on Monday, 14th January, 2019, 10.30 am - Teignbridge District 
Council 
Executive decision to approve the continuation of the Public Spaces Protection Order for 
responsible dog ownership 
Agenda for Executive on Tuesday, 8th February, 2022, 4.15 pm - Teignbridge District 
Council 
 
 
 
 
1. Background 

This report seeks the approval to renew the existing Public Spaces Protection 

Order (PSPO) for dog control for a further 3 years.  The issues caused by an 

irresponsible few dog owners still have a detrimental impact on the residents and 

communities of Teignbridge.  The renewal of the order will ensure effective 

enforcement can be taken against those who persistently breach the order. 

 

2. Legislation 
2.1 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (the Act) provides 

local authorities with a set of powers, including PSPOs, to prevent and reduce a 

range of anti-social behaviours and other issues in public spaces which have a 

10

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/
mailto:david.eaton@teignbridge.gov.uk
mailto:david.eaton@teignbridge.gov.uk
https://democracy.teignbridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=165&MId=462&Ver=4
https://democracy.teignbridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=165&MId=462&Ver=4
https://democracy.teignbridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MID=2952
https://democracy.teignbridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MID=2952


 

Committee 
Date of meeting 

negative or detrimental impact on the local community and the local community’s 

quality of life. 

A PSPO can be created if the local authority is satisfied on reasonable grounds 

that the two conditions in the legislation are met. 

1. That the activities have a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the 

locality  

2. That the activities are or likely to be persistent or continuing, they are 

unreasonable and that the controls justify the restrictions placed. 

 
2.2 The current controls are listed below, and the proposal is to continue these 

without amendment. 

 
• pick up after your dog in public places. Bagged dog waste can be put in public 

litter bins where there are no accessible dog waste bins. 

• not walk your dog on some beaches from 1 April to 30 September 

• keep your dog out of areas signed as dog exclusion areas (for example, 

children’s play parks) 

• keep your dog on a lead in areas where Teignbridge Council signs are 

indicating that it is a dogs on lead area 

• keep your dog on a fixed lead (which includes a fixed extendable lead), of no 

more than 1 metre in length, when on or adjacent to the public highway, a 

footway, footpath or cycle track 

• keep your dog on a lead when directed by an authorised Officer or Police 

Officer to prevent a nuisance or behaviour by the dog which is likely to cause 

annoyance or danger to any other person or animal. 

• as an individual walk a maximum of 6 dogs (this applies to professional dog 

walkers too) 

• carry sufficient dog poo bags or other appropriate means to pick up dog 

faeces 

 
If a dog owner ignores the controls the authorised officers of the council can 

issue a Fixed Penalty Notice (£100) or prosecute the offender if the behaviour is 

regular and there are multiple breaches. 

11

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/


 

Committee 
Date of meeting 

 
 

2.3  Section 60 of the act allows local authorities to extend the period of a 

PSPO if it is satisfied on reasonable grounds that doing so is necessary to 

prevent; 

• Occurrence or recurrence after that time of the activities identified in the 

order or 

• An increase in the frequency or seriousness of those activities after that 

time. 

Without the controls the activities of irresponsible dog owners will continue, and 

no action will be able to be taken.  This will mean that residents, business and 

local communities will be impacted by the behaviour, and this will impact their 

quality of life. 

 
2.4 The recently adopted One Teignbridge Council strategy states that we will;  

“make sure neighbourhoods are kept clean and safe and use our legal 

powers to respond to planning and environmental breaches.” 

 

“Work with partners to ensure our beaches are clean and well 

managed” 

 

“Look after our play areas, parks and green spaces, making sure they 

are clean, safe, and wildlife friendly places where people of all ages 

want to go” 

These controls and the extension of the order for another three years will support 

delivering actions in our strategy. 

 

3. Implications, Risk Management and Climate Change Impact 
3.1 Financial 

The provision of the Community Environment Warden team and the 

associated costs are included in the budget for 2025/26 and the 

recommendation does not increase the revenue costs of the service.  

12

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/


 

Committee 
Date of meeting 

Any budget for additional signage will be found within the existing 

service budgets. 

3.2 Legal 
The Executive is authorised under the constitution to extend the order by 

way of Section 60 of the Act and the reports sets out the justification for 

this action. 

 
3.3 Risks 

The issues with irresponsible dog owners continue to be reported to 

members and council officers.  Without the continuation of the order the 

warden’s powers will be limited and several of the existing controls 

would cease. 

 
3.4 Environmental/Climate Change Impact 

There are no significant environmental or climate change implications 

from extending the PSPO. 

 

4. Alternative Options 
If the Council did not extend the order the officers of the Council would only be 

able to deal with breaches of legislation and byelaws through a prosecution 

which is not proportionate for some of the offences.  This would impact on both 

the quality of life of residents and the reputation of the Council. 

 

5. Conclusion 
 

The service requests continue to be received by the Council on various dog 

control issues and the order is an essential tool to tackle those dog owners who 

are irresponsible. 
 

13

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  V2 August 2024 
 

 

Equality Impact Assessment     
Assessment Of: Renewal of the Dog Public Spaces Protection Order 
☒ Policy  ☐ Strategy  ☐ Function  ☐ Service 
☐ Other:  

☐ New  
☒ Already exists / review ☐ Changing  

Directorate: Neighbourhoods Services Assessment carried out by: David Eaton 
Service Area: Community Environment 
Wardens 

Job Role: Head of Neighbourhoods 

Version / Date of Sign Off by Director:  24/02/2025 

Step 1: What do we want to do?  
This assessment should be started at the beginning of the process by someone with a good knowledge of 
the proposal and service area, and sufficient influence over the proposal. It is good practice to take a team 
approach to completing the equality impact assessment. Please contact the Policy Officer early for advice.  

1.1 What are the aims and objectives/purpose of this proposal? 
Briefly explain the purpose of the proposal and why it is needed. Describe who it is aimed at and the 
intended aims / outcomes. Where known also summarise the key actions you plan to undertake. Please use 
plain English, avoiding jargon and acronyms. Equality Impact Assessments are viewed by a wide range of 
people including decision-makers and the wider public. 

 
This is the renewal of the existing dog Public Spaces Protection order that aims to reduce 
irresponsible dog ownership within Teignbridge District Council and to build on reducing dog 
fouling making an even cleaner and greener space for all. 
 
 
 

1.2 Who will the proposal have the potential to affect? 
☐ Service users  ☒ The wider community ☐ Teignbridge workforce 

1.3 Will the proposal have an equality impact?   
Could the proposal affect access levels of representation or participation in a service, or does it have the 
potential to change e.g. quality of life: health, education, or standard of living etc.?  

If ‘No’ explain why you are sure there will be no equality impact, then skip steps 2-4 and request review by 
your manager. 

If ‘Yes’ complete the rest of this assessment. 

☒ Yes    ☐ No        [please select] 
 

15

http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/cms-service/stream/asset/?asset_id=19824019


 

  V2 August 2024 
 

Step 2: What information do we have?  

2.1 What data or evidence is there which tells us who is, or could be affected? 
Please use this section to demonstrate an understanding of who could be affected by the proposal. Include 
general population data where appropriate, and information about people who will be affected with 
particular reference to protected and other relevant characteristics (listed in 2.2). 

Use one row for each evidence source and say which characteristic(s) it relates to. You can include a mix 
of qualitative and quantitative data - from national research, local data or previous consultations and 
engagement activities. 

Outline whether there are any over or under representation of equality groups within your service - don't 
forget to benchmark to local population where appropriate.  

For workforce / management of change proposals you will need to look at the diversity of the affected 
team(s) using available evidence such as the employee profile data.   Identify any under/over-
representation for age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and 
maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation. Please see: Equality Act 2010 
(legislation.gov.uk).  

2.2  Do you currently monitor relevant activity by the following protected 
characteristics? 

☐ Age ☐ Disability ☐ Gender Reassignment 
☐ Marriage and Civil Partnership ☐ Pregnancy/Maternity ☐ Race 
☐ Religion or Belief ☐ Sex ☐ Sexual Orientation 

2.3  Are there any gaps in the evidence base?  
Where there are gaps in the evidence, or you don’t have enough information about some equality groups, 
include an equality action to find out in section 4.2 below. This doesn’t mean that you can’t complete the 
assessment without the information, but you need to follow up the action and if necessary, review the 
assessment later. If you are unable to fill in the gaps please state this clearly with a justification. 

Data / Evidence Source 
[Include a reference where known] 

Summary of what this tells us 

Service complaints Database of Complaints received which 
show no complaints relating to the 
enforcement of the PSPO in any of the 
protective characteristics. 

Consultation process on initial PSPO and 
renewal in 2022 

Full consultation with those who would be 
potentially impacted and demonstrated no 
adverse impacts.  Effort was made to engage 
with those with protective characteristics who 
may be impacted. 

Teignbridge Census 2021 The percentage of people who were 
identified as being disabled and limited a lot 
in Teignbridge fell from 8.0% to 7.2%, while the 
percentage of people who were identified as 
being disabled and limited a little increased 
from 10.2% to 11.4% 

Additional comments:  
 

 

16

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents


 

  V2 August 2024 
 

For workforce related proposals all relevant information on characteristics may need to be sought from HR 
(e.g. pregnancy/maternity). For smaller teams diversity data may be redacted. A high proportion of not 
known/not disclosed may require action to address and identify the information needed. 

 
None identified 
 
 

2.4 How have you involved communities and groups that could be affected?  
You will nearly always need to involve and consult with internal and external stakeholders during your 
assessment. The extent of the engagement will depend on the nature of the proposal or change. This 
should usually include individuals and groups representing different relevant protected characteristics. 
Please include details of any completed engagement and consultation and how representative this has 
been of Teignbridge’s diverse communities. 

Include the main findings of any engagement and consultation in Section 2.1 above. 

If you are managing a workforce change process or restructure please refer to HR for advice on how to 
consult and engage with employees.  Relevant stakeholders for engagement about workforce changes 
may include e.g. staff-led groups, trades unions as well as affected staff.  

During the consultation for the 2022 renewal the local Parish Councils, Devon County Councils, 
Police, Teign Housing, Dartmoor National Park, Kennel Club, Dogs Trust, RSPCA, Sensible Dogs, 
Guide Dogs, Dogs for Good, National Trust, Forestry Commission, TALC, Hearing Dogs and other 
community groups were consulted.  No additional consultation has taken place as no changes 
are being made to the order.  Monitoring of complaints and feedback is ongoing. 

2.5 How will engagement with stakeholders continue? 
Explain how you will continue to engage with stakeholders throughout the course of planning and delivery. 
Please describe where more engagement and consultation is required and set out how you intend to 
undertake it. Include any targeted work to seek the views of under-represented groups. If you do not intend 
to undertake it, please set out your justification. You can ask the Consultation Officer for help in targeting 
particular groups. 

The Community Environment Wardens regularly engage with dog owners in parks, open spaces, 
beaches and towns.  This is in both an education and enforcement role.  The team has taken 
part in consultation and engagement activities with our Parks and Green spaces team.  The 
team are in regular contact with Town and Parish councils in their area and regular provide and 
receive feedback from them. 
Regular information is published in the resident’s newsletter and through social media. 
The service manager will monitor complaints to make sure they are not relating to the 
protective characteristics. 

 

Step 3: Who might the proposal impact? 
Analysis of impacts must be rigorous. Please demonstrate your analysis of any impacts of the proposal in this 
section, referring to evidence you have gathered above and the characteristics protected by the Equality 
Act 2010. Also include details of existing issues for particular groups that you are aware of and are seeking 
to address or mitigate through this proposal.  

17



 

  V2 August 2024 
 

3.1  Does the proposal have any potentially adverse impacts on people on the 
basis of their protected or other relevant characteristics? 

Consider sub-categories (different kinds of disability, ethnic background etc.) and how people with 
combined characteristics (e.g. young women) might have particular needs or experience particular kinds 
of disadvantage. 

Where mitigations indicate a follow-on action, include this in the ‘Action Plan’ Section 4.2 below.  

GENERAL COMMENTS   (highlight any potential issues that might impact all or many groups) 
 
 
 
PROTECTED CHARACTERISTICS 
Age: Young People Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 
Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Age: Older People Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☒ No ☐ Neutral ☐ 
Potential impacts: Positive – allowing older people to safely enjoy open spaces 
Mitigations:  
Disability Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☒ No ☐ Neutral ☐ 
Potential impacts: Positive – allowing those with a disability to safely enjoy open spaces 

Positive – allowing assistance and service dogs to operate without 
impact. 

Mitigations:  
Sex Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 
Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Sexual orientation Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 
Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Pregnancy / 
Maternity 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 

Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Gender 
reassignment 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 

Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Race Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 
Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Religion or 
Belief 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 

Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Marriage & 
civil partnership 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 

Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  

 

OTHER RELEVANT CHARACTERISTICS 

18



 

  V2 August 2024 
 

Socio-Economic 
(deprivation) 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☐ 

Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Other group(s) 
Please add additional 
rows below to detail 
the impact for other 
relevant groups as 
appropriate e.g. 
Asylums and 
Refugees; 
Rural/Urban 
Communities, 
Homelessness, Digital 
Exclusion, Access To 
Transport 

 

Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  

3.2  Does the proposal create any benefits for people on the basis of their 
protected or other relevant characteristics? 

Outline any potential benefits of the proposal and how they can be maximised. Identify how the proposal 
will support our Public Sector Equality Duty to: 

✓ Eliminate unlawful discrimination for a protected group 

✓ Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who don’t 

✓ Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t 

 
The PSPO advances the equality of opportunity by providing spaces that can be 
enjoyed due to the controls in place.  
 
 
 

Step 4: Impact 

4.1  How has the equality impact assessment informed or changed the proposal?  
What are the main conclusions of this assessment? Use this section to provide an overview of your findings. 
This content should be used as a summary in reports, where this full assessment is included as an appendix. 

If you have identified any significant negative impacts which cannot be mitigated, provide a justification 
showing how the proposal is proportionate, necessary and appropriate despite this. 

Summary of significant negative impacts and how they can be mitigated or justified: 
None 
Summary of positive impacts / opportunities to promote the Public Sector Equality Duty: 
Previously ensured efforts were made to engage with groups and representatives of those with 
protective characteristics that may be impacted.  No change to the policy so no new impacts. 

19

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty


 

  V2 August 2024 
 

4.2  Action Plan  
Use this section to set out any actions you have identified to improve data, mitigate issues, or maximise 
opportunities etc. If an action is to meet the needs of a particular protected group please specify this. 

Improvement / action required Responsible Officer Timescale  
   
   
   

4.3  How will the impact of your proposal and actions be measured?  
How will you know if have been successful? Once the activity has been implemented this equality impact 
assessment should be periodically reviewed to make sure your changes have been effective and your 
approach is still appropriate.  Include the timescale for review in your action plan above. 

Service complaints and feedback from community environment warden engagement 
activites. 

4.4  Is there an opportunity to promote positive attitudes and good relations 
between different groups and communities?  
Promote the benefits of the PSPO through our regular newsletters and social media channels. 
 

Step 5: Review & Sign-Off 
EIAs should only be marked as reviewed when they provide sufficient information for decision-makers on the 
equalities impact of the proposal. Please seek review and feedback from management before requesting it 
to be signed off.  All working drafts of EIAs and final signed-off EIAs should be saved in G:\GLOBAL\EIA   
Once signed-off please add the details to the ‘EIA Register’ of all council EIAs saved in the same directory.  

Reviewed by Service Manager:  
Yes ☒  
No  ☐  Instead was reviewed by: 
 
 

Strategic Leadership Team Sign-Off: 
 
 

Date: 24/02/2025 Date:  
 

 

 

 

 

Version 3 – August 2024 

20



 

Executive 
Date of meeting – 4th March 2025 

 
 
Teignbridge District Council 
Executive 
Meeting date:  4TH March 2025 
Part i 

Housing enforcement policy and Civil penalties and other penalty 
charges policy

Purpose of Report 
To obtain approval for the adoption of the new housing enforcement policy and Civil 
penalties and other penalty charges policy. 
 
Recommendation(s) 
 
The Committee RESOLVES to: 

(1) Adopt the attached housing enforcement policy (Appendix 1);  
(2) Delegate any additional amendments from the Renters Rights Bill and any 

associated regulations and orders to Head of Service in consultation with 
the Executive Member. 
 

Financial Implications 
 
Financial implications are detailed in 2a below. 
 
Martin Flitcroft.  
Chief Finance Officer and Director of Corporate Services 
Email: martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk 
 
 
Legal Implications 
 
Legal implications as detailed below in 2b below. 
 
Paul Woodhead  
Head of Legal and Democratic Services and Monitoring Officer.  
Email: paul.woodhead@teignbridge.gov.uk  
 
 
Risk Assessment 
 
Risk implications are detailed in 2c below. 
 
Alison Dolley 
Private Sector Housing Manager 
Email: alison.dolley@teignbridge.gov.uk 
 

21

Agenda Item 8

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/
mailto:martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk
mailto:paul.woodhead@teignbridge.gov.uk


 

Executive 
Date of meeting – 4th March 2025 

Environmental/ Climate Change Implications 
 
 
Environmental/Climate Change implications are detailed in 2d below  
Name/Title of person giving advice 
Email: alison.dolley@teignbridge.gov.uk  
 
Report Author 
 
Alison Dolley 
Private Sector Housing Manager 
Email: alison.dolley@teignbridge.gov.uk 
 
Executive Member 
 
Cllr Richard Buscombe, Executive Member for Housing and Homelessness 
 
 
Appendices/Background Papers 
 
1. Introduction/Background 
1.1  The existing Housing enforcement policy which includes details on civil penalties 

which can be imposed under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 was adopted by 

Teignbridge Council in 2017. In addition, civil penalty charges in relation to 

minimum energy efficiency standards (MEES) and a Statement of Principle for 

the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 was further 

approved in 2018 and 2021 respectively. 

 

1.2  We recognise that most landlords provide good quality and well-managed 

accommodation. There are, however, a small number of landlords and property 

agents who fail to fulfil their legal obligations and rent out sub-standard 

accommodation, sometimes to vulnerable tenants. We will aim to ensure 

compliance with the law and acceptable housing standards through advice, 

education, and informal action. When, however, an informal approach fails to 

achieve the desired result, or a failure to comply is of a serious nature, we will 

consider the full range of enforcement options available to achieve compliance 

and protect residents at risk. 

 
1.3  The purpose of this policy is to have a clear and transparent policy in place 

ensuring consistency in approach and enabling a robust mechanism within which 

22

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/
mailto:alison.dolley@teignbridge.gov.uk


 

Executive 
Date of meeting – 4th March 2025 

to defend any challenges that are open to the local authority from landlords, 

agents etc, through the means of the court or a tribunal. 

 
1.4  The Housing Enforcement policy is divided into four parts: 

 
1.4.1 Part One describes how Teignbridge District Council intend to ensure 

compliance with the Housing Act 2004 and other relevant housing standards 

legislation. It covers housing enforcement in all residential dwellings 

including privately rented, socially rented, owner occupied properties, empty 

properties, and Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and explains the 

circumstances where enforcement action will be pursued. It also links to 

Appendix 1 which sets out the Council’s approach to Civil Penalties under 

the Housing and Planning Act 2016 and The Electrical Safety Standards in 

the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020. 

 

1.4.2 Part Two sets out the minimum standards for Houses in Multiple Occupation 

(HMOs) and the Council’s approach to mandatory licensing of HMOs in 

accordance with Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004. 

 

1.4.3 Part Three sets out the Councils Statement of principles to determine the 

amount of a penalty charge under Part 4 of The Smoke and Carbon 

Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 as amended by The Smoke 

and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (Amendment) Regulations 2022. 

 

1.4.4 Part Four sets out the Council’s Statement of principles to determine the 

amount of a penalty charge for a breach of minimum energy efficiency 

standards (MEES) with respect to domestic privately rented property. 

 

1.5  In 2023/24, the private sector housing team received 120 service requests from 

tenants in Teignbridge, mainly concerning the condition of their property. In the 

same time period 104 Category 1 and 112 Category 2 hazards were identified, 

and 13 formal notices were served on landlords. Works were secured without the 

need to take any further enforcement action. 

 

23

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/


 

Executive 
Date of meeting – 4th March 2025 

1.6  As of January 2025, there are 35 licensable HMOs in Teignbridge. The 

standards for all HMOs are included as Appendix 1 to the Housing enforcement 

policy.  

 

1.7 The development of the Civil penalty policy has been supported by Justice for 

Tenants, who have government support to help local authorities provide civil 

penalties policies that are consistent and have regard to precedent set through 

the Upper Tier tribunal. They will also support Teignbridge Council with 

amendments to Civil Financial Penalty policies and templates as new precedents 

and legislation (such as the Renters Reform Bill) come into force 

 
1.8  Part 4 of the Renters Rights Bill, which is currently being discussed in 

Parliament, will: 

• strengthen local housing authorities’ enforcement powers.  

• expand financial penalties. 

• introduce a new requirement for authorities to report on enforcement 

activity. 

It is recommended that any additional amendments from the Renters Rights Bill 

and any associated Regulations and Orders is delegated to the Head of Service 

in consultation with the Executive Member. 

 

1.9 We currently support landlords and agents through regular newsletters, an 

annual landlord open evening, (currently being planned for May 2025) with Exeter 

City Council, East Devon District Council, and Torbay Council. Working with 

Torbay Council we have arranged for training to support landlords on the 

forthcoming changes from the Renters Rights Bill. 

 

1.10 Once approved, a summary of this policy will be made available for both 

landlords and tenants on our website and on request. 

 

2. Implications, Risk Management and Climate Change Impact 
a. Financial 

i. Unlike fines issued through criminal proceedings, income 

received from civil penalties and from rent repayment orders is 

24

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/


 

Executive 
Date of meeting – 4th March 2025 

retained by the Council and can only be used towards the 

statutory functions in relation to its enforcement of standards in 

the private rented sector. The Council may also apply for costs 

and expenses incurred in relation to the enforcement action. 

ii. Any income generated from the issuing of civil penalties and 

rent repayment orders, at present, is unpredictable due to the 

nature of enforcement activity. 

iii. The benefit of civil penalties will help to improve standards 

within the private rented sector, providing a more efficient and 

effective mechanism to tackle rogue landlords, as well as reduce 

the burden on courts and provide a ring-fenced income for 

Teignbridge Council to further improve the private rented sector. 

b. Legal 
i. The enforcement policy sets out the council’s approach to 

ensuring that acceptable housing standards are achieved and 

by further enabling, where necessary, robust action against 

rogue landlords.  

ii. The Housing Act 2004 is the principal legislation regulating 

housing standards with the Housing and Planning Act 2016 

giving a wider range of enforcement options including Rent 

Repayment Orders, Banning Orders for rogue landlords, and 

issuing civil penalties is included. The Renters Rights Bill will 

also place a duty on Local Authorities to take enforcement 

action in relation to certain offences. 

iii. Any recommendation to prosecute a landlord would need 

approval from the Head of Legal. 

 

c. Risks 

i. The risk of not approving the policy is that the council will not 

have a published policy that transparently explains its approach 

to enforcement and that provides a fair and consistent basis for 

any actions taken. The absence of the policy may increase the 

likelihood the councils may lose enforcement cases or appeals, 

25

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/


 

Executive 
Date of meeting – 4th March 2025 

either as a direct result of not having an enforcement policy, or 

the absence of a policy leading to incorrect or inconsistent 

decisions. 

 

d. Environmental/Climate Change Impact 
i. The Housing enforcement policy offers an opportunity for the 

council to use its enforcement powers to increase the energy 

efficiency of homes in the district. This will mean that less 

greenhouse gas emissions are released, and the homes will be 

more comfortable with lower energy bills. 

 

3. Alternative Options 
4.1 The Council could decide to retain the existing policy; however, it would not be 

able to consider the full range of enforcement options available which requires a 

published policy. The absence of a policy may increase the risk that the council may 

lose enforcement cases or appeals.  

 
4. Conclusion 
 
5.1 The implementation of a clear and transparent enforcement policy, along with a 

Civil Penalties and Other Penalties Policy, will offer guidance to officers, landlords, 

and letting agents, ensuring a fair and consistent approach to maintaining housing 

standards in Teignbridge. Delegating any necessary amendments from the Renters 

Rights Bill, along with related Regulations and Orders, to the Head of Service in 

consultation with the Executive Member will ensure a seamless implementation of 

new legislation. 
 

26

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/


 

1 
 

 
 
 
 

Housing 
Enforcement Policy 
Teignbridge 
District Council 
2025 

 
 
 
 

  

27



 

2 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revision Number  
Originator of Change  
Date of Change  
Change Description  

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  

28



 

3 
 

  C o n t e n t s Page 
  Housing Enforcement Policy 4 
1  Part One 5 
 1.01 Approach to enforcement. 5 
 1.02 Principles of enforcement 5 
 1.03 Expectations and responding to service requests. 6 
 1.04 Legislation 7 
 1.05 Assessment of housing conditions 8 
 1.06 Inspections and Powers of Entry 8 
 1.07 Powers to require information. 8 
 1.08 Choice of appropriate enforcement action 9 
 1.09 Failure to comply 11 
2  Part Two 17 
 2.01 Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) – Standards and Licensing 17 
 2.02 Definition 17 
 2.03 Minimum Standards in HMOs 17 
 2.04 HMO Management Regulations 18 
 2.05 HMO Licensing 18 
 2.06 Enforcement of HMO licensing 22 
3  Part Three 24 
 3.01 Statement of principles to determine the amount of a penalty charge under 

Part 4 of The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 
2015 as amended by The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm 
(Amendment) Regulations 2022 (“the Regulations”) 

24 

4  Part Four 27 
 4.01 Statement of principles to determine the amount of a penalty charge for a 

breach of minimum energy efficiency standards (MEES) with respect to 
domestic privately rented property. 

27 

  Appendix 1 - Civil Penalties under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 and 
The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 
Regulations 2020 

28 

  Appendix 2 - A guide to the minimum standards for amenities and space 
permitted in a house in multiple occupation. 

50 

 

  

29



 

4 
 

Housing Enforcement Policy 
 
The Housing Enforcement policy provides guidance to council officers, property owners, 
landlords, managing agents and tenants of residential properties to help ensure a clear and 
consistent approach to all aspects of housing regulation and enforcement. The policy is set 
out in four parts: 
 
Part One describes how Teignbridge District Council intend to ensure compliance with the 
Housing Act 2004 and other relevant housing standards legislation. It covers housing 
enforcement in all residential dwellings including privately rented, socially rented, owner 
occupied properties, empty properties and Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs); and 
explains the circumstances where enforcement action will be pursued. It also links to 
Appendix 1 which sets out the Council’s approach to Civil Penalties under the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 and The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector 
(England) Regulations 2020. 
 
Part Two sets out the minimum standards for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and 
the Council’s approach to mandatory licensing of HMOs in accordance with Part 2 of the 
Housing Act 2004. 
 
Part Three sets out the Councils Statement of principles to determine the amount of a 
penalty charge under Part 4 of The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 
Regulations 2015 as amended by The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (Amendment) 
Regulations 2022.  
 
Part Four sets out the Council’s Statement of principles to determine the amount of a 
penalty charge for a breach of minimum energy efficiency standards (MEES) with respect to 
domestic privately rented property. 
  

30



 

5 
 

1 Part One 

 
We recognise that most landlords provide good quality and well-managed accommodation. 
There are, however, a small number of landlords and property agents who fail to fulfil their 
legal obligations and rent out sub-standard accommodation, sometimes to vulnerable 
tenants. We will aim to ensure compliance with the law and acceptable housing standards 
through advice, education, and informal action. When, however, an informal approach fails 
to achieve the desired result, or a failure to comply is of a serious nature, we will consider 
the full range of enforcement options available to achieve compliance and protect residents 
at risk.  
 
We will target resources to ensure the most serious cases are tackled as a priority and in the 
most serious contraventions, we will look to prosecute or impose financial penalties. In the 
case of homeowners, enforcement is unlikely to be the appropriate course of action. Where 
vulnerable homeowners are unable to carry our essential repairs to their homes, we will 
provide support as set out in the Housing Financial Assistance Policy for Loans and Grants.  
 

 
In line with the principles outlined in The Regulators’ Code and section 21 of the Legislative 
and Regulatory Reform Act 2006, we will carry out enforcement activities in a way that is 
transparent, accountable, proportionate, consistent and targeted as follows:  
 
Proportionate: We will ensure that enforcement action is proportionate to the risk to the 
public and any enforcement action taken is appropriate for the nature and seriousness of the 
offence. 
 
Consistent: We will treat all service users fairly and ensure that our approach to 
enforcement is consistent. Where circumstances are similar, we will endeavour to act in 
proportion to other local authorities. We will have regard to guidance and best practice to 
inform our decision making. We will provide details on how to appeal against decisions and 
be open and fair in this approach.  
 
Targeted: We will prioritise and direct our regulatory efforts where it is most needed. As 
resources allow, we will prioritise the reduction and removal of significant health and safety 
hazards and assist vulnerable people.  
 
Transparent: We aim to deliver our enforcement and regulatory activities in an open and 
consistent way. We will explain our decisions and publish our policies on our website to 
ensure that service users, those we regulate and our officers, have clear guidelines for and 
expectations of our service.  
 
Accountable: Our activities will be guided by clear, fair and accessible policies and 
supported by an efficient complaint procedure. We will be clear when we can and cannot 
assist in line with the relevant legislation and where appropriate, signpost customers to other 
agencies who may be able to assist. We will have regard to any relevant guidance in place 
at the time when carrying out enforcement action.  
 
Sharing information and joint working: Responsibility for enforcing housing standards will 
sit within a multi-disciplinary enforcement team who will be responsible for taking action. We 
will work collaboratively with external agencies (for example the Fire Service) to ensure the 

1.01 Approach to enforcement. 

1.02 Principles of enforcement 

31

http://teignbridge.gov.uk/media/z2kcbxvm/loan-grants-2023-policy.pdf


 

6 
 

full range of powers available to the council are used in the most efficient way. We will have 
regard to any agreed procedures and memorandums of understanding. 
In situations where enforcement powers rest with another agency, we will act to ensure that 
the case is transferred to the relevant agency promptly and in accordance with any agreed 
procedure. 
 

 
Tenants: 

 
• Tenants are expected to report disrepair to their landlord or agent as soon as possible 

and before approaching us for assistance. Tenants should report disrepair in writing 
as we may ask to see proof that a landlord or agent has been notified of a problem 
before acting and may provide tenants with protection from no fault eviction.  

• Tenants living in social housing must report disrepair to their landlord and should have 
followed their complaints process to stage 2 before making a service request to us. 
They will be advised to also pursue their complaint to the Housing Ombudsman. 

• Tenants must cooperate with their landlord at all times to get the works carried out and 
are responsible for keeping officers informed of any contact they have with their 
landlord or agent which may affect the actions taken by us. 

• If a tenant fails to reasonably cooperate with either their landlord or the council, we 
may consider withdrawing our assistance. 

• Where landlords or agents are taking action in a timeframe that we consider 
reasonable, we will not intervene with the process.  
 

Landlords and managing agents: 
 

• We expect owners, including freeholders or management companies to maintain the 
properties they own and let. 

• We will work with landlords and managing/letting agents to help them comply with their 
legal obligations. We expect landlords and managing/letting agents to carry out repairs 
within a reasonable time frame once they’ve been notified of the problem and without 
the need for us to instigate formal action. We will monitor the progression of the works 
to ensure that it is carried out within an acceptable timescale. 

• Landlords are expected either to provide any agent acting for them with sufficient 
authority to act on their behalf if they are contacted by us, or to ensure that they 
maintain appropriate communication with their agent in order that appropriate 
decisions and responses can be provided to us. The failure of an agent to respond to 
communication from us within a specified timescale, or take appropriate action, may 
be considered a failure by the landlord. 

• If the landlord fails to undertake reasonable steps to comply with requirements, we will 
initiate formal action by the service of an enforcement Notice which may result in 
prosecution, financial penalty and/or by carrying out works in default. 

• In deciding whether to serve Notices or to prosecute or issue a financial penalty, we 
will have regard to the seriousness of the offence, the risk posed to the public, the 
benefit of the sanction and whether another course of action would be appropriate. 
Where prosecution is pursued, we will seek to recover costs. 

• Where specified, a charge will be made for the service of a Notice in accordance with 
our Fees and Charging Fees and charges - Teignbridge District Council 

• Emergency enforcement action will be taken if we consider there is a serious imminent 
risk to a person’s health or safety. 

  

1.03 Expectations and responding to service requests. 

32

https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/feesandcharges


 

7 
 

Owners of empty homes: 
 

• We expect owners of empty homes to maintain them and bring them back into use 
within a reasonable timescale. 

• We will work with owners of empty homes to help them bring the property back into 
use. 

• The relevant team, working with other departments and agencies, will consider 
appropriate enforcement action if an owner does not co-operate and will have regard 
to our Empty Homes Policy empty-homes-policy-.pdf (teignbridge.gov.uk) 
 

The Council: 
 

• When requested, we will advise landlords/agents of the legislation and help them 
understand how they can comply with it. 

• When officers become aware of a hazard in a property, we will instigate the following 
procedure: 
➢ We will respond to service requests from tenants in line with our customer charter 

and will prioritise cases based on risk and severity. Customer Charter - 
Teignbridge District Council. 

• Within 10 working days of receiving the service request, we will contact the 
complainant to discuss the nature of the issue. Where necessary, we will carry out an 
informal inspection of the property. 
➢ We will contact the landlord or agent following the informal inspection outlining the 

nature of the problem and what remedial action is required to remedy the 
hazard(s) or defect(s).  

➢ The landlord or agent will normally be given 14 working days to outline their 
intentions to remedy the hazard(s) or defect(s). 
 

The timescales for responses will be accelerated for high risk or high severity cases. 
 
Where a landlord or agent confirms they intend to take remedial action we will monitor this 
work to ensure it is carried out satisfactorily. However, if works do not progress satisfactorily, 
or the landlord does not effectively engage with us, the case will be reviewed for formal 
action and a formal inspection will be arranged. In the most severe cases, or where the 
landlord does not engage with us or has a track record of non-compliance, we may proceed 
to take formal action straight away. 
 

 
The Housing Act 2004 is the principal legislation regulating housing standards. Other 
legislation and regulations enforced by us includes, but are not limited to: 
 

• Housing Act 1985 (overcrowding). 
• Housing and Planning Act 2016. 
• Protection from Eviction Act 1977 (harassment and illegal eviction). 
• The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015. 
• Energy Efficiency (Domestic Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015. 
• Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020. 
• The Redress Schemes for Lettings Agency Work and Property Management Work 

(Requirement to belong to a Scheme etc) (England) Order 2014. 
• Human Rights Act 1988. 
• The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000. 
• Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984. 

1.04 Legislation 

33

https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/media/9683/210705-empty-homes-policy-master.pdf
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/help-and-accessibility/customer-charter/customer-charter/
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/help-and-accessibility/customer-charter/customer-charter/


 

8 
 

When using regulatory powers, officers will consider which course of action is the most 
appropriate in the circumstances of a particular case.  
 

 
Officers will principally use the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) to 
assess housing conditions. The HHSRS uses a risk assessment to assess the effect of a 
number of potential hazards on the health and safety of occupiers.  
 
HHSRS provides a score for each hazard identified.  It can be applied to all residential 
premises, whether owner-occupied, rented, or unoccupied. 
 
If a property is assessed as having a category one hazard, we have a duty to take action. 
Where a category two hazard is identified, we have a discretionary power to act and may 
act in the following circumstances: 
 

• Where a high scoring category 2 hazard (Band D or E) exists. 
• Where multiple Category 2 hazards are identified, which, when considered together, 

create a more serious cumulative situation. 
• Where a local house condition survey highlights specific local hazards e.g. excessive 

cold and dampness. 
• Any other exceptional case will be determined by the Service Lead in consultation with 

a member of the Senior Leadership Team. 
 

 
Unless there are exceptional circumstances (i.e. imminent risk of harm), officers will not 
usually inspect a property at the request of a tenant unless the tenant has first been in 
contact with their landlord or agent to try to resolve the matter. Where we receive a service 
request about disrepair and the tenant has tried to resolve the matter with their landlord, 
officers will assess the situation and will determine whether an informal inspection is 
required.  
 
In accordance with section 239 of the Housing Act 2004; where an officer deems a formal 
inspection of a premises is required, they will provide the owner and occupier with a 
minimum of 24 hours' notice. Officers are not required to give 24 hours’ Notice of Entry for 
the purpose of ascertaining whether an offence has been committed in relation to licensing 
of houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) and management regulations in respect of HMOs.  
 
Any findings and conclusions from inspections will be confirmed in writing at the earliest 
opportunity in a clear and straightforward manner.  
 
Where there is reason to believe a hazard may exist, but access to the property is denied, 
we can apply for a warrant of entry to the property under section 240 of the Housing Act 
2004 without prior notice and using force if necessary. 
 

 
Authorised officers have the power to require: 
 

• Documents be provided under section 235 of the Housing Act 2004 to enable them to 
carry out their powers and duties. 

• Part two Specified information to determine test for fitness etc. and satisfactory 
management arrangements under section 66 of the Housing Act 2004. 

1.05 Assessment of housing conditions 

1.06 Inspections and Powers of Entry 

1.07 Powers to require information. 

34



 

9 
 

• Gas appliance test certificates for HMOs be provided under section 234 of the Housing 
Act 2004. 

• Electrical inspection and test reports for private rented properties to be provided under 
the Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 
2020. 

• Any person with an interest in a property to provide details about its ownership or 
occupation under section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. 

• Specified information for the purpose of deciding whether to apply for a Banning Order 
against the person under section 19 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016. 

• Specified information for the purpose of deciding whether to make an entry in the 
database of rogue landlords and property agents or to complete an entry or keep it up 
to date under section 35 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016.  
 

It is an offence not to produce the required information as requested or to provide false or 
misleading information.  
 
For specific housing purposes we also have the power to:  
 

• Obtain and use Housing Benefit and Council Tax information under section 237 of the 
Housing Act 2004. 

• Request and use tenancy deposit information under section 212A of the Housing Act 
2004. 

• Access and use information contained within the database of rogue landlords and 
property agents under section 39 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016. 

 
 

 
Where we are confident that remedial action will be taken to address the hazard within a 
reasonable time frame and it is appropriate to the circumstances of the case, an informal 
approach will be taken in the first instance. 
 
An informal approach will normally only be possible in cases where hazards are less serious, 
and where the landlord or agent has established a good track-record or has demonstrated a 
willingness and ability to comply and put matters right promptly. 
 
Informal approach 
 
This can include the following:  
 

• No action: in certain circumstances where the detrimental impact on the tenant or 
community is small or a reported breach is unsubstantiated, we may not take any 
action. 

• Advisory or warning letters: we may provide advice and information as a first response 
where we are notified of a minor housing hazard or defect. Advice, sometimes 
provided in the form of a warning letter, can assist landlords and agents to rectify 
breaches as quickly and efficiently as possible and avoid the need for further action. 

• Referral to another agency: where appropriate we will refer cases to other council 
departments or external agencies for further action, e.g. Devon and Somerset Fire and 
Rescue Authority or other council departments. 

  

1.08 Choice of appropriate enforcement action 

35



 

10 
 

Formal Approach 
 
Where an informal approach fails to result in a satisfactory resolution or where a failure to 
comply is of a serious nature, we will consider formal action. 
 
Where a landlord or agent has a history of non-compliance with housing standards, is not 
cooperative, or the risk is serious, we may proceed immediately to formal action. 
 
Urgent action without consultation can be taken where health and safety hazards pose an 
imminent risk to the occupants of premises or other members of the public.  
 
We will take account of current guidance provided by the Government 80597-ODPM-
housing (publishing.service.gov.uk) or any subsequent guidance and will consider the 
enforcement options available under the Housing Act 2004 as follows: 
 

• An Improvement Notice (including Suspended Notice) to require improvements. 
• A Prohibition Order (including Suspended and Emergency Order) to prohibit use of a 

dwelling or part of a dwelling. 
• Emergency Remedial Action to remove an imminent risk of serious harm without the 

need for prior notice. 
• A Hazard Awareness Notice to formally notify the owner of a hazard. 
• A Demolition Order to require demolition of the property. 
• A Clearance Area Declaration to clear the area of the property. 

 
A statement of reasons will be provided with any Notice or Order served, explaining why we 
decided to take a particular course of action.  
 
There is a right of appeal against formal Notices and Orders. Details of how to appeal will be 
included when they are served. 
 
Other legislation may also be used either in conjunction with or instead of housing legislation 
depending upon the circumstances, for example– a statutory abatement Notice under the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990, Community Protection Warning/Notice under the Anti-
social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 
 
Charges for Notices and Orders 
 
The Housing Act 2004 allows us to charge for serving statutory Notices, Orders and 
recovering expenses for taking emergency remedial action. If we receive: 
 

• No or an inadequate response from the landlord/agent or 
• Proposals that were agreed but not carried out (for example if works fail to start when 

agreed, fail to make proper progress or are completed to an inadequate standard) 
 

and we proceed with formal action, a charge will be made for the service of the Notice 
except where:  
 

• A Hazard Awareness Notice has been served.   
• A Suspended Improvement Notice or Suspended Prohibition Order has been served. 
• The property is occupied by an owner occupier.  
• The landlord is willing to undertake works but the occupant does not wish for the works 

to be undertaken. 
• A crowding and space hazard exists, and we do not wish to make the current 

household homeless but wish to limit the number of future occupants. 

36

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7960d9e5274a3864fd6822/safetyratingsystem.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7960d9e5274a3864fd6822/safetyratingsystem.pdf


 

11 
 

Details of charges will be published on our website Fees and charges - Teignbridge District 
Council. 
 
When the charge demand is made the sum recoverable will be a local land charge, which 
will be removed on receipt of the monies due. 
 

 
If a formal Notice is not complied with, we will consider the following options, which will be 
decided on a case-by-case basis. 
 

• Simple caution: we can issue simple cautions as an alternative to prosecution for 
some less serious offences, where a person admits an offence and consents to the 
simple caution. Where a simple caution is offered and declined, we are likely to 
consider prosecution. A simple caution will be recorded and be used to inform future 
decisions on prosecution and may be cited in any subsequent court proceedings. 
 

• Prosecution: Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice or a Prohibition Order is 
an offence punishable by an unlimited fine following conviction; it is an offence to carry 
on using the premises in breach of the Prohibition Order, attracting a daily fine.  
 
We may decide to prosecute in respect of serious or recurrent breaches, or where 
other enforcement action, such as statutory Notices, have failed to achieve 
compliance. Officers will consult and seek advice from the council’s legal team when 
considering prosecution. 
 
Where the investigating officer believes that formal legal action may be required, 
evidence will be properly collected and stored. The case will be reviewed by a senior 
officer or team leader before a decision to proceed is taken by the head of service or in 
the case of prosecutions, the head of the legal team. 
 
Any person subject to potential prosecution may be interviewed under caution, in 
accordance with the Police and Criminal Evidence Act (PACE) 1984 provisions, prior 
to any final decision being made. Where those under investigation do not take up this 
offer; decisions will be made on the available evidence. Prosecution will only be 
considered where we are satisfied that we have sufficient evidence to provide a 
realistic prospect of conviction, namely beyond reasonable doubt. When deciding 
whether to prosecute we will have regard to the relevant public interest factors set 
down by the Director of Public Prosecutions in the Code for Crown Prosecutors. 
 

• Civil Penalty: In certain cases, we will consider the use of civil penalties as an 
alternative to prosecution. Financial penalties can be imposed under various acts and 
regulations. Appendix 1 sets out our Civil Penalties under the Housing and Planning 
Act 2016 and The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 
Regulations and provides full details on how we will apply civil penalties. If a civil 
penalty is not paid, we can enforce the penalty. 
 

• Works in default: we will consider carrying out works to a property where the person 
responsible has failed to comply with a relevant Notice and where there is an imminent 
risk to health and safety. Works in default can be carried out either instead of or in 
addition to a prosecution or civil penalty.  
 
In such cases, we may organise and carry out the work or appoint an agent to 
complete the work on our behalf and recover the cost of the works plus reasonable 

1.09 Failure to comply 

37

https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/feesandcharges
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/feesandcharges


 

12 
 

expenses and interest, including officer time, administration, contractor costs, the cost 
of any specialist reports and supervisory costs.  
 
In the case of officer time, we will calculate costs as follows:  
 
➢ The actual time spent by council officers on the chargeable activities and recorded 

using file notes and database. 
➢ Time spent will be converted into a monetary figure using the appropriate hourly 

rate set for the officer(s) concerned. 
 

The expenses are to be recovered from the person(s) on whom the Notice or Order is/are 
served (“the relevant person”). Where the relevant person receives the rent on behalf of 
another, the expenses are also to be recovered from that other person. The expenses will 
carry interest from the date of service until payment of all sums due under the demand at a 
rate of 1% over Bank of England Base Rate. The recoverable expenses, together with 
interest accrued on them, are a charge on the premises.  
 
In addition, as a means of recovering the costs, we may also serve Recovery Notices to 
recover, receive and give a discharge for any rent or sums in the nature of rent. 
 
As a charge on the property, the costs give the authority the same powers and remedies as 
a Mortgagee under the Law of Property Act 1925 (Enforced Sale). 

 
• Database of rogue landlords and property agents:  

 
We will follow the statutory guidance in relation to the database of rogue landlords 
and property agents under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 Database of rogue 
landlords and property agents guidance (publishing.service.gov.uk) or any 
subsequent guidance.  
 
The database has been designed to help Local Housing Authorities keep track of 
rogue landlords and property agents operating across council boundaries. We must 
make an entry on the database for a landlord or property agent who has received a 
Banning Order. The landlord or property agent will remain on the database for the 
period that the Banning Order has effect. We also have the discretion to make entries 
in respect of a person who has been convicted of a Banning Order offence and the 
offence was committed at a time when the person was a residential landlord or a 
property agent; or the person has received two or more civil penalties within a 12-
month period. 

 
Rent Repayment Orders 
 
A Rent Repayment Order (RRO) can require a landlord to repay up to 12 months’ rent, 
housing benefit, or universal credit. RRO’s can be granted to either a local housing authority 
or a tenant.  
 
We have a duty to consider making an application for an RRO when it becomes aware that a 
landlord has been convicted of a relevant offence. In deciding whether to apply for an RRO 
we will have regard to the RRO guidance in place at the time. The relevant offences are 
specified by the Housing Act 2004 or the Housing and Planning Act 2016. 
 
We may apply for an RRO where we believe we can prove the landlord is guilty of one of the 
qualifying offences specified by the Housing Act 2004 or the Housing and Planning Act 2016 

38

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5ac63a19e5274a5adc960cf1/Database_of_rogue_landlords_statutory_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5ac63a19e5274a5adc960cf1/Database_of_rogue_landlords_statutory_guidance.pdf


 

13 
 

and where the rent has been paid through Housing Benefit or through the housing element 
of Universal Credit. 
 
We may offer advice to assist tenants to apply for an RRO if the tenant has paid the rent 
themselves. A decision on how and if to provide support will be made on a case-by-case 
basis. We will consider the vulnerability of the tenant, the likelihood of success and the 
financial implications to the council. 
 
Local Housing Authorities are expected to apply their own policy on when to apply for a Rent 
Repayment Order and should decide each case independently.  
 
Decisions to apply for an RRO will be recommended by officers and approved by the Head 
of Service 

 
In the event of a conviction: 
We will consider applying for an RRO in all cases where they become aware that a person 
has been convicted of one or more relevant offence. 
 
We will consider each case individually and will take into account the following factors when 
deciding to apply for an RRO: 
 

• The severity of the offence. 
• The culpability and track record of the offender. 
• The harm caused to the tenant. 
• If it is in the public interest – has housing benefit/Universal Credit been paid to the 

landlord. 
• If the tenant is intending to apply for a RRO. 
• Any mitigating circumstances – would an RRO cause substantial hardship to the 

offender. 
 

Amount of rent to be repaid: 
 
Where a landlord has been convicted of the offence to which the RRO relates, the First-tier 
Tribunal (FtT) must order that the maximum amount of rent is repaid (capped at a maximum 
of 12 months). 
 
Where a landlord has not been convicted of the offence to which the RRO application 
relates, we will take the following factors into account when considering how much rent to 
seek to recover: 
 

• Punishment of the offender: The RRO should have a meaningful economic impact 
on the offender (subject to the 12 months maximum amount) and demonstrate 
consequences of non-compliance with their responsibilities. The conduct of landlord 
and tenant, the financial circumstances of landlord and whether the landlord has 
previous similar convictions will be considered. 

• Deter the offender from repeating the offence: The level of the RRO should be set 
at a high enough level to deter the offender from repeating the offence. 

• Dissuade others from committing similar offences: Details of RROs imposed are 
in the public domain (published by First Tier Tribunal) so robust and proportionate use 
of RROs may encourage others to comply with their responsibilities. 

• Remove any financial benefit the offender may have obtained as a result of 
committing the offence: The landlord should lose much, if not all, of the benefit they 
accrued by not complying with their responsibilities. 
 

39



 

14 
 

Banning Orders 
 
A Banning Order bans a landlord or property agent from letting houses or engaging in letting 
agency or property management work in England for a minimum of 12 months. 
 
Under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 we may apply to the First-tier Tribunal (FtT) for 
banning Orders against residential landlords or property agents who have been convicted of 
Banning Order offences. A Banning Order prohibits a person from renting out residential 
accommodation, engaging in letting agency or property management work, or holding an 
HMO licence. The Order can be issued to persons who have been convicted of ‘Banning 
Order offences’ as specified by the Housing and Planning Act 2016 (Banning Order 
Offences) Regulations 2017. When considering applying for Banning Orders we will have 
regard to the relevant Government guidance.  (Banning Orders for landlords and property 
agents under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)). 
 
Banning Orders are reserved for the most serious offenders who flout their legal obligations 
and rent out sub-standard accommodation. 
 
In deciding whether to apply for a Banning Order and when recommending the length of any 
Banning Order we will consider: 
 

• the seriousness of the offence and the sentence imposed by the Court; and 
• the previous history of the offender especially in relation to other Banning Order 

offences.  
We will also take into account the likely effect of the ban on the person and anyone 
else who may be affected, including:  

• the harm or potential harm to the tenant, specifically in relation to vulnerable people 
(Banning Order offences more directly related to health and safety of tenants will be 
considered more harmful). 

• punishment of the offender, ensuring any ban is proportionate and also reflects the 
severity of the offence; and  

• deterring the offender and others from committing similar offences by recommending a 
sufficiently long ban. 
 

The decision to apply for a Banning Order, including the recommended duration of the ban, 
will be taken by the Head of Service.  
 
Where a Banning Order is made, the individual will be determined not to be a ‘fit and proper’ 
person to hold a licence under Part 2 or 3 of the Housing Act 2004 and any licences in force 
under those parts will be revoked. 
 
We will consider publishing details of successful Banning Orders including the names of 
individual landlords subject to legal advice and guidance provided by the Ministry of Justice 
on whether to publish sentencing outcomes.  
 
We will also consider making information on banned landlords available to tenants on 
request. 
 
Notices, representations and appeals: 
 
If we decide to apply for a Banning Order, we will first issue the landlord or property agent a 
Notice of Intent giving notice of our proposal to apply for a Banning Order. A Notice of Intent 
must be served within six months of the date of conviction.  
 

40

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/banning-orders-for-landlords-and-property-agents-under-the-housing-and-planning-act-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/banning-orders-for-landlords-and-property-agents-under-the-housing-and-planning-act-2016


 

15 
 

The Notice of Intent will inform the landlord: 
 

• of our intention to apply for a Banning Order and the reasons for this. 
• the length of each proposed ban; and 
• the right of the landlord to make representations during the Notice period (minimum 28 

days).  
 

Representations in response to a Notice of Intent must be made within 28 days from the 
date the Notice was given. Properly made representations will be considered by the Head of 
Service. 
 
Once a decision has been made, we will advise the landlord/property agent whether we 
intend to apply for a Banning Order or not. The FtT will set the duration of any banning 
Order, but we are required to recommend a period as part of an application. Only the FtT 
can make, vary, or revoke a Banning Order.  
 
Once a decision is made by the FtT, any appeals must be made to the Upper-tier Tribunal 
(UtT). 
 
Enforcement of a Banning Order: 
 
Breach of a banning Order is a criminal offence subject to either prosecution in the 
Magistrate’s Court or civil penalty). The council will consider prosecuting or issuing a civil 
penalty to any landlord or property agent found to be breaching a banning Order. 
 
Other types of enforcement 
 
The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 (as amended 
2022): Part three states our Statement of principles to determine the amount of a penalty 
charge under Part 4 of The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 
as amended by The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (Amendment) Regulations 2022 
(“the Regulations”) 
 
Energy Efficiency (Domestic Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015: Part 
Four states our Statement of principles to determine the amount of a penalty charge for a 
breach of minimum energy efficiency standards (MEES) with respect to domestic privately 
rented property. 
 
Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020:  
The regulations require landlords to have the electrical installations in their properties 
inspected and tested by a person who is qualified and competent, at least every five years. 
Landlords must provide a copy of the electrical safety report to their tenants, and to the 
council, if requested.  
 
Where we believe that a landlord has breached their duties under the regulations, we may 
take one, or a combination of, the following actions: 
 

• Serve a Remedial Notice on the landlord, requiring them to take action in respect of 
the breach. 

• Carry out urgent remedial action where a report indicates it is required. 
• Carry out remedial action where a landlord is in breach of a Remedial Notice. 
• Issue a financial penalty in respect of a breach of the regulations. 

41



 

16 
 

Appendix 1 sets out the Council’s approach to Civil Penalties under the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 and The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector 
(England) Regulations 2020. 
 
Protection from Eviction Act 1977: We may consider taking action under the Protection 
from Eviction Act 1977 where we have reason to believe that an illegal eviction or 
harassment has taken place. We may investigate to determine whether an offence has been 
committed and can be established to the required standard. 
 
The Redress Schemes for Lettings Agency Work and Property Management Work 
(Requirement to Belong to a Scheme etc) (England) Order 2014 
 
This Order introduced a requirement for letting agents and property managers to belong to 
an approved redress scheme. The redress scheme must be approved by Government or 
designated as a government administered redress scheme. Where we become aware that a 
letting agent or property management organisation does not belong to an approved redress 
scheme it has a duty to take enforcement action. Enforcement action will be taken in line 
with the process prescribed by the Order. We may serve a Notice on the offender that 
requires the payment of a penalty of an amount determined by the council. 
 
Government guidance suggests a penalty of £5,000 should be considered reasonable and 
should not be exceeded. A lower penalty should only be charged if we are satisfied there are 
extenuating circumstances. 
 
Where a Notice is served requiring a monetary penalty, there is a right to appeal at the First-
tier Tribunal, and the Notice is suspended until the appeal is determined or withdrawn. 
 
Additional Enforcement Options for Empty homes 
 
Interim and Final Empty Management Dwelling Orders (EDMO): Chapter 2 of the 
Housing Act 2004 allows the council to apply to the FtT to impose an EDMO on the owner of 
an empty home to achieve occupancy of the dwelling. This Order gives the council 
management of the house, but not ownership, for a set period of a maximum of seven years, 
after which another Order could be sought. The property would be let to a tenant and the 
costs recovered through the rental. If there is any excess income from the rent, it must go to 
the owner. 
 
Enforced sale: We can seek an Order to complete the sale of the house on the open market 
to recoup its costs where we have had to carry out works in default and the monies have not 
been repaid. The owner takes the balance of the sale price.  
 
Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO): The Housing Act 1985 gives us powers to apply to 
the Secretary of State to allow us to compulsory purchase the property. This power may be 
used as a last resort to bring dwellings back into use and stop the anti-social "knock on" 
effects that empty properties inflict upon neighbouring residents. We may work in partnership 
with a Registered Providers or other agency to secure a back-to-back sale of the property in 
order to recover costs. 
  

42



 

17 
 

 

 
 

 

The Council has powers to ensure adequate standards are met and maintained within HMOs 
whether licensable or not.  
 

 
A building or flat in which 3 or more people forming 2 or more households share a basic 
amenity such as a toilet, bathroom or kitchen; or the accommodation lacks one or more of 
these features. 
 
A single household is made up of persons who are members of the same family. 
Exemptions include: 
 

• Any properties managed by a public sector body. 
• Student accommodation which is managed or controlled by an educational 

establishment. 
• Buildings occupied by religious communities. 
• Buildings occupied by owners (long leaseholders or freeholders) 
• Buildings occupied by two persons (who form two households) 

 
HMOs can include shared houses, bedsits, flats, and converted buildings which include units 
of accommodation that are not self-contained flats, and buildings converted entirely into self-
contained flats (section 257 HMOs).  
 
HMOs occupied by five or more people require an HMO licence from us. 
 

 
The Housing Act 2004 and associated regulations set the minimum legal standards required 
for HMOs. This policy sets out the council’s approach on ensuring how the standards are 
met. 
 
We expect that our HMO standards, as set out in detail in Appendix 2 are achieved in all 
HMOs and they will inform our enforcement decisions. It is a legal requirement for HMOs to 
be compliant with the HMO minimum standards.  
 
The council acknowledges however, that there may be exceptional instances where 
compliance with the minimum standards is not practicable and any variation from the 
minimum standards will need to be agreed with the council and confirmed in writing.  
 
Summary of Standards 
 
Our standards are set out in Appendix 2. The standards cover the following: 
 

• Minimum room sizes 
• Facilities for the storage and preparation and cooking of food  
• Personal washing and toilet facilities 

2 Part Two 

2.01 Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) – Standards and Licensing 

2.02 Definition 

2.03 Minimum standards in HMOs 

43



 

18 
 

• Insulation and heating 
• Power supply and electrical sockets 
• Lighting and ventilation 
• Fire Safety 
• Security 
• Food storage 
• Waste disposal. 

 
For licensable HMOs, the minimum standards may not necessarily be met on the date a 
licence becomes operative. Where the standards are not met the licence may be issued with 
conditions requiring compliance with the standards within a specified time period. 
 

 
These regulations impose duties upon landlords and managers of all HMOs whether the 
property is subject to licensing or not.   
 
In summary, managers of HMOs are required to:  
 

• Provide management information to occupants and display the name, address and 
telephone number for the manager clearly in the HMO property. 

• Take safety measures including fire safety. Keep escape routes free from obstruction 
and maintain fire alarms and equipment in good working order. 

• Protect occupants from injury – appropriate safeguards must be maintained for roofs, 
balconies and low windowsills. 

• Maintain water supply and drainage in good, clean working order and protected from 
frost damage. 

• Supply and maintain gas and electricity; ensure the electrical installation is inspected 
and tested every 5 years and supply gas safety certificates and electrical reports to us 
within seven days of a request. 

• Maintain common parts, fixtures, fittings and appliances in good order and repair. 
• Maintain living accommodation in a clean condition at the beginning of the tenant’s 

occupation and in good repair. 
• Provide waste disposal facilities suitable for the size of each household and comply 

with the councils’ waste storage and disposal schemes.  
 

Occupants of HMOs are required not to hinder the manager in their duties and to cooperate 
with reasonable requests.  
 
Penalties  
 
Failing to comply with HMO management regulations is an offence under the Housing Act 
2004, subject to a financial penalty of up to £30,000 (see Appendix 1) or an unlimited fine on 
summary conviction.  
 

 
We operate a mandatory licensing scheme under Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004, which 
applies to all HMOs that are occupied by five or more persons, comprising two or more 
households and share facilities. The aim of licensing is to ensure that larger HMOs are safe 
for the occupants and visitors and is properly managed. The responsibility for applying for a 
licence rest with the person having control of, or the person managing the property. 
 

2.04 HMO Management Regulations 

2.05 HMO Licensing 

44



 

19 
 

We also have powers to extend licensing schemes to include both Additional and Selective 
Licensing Schemes, but currently do not operate either. This is kept under review. 
 
Properties exempt from the licensing regime are prescribed in Schedule 4 of the Housing Act 
2004 and associated regulations and include: 
 

• Properties consisting entirely of self-contained flats. 
• Where the building is occupied only by the owner (and members of their household) 

and up to two lodgers. 
• Where the building is occupied by only two persons. 

 
Application for HMO licence 
 
A licence application can be made online via the Council website. 
To be considered a valid application, the specified documentation and relevant fee must 
accompany the application.  
 
When we receive an application, we must decide whether to grant or refuse an HMO licence 
considering the factors below: 
 

• The property is reasonably suitable for occupation by the intended number of 
occupants or can be made suitable by the imposition of licence conditions. The 
intended number of occupants is either the number specified in the application, or 
another number set by us. 

• The proposed licence holder and manager are fit and proper persons. 
• The proposed licence holder is the most appropriate person to hold the licence. 
• The manager is either the person having control or an agent or employee of the 

person having control. 
• The proposed management arrangements are satisfactory. 

 
The following sections explain how we will reach decisions on these matters: 
 
Suitability for multiple occupation  
 
We will refer to HMO standards (Appendix 2)  
 
Fit and Proper Person 
 
When granting a licence, we must be satisfied that the proposed licence holder and any 
manager are fit and proper persons; and will have regard to relevant guidance when 
applying the fit and proper test.  A person’s “fit and proper status” may be reviewed at any 
time. The criteria considered, but not limited to includes: 
 

• Any unspent convictions for offences involving fraud or other dishonesty, or violence or 
drugs or any offence listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offences Act 2003. 

• Any unlawful discrimination on grounds of sex, colour, race, ethnic or national origins, 
or in connection with the carrying on of a business. 

• Any contravention of any provision of the law relating to housing or of landlord and 
tenant law (including any civil proceedings that resulted in a judgement against 
you). 

  
Any applicant/property manager who does not declare unspent convictions will be 
committing an offence and liable to a fine. 
 

45



 

20 
 

Other considerations as to whether a proposed landlord or manager is a fit and proper 
person include where a person: 

• Has had a licence revoked or refused or been convicted of breaching the conditions 
of a licence under parts 2 or 3 of the Housing Act 2004.   

• Owns, manages or has owned or managed an HMO or house which has been the 
subject of a Control Order under section 379 of the Housing Act 1985 in the five 
years preceding the date of the application; or any appropriate enforcement actions 
described in section 5(2) of the Housing Act 2004 (in relation to category 1 
hazards).    

• Owns or has previously owned a property that has been the subject of an interim or 
Final Management Order whilst in their ownership, or a special Interim Management 
Order under the Housing Act 2004.    

• Is subject to a Banning Order under section 16 of the Housing and Planning Act 
2016.    

• Owns or has previously owned a property for which we have undertaken action as 
described in section 5(2) of the Housing Act 2004, which includes the service of an 
Improvement Notice, Prohibition Order, Emergency Prohibition Order, Hazard 
Awareness Notice, Demolition Order or Emergency Remedial Action.  

 
Management Arrangements 
 
We must be satisfied that the proposed management arrangements for an HMO are 
satisfactory. We expect licence holders to have the following arrangements in place: 
 

• A person to whom tenants can report defects, including an emergency contact, and 
for this information to be displayed in writing in the premises. 

• An established system for periodically inspecting the HMO to identify any repairs or 
maintenance.  

• The ability to finance and to undertake repairs and maintenance in an appropriately 
timely fashion.  

• Where the manager is not the owner of the property, the manager must be able to 
fund and implement urgent repairs in those situations where it is not possible to 
obtain the owner’s approval without undue delay.  

• A system to deal with any anti-social behaviour caused by tenants or their visitors, 
which causes nuisance or annoyance to people living in the vicinity. 

• The council may also consider whether any person involved in the management of 
the house has a sufficient level of competence and may take into account matters 
such as the frequency and nature of any valid complaints received in connection 
with the property or its management, and the adequacy of any response. 
 

Licence Conditions 
 
All licences must have mandatory conditions applied as per the provisions of The Licensing 
of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of Licences) (England) Regulations 
2018. 
 
The Council may also apply discretionary conditions to any individual licence as they deem 
appropriate.  
 
The licence holder is responsible to ensure licence conditions are complied with. Breach of 
any licence condition is an offence and may result in formal action. 
 
There is no requirement to inspect a property prior to issuing a licence, however, we will 
usually carry out an inspection to assess compliance with licensing requirements, local 

46



 

21 
 

amenity standards, the Housing Health and Safety Rating System and any other relevant 
legislation to ensure the above criteria is met. 
Where a licensable HMO does not meet specific criteria at the time of application for a 
licence, the Council may reject the application. Alternatively, the Council may use its 
discretion to issue a licence subject to a condition that the property will comply with the 
appropriate standards within an agreed period of time from the granting of the licence. 
Evidence showing that a landlord is not a fit and proper person will result in refusal of a 
licence. 
 
Licence Term 
 
Licences will generally be issued for five years, except where we have concerns relating to 
the management of the property, including non-compliance with licence conditions, breaches 
of the management regulations or contraventions of other relevant legislation. In these 
cases, licences will generally be issued for one year and the length of licence reviewed upon 
renewal. 
 
Issuing licences 
 
Draft licences (‘Intention Notice’) must be issued within a reasonable period of time following 
the receipt of a valid licence application. We will aim to issue draft licences within 12 weeks 
of a valid application. 
 
The applicant and any consultee will be given a minimum of 14 days after the date of service 
of the draft licence to make any representations regarding the proposed licence. Any 
representations received will be reviewed and a written response provided before the actual 
licence (‘Decision Notice’) is issued. 
 
Licences only relate to a single HMO and are non-transferrable. 
 
Tacit consent does not apply. It is in the public interest that we process an application before 
it can be granted. 
 
Variation of licences  
 
The council may vary a licence either with the agreement of the licence holder or without 
agreement if it considers there has been a change of circumstances since the licence was 
granted. Change of circumstances will be taken to include the discovery of new information. 
 
Revocation of licences  
 
The council may revoke a licence either with the agreement of the licence holder or without 
agreement in the following circumstances:  
 

• Where the council considers that the licence holder or any other relevant person has 
committed a serious breach of a licence condition or repeated breaches of a condition. 

• Where the council no longer consider that the licence holder is a fit and proper person 
to hold the licence. 

• Where the council considers that the management of the premises is no longer being 
carried out by fit and proper persons. 

• Where the property has ceased to be an HMO requiring a licence. 
• Where the council considers that, were the licence to expire at that time, it would not 

grant a further licence because of the structure of the premises. 
  

47



 

22 
 

Appeals of licence decisions 
 
The applicant, anyone with an estate or interest in the premises, a person managing the 
premises or anyone on whom the licence would place any restriction or obligation, may 
appeal against our decision to either grant or refuse to grant a licence, or in connection with 
decisions in relation to revocation or variation. Details of how to appeal will be included with 
licences (‘Decision Notices’).  
 
Temporary Exemption Notices (TENs)  
 
Where a landlord or manager makes an application in writing, the council may issue a 
Temporary Exemption Notice (TEN) for up to three months if we are satisfied that particular 
steps are being taken to ensure either that the building will cease to be an HMO, or that it 
will become an HMO that is no longer subject to mandatory licensing. For example, entering 
into a contract for the sale of the building with vacant possession for use other than as an 
HMO.  
 
Placing or proposing to place an HMO on the market for sale will not normally be sufficient 
for the council to agree to issue a TEN.  
 
TENs will be refused in cases where it appears the application has only been sought with the 
aim of avoiding or evading licensing.  
 
We will confirm our decision in writing by serving a Notice giving the reasons for the decision 
of whether to grant the exemption. Applicants may appeal the decision and details of how to 
appeal will be included with the TEN.  
 
TENs can only be granted for a maximum of three months, although in exceptional 
circumstances it can be renewed for a further three months on further application to us.  
 
If the licence holder dies while the licence is in force the licence ceases and, for three 
months from the death, the building will be treated as having a TEN granted. During that 
period the licence holder’s personal representatives may apply to the council for an 
extension to the exemption for a further three months whilst affairs are being sorted out. We 
do not have to grant a further extension; however, consent is unlikely to be withheld in such 
cases. 
 
Fees 
 
We will charge a fee for each licence. Fees will be periodically reviewed and revised as 
necessary through the council’s fees and charges setting procedures and as required by any 
legislative changes. Details of fees will be published on our website. A valid application must 
accompany the fee. Owners, landlords and managing agents can apply via the Council 
website. Fees and charges - Teignbridge District Council 
 
 

 
It is an offence to:  
 

• Have control of or manage an HMO which is required to be licensed but is not 
licensed. 

• Have control of or manage an HMO which is licensed and to knowingly permit any 
additional occupiers and thereby exceed maximum occupation stated on the licence. 

2.06 Enforcement of HMO licensing 

48

https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/finance/fees-and-charges/


 

23 
 

• Be a licence holder or a person on whom restrictions or obligations are imposed under 
a licence and fail to comply with any condition of the licence.  

• Fail to comply with the relevant HMO Management Regulations. 
 

These offences carry a range of punitive actions which we may wish to pursue, including:  
 

• Prosecution resulting in an unlimited fine on summary conviction  
• Seeking Banning Orders following successful conviction  
• Financial penalties of up to £30,000 for each offence (See Civil Penalty and Other 

Penalty Charges Policy). 
• Rent Repayment Orders to recover Housing Benefit/Universal Credit  
• Assisting tenants to apply for Rent Repayment Orders  
• Entering landlords and agents into the ‘Rogue Landlords Database’  
• Interim or Final Management Orders  

 
Any decision to pursue enforcement action will be taken in line with this policy and in 
discussion with the Legal and Finance teams. 
 
Additional Enforcement Options for HMOs 
 
Interim Management Orders (IMOs) and Final Management Orders (FMOs): These 
powers will only be used where other attempts to ensure the health, safety or welfare of 
occupiers has failed.  
 
IMOs can be made where there is no realistic prospect of a property licence being granted. 
By making an IMO the management and rental income from a property is removed from the 
landlord for up to one year. The income is used to carry out necessary works to reduce any 
significant hazards in the property, to maintain the property, and to pay any relevant 
management expenses. Following the granting of an IMO, we can apply for a Final 
Management Order(FMO) that can be in place for up to seven years. We may engage an 
external company to manage the property. 
 
Overcrowding Notices (section 139 of the Housing Act 2004): Section 139 of the 
Housing Act 2004 allows us to serve an Overcrowding Notice in respect of houses in 
multiple occupation that falls outside of the scope of HMO licensing. The Notice specifies, on 
a room-by-room basis, the maximum number of persons allowed to occupy each room as 
sleeping accommodation or that the room is not considered suitable for that purpose. 
 
We will use the HMO bedroom space standards set out in this document (Appendix 2: 
Houses in Multiple Occupation Standards) as the standard for overcrowding enforcement in 
all HMOs. 
 
  

49



 

24 
 

 

 

 
Section 13 of the Regulations requires us to prepare and publish a statement of principles 
which they propose to follow in determining the amount of a penalty charge. 
 
The Regulations introduced legal requirements on relevant landlords to: 
 

1. Equip a smoke alarm on each storey of the premises on which there is a room used 
wholly or partly as living accommodation. 

2. During any period when the premises were occupied under the tenancy, to ensure that 
a carbon monoxide alarm is equipped in any room of the premises which is used 
wholly or partly as living accommodation, and which contains fixed combustion 
appliance other than a gas cooker. 

3. Carry out checks by or on behalf of the landlord to ensure that each prescribed alarm 
is in proper working order on the day the tenancy begins if it is a new tenancy. 

4. Where, following a report made on or after 1st October 2022 by a tenant or by their 
nominated representative to the landlord, a prescribed alarm is found not to be in 
proper working order, the alarm is repaired or replaced. 

 
For the purposes of the legislation, living accommodation includes a bathroom or lavatory. 
 
Where we believe that a landlord is in breach of one or more of the above duties, we must 
serve a remedial notice on the landlord. The remedial notice is a notice served under 
Regulation 5 of the Regulations. 
 
If the landlord then fails to take the remedial action specified in the notice within the specified 
timescale, we can require a landlord to pay a penalty charge. The power to charge a penalty 
arises from Regulation 8 of the Regulations. Failure to comply with each remedial notice can 
lead to a fine of up to £5,000. Fines will be applied per breach, rather than per landlord or 
property. 
 
We will impose a penalty charge where it is satisfied, on the balance of probabilities, that the 
landlord has not complied with the action specified in the remedial notice within the required 
timescale. 
 
A landlord will not be considered to be in breach of their duty to comply with the remedial 
notice if they can demonstrate they have taken all reasonable steps to comply. Where there 
is evidence, including written correspondence, of repeated and consistent efforts to obtain 
access to the property, with access repeatedly being prevented by the occupant(s) of the 
property, a landlord will not be considered to be in breach of their duty to comply with the 
remedial notice. A landlord will be expected to have: 
 

• Communicated the risk of harm that the lack of functioning alarms posed to all 
occupants in writing on multiple occasions. 

• Requested access to comply with the remedial notice on a regular basis of no longer 
than every seven days in writing. 

 

3 Part Three 

3.01 Statement of principles to determine the amount of a penalty charge 
under Part 4 of The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 
Regulations 2015 as amended by The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm 
(Amendment) Regulations 2022 (“the Regulations”) 

50



 

25 
 

In considering the imposition of a penalty, we may look at the evidence concerning the 
breach of the requirement of the notice. A non-exhaustive list of methods that may be used 
to obtain relevant evidence includes, but is not limited to: 
 

• Evidence obtained from a property inspection. 
• Evidence provided by the tenant or agent. 
• Evidence provided by the landlord demonstrating compliance with the Regulations by 

supplying dated photographs of alarms, together with installation records. 
 
Landlords need to take steps to demonstrate that they have met the testing requirements at 
the start of the tenancy requirements. A non-exhaustive list of methods that may be used to 
evidence compliance with these testing requirements includes, but is not limited to: 
 

• Tenants signing an inventory form which states that they observed the alarms being 
tested and confirming that the alarms were in working order at the start of the tenancy 

 
Where a landlord is in breach, the local housing authority may serve a remedial notice. 
Failure to comply with each remedial notice can lead to a fine of up to £5,000. Fines will be 
applied per breach, rather than per landlord or property. 
 
When determining the amount of the penalty charge, regard will be had to whether this is a 
first breach under the Regulations. 
 
Determining the amount of the penalty charge for a first breach 
 
The minimum amount of a penalty charge for a first breach of the Regulations will be £2,500. 
The starting level of a penalty charge for a first breach of the Regulations will be £3,000. The 
penalty charge amount will then be varied depending on aggravating and mitigating factors. 
 
Aggravating factors include, but are not limited to: 
 

• The number of alarms not working or missing (the Regulations state there should be 
one per storey) 

• Other fire safety concerns/defects in the property which increase the risk posed to the 
occupants. 

• The length of time the offence is believed to have been on-going. 
• The frequency of complaints by the occupiers to the landlord about the non-working or 

missing alarms. 
• The costs of any remedial work we have carried out in response to the breach. 
• Whether the property is let as a HMO (which increases the overall risk) 
• The number of occupants living in the property. 
• Presence of vulnerable occupiers such as elderly, children or disabled people 
• Any history of previous enforcement or non-compliance of the landlord 
• Attempts to obstruct the investigation. 

 
Mitigating factors include, but are not limited to: 
 

• Evidence that all required alarms were checked and in working order at the start of the 
tenancy. 

• Written evidence that some efforts to gain access and comply with the remedial notice 
were made and access was prevented by the occupant. 

 

51



 

26 
 

Determining the amount of the penalty charge for a subsequent breach 
 
The penalty for subsequent breaches by the same landlord will be £5,000. 
 
  

52



 

27 
 

 

 

 
The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015 
(“the Regulations”) make it unlawful to rent out a domestic property if it has an EPC (Energy 
Performance Certificate) rating of F or G (unless a valid exemption has been registered on 
the PRS Exemptions register). 
 
The Regulations make it unlawful to fail to comply with a compliance notice served by the 
Council. 
 
The Regulations cover all relevant properties, even where there has been no change of 
tenancy.  
 
The Regulations were introduced to improve the energy efficiency of housing in the private 
rented sector and to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and tackle climate change. They 
should help make tenants’ homes more thermally efficient. 
 
An energy performance certificate (EPC) gives the property an energy efficiency rating – A 
rated properties are the most energy efficient and G rated are the least efficient. It’s valid for 
10 years and must be provided by the owner of a property, when it is put up for rent or for 
sale. 
 
If you are a landlord and you fail to provide an EPC at the start of a tenancy, you will be in 
breach of the Regulations. 
 
An EPC contains information about the type of heating system and typical energy costs. It 
also gives recommendations about how the energy use could be reduced, lowering running 
costs. You can find the recommended energy efficiency improvements on the current EPC.  
 
If you’re a private landlord, you must either: 
 

• Ensure your rented properties with a valid EPC meets a minimum ‘E’ rating or 
• Register a valid PRS exemption on the PRS exemptions register. 

 
Failure to do either of these is a breach of the Regulations. 
 
We will investigate any potential breaches of the regulations. If we are satisfied that you are, 
or have at any time in the 18 months preceding the date of service of the penalty notice, 
breached the Regulations, you may be subject to a penalty notice imposing a financial 
penalty. We may also impose a publication penalty. 
 
The “publication penalty” means publication, for a minimum period of 12 months, or such 
longer period as we may decide, on the PRS Exemptions Register of such of the following 
information in relation to a penalty notice as we decide: 
 

• Where the landlord is not an individual, the landlord’s name. 
• Details of the breach of these Regulations in respect of which the penalty notice has 

been issued. 
• The address of the property in relation to which the breach has occurred, and 
• The amount of any financial penalty imposed. 

4 Part Four 

4.01 Statement of principles to determine the amount of a penalty charge for 
a breach of minimum energy efficiency standards (MEES) with respect to 
domestic privately rented property. 

53



 

28 
 

 
We will impose the following financial penalties: 
 

(a) Letting a property with an F or G rating for less than 3 months: £2,000. 
(b) Letting a property with an F or G rating for more than 3 months: £4,000. 
(c) Registering false or misleading information on the PRS exemptions register: £1,000. 
(d) Failing to provide information to the Council demanded by a compliance notice: 

£2,000. 
 
We may not impose a financial penalty under both subsections (a) and (b) above in relation 
to the same breach of the Regulations. But they may impose a financial penalty under either 
paragraph (a) or paragraph (b), together with financial penalties under paragraphs (c) and 
(d), in relation to the same breach. Where penalties are imposed under more than one of 
these paragraphs, the total amount of the financial penalty may not be more than £5,000. 
 
  

54



 

29 
 

  

 
Civil Penalties under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 and The 
Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 
Regulations 2020 
 
In this policy, the term ‘landlord’ should be read as including letting agents, managing 
agents, licensors, property owners, directors of corporate landlords and any other person 
involved in the letting or management of privately rented accommodation. 
 
In this policy, the terms ‘House of Multiple Occupation’ or ‘HMO’ are defined by the Housing 
Act 2004. 
 
Section 126 and Schedule 9 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 provide local authorities 
with the power, through the insertion of section 249A Housing Act 2004, to impose a civil 
penalty as an alternative to prosecution in respect of the following offences under the 
Housing Act 2004:  
 

• Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice [section 30]. 
• Offences in relation to licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) under Part 2 

[section 72]. 
• Offences in relation to the Selective Licensing of ‘houses’ under Part 3 [section 95]. 
• Failure to comply with an Overcrowding Notice [section 139]. 
• Failure to comply with a management regulation in respect of an HMO [section 234]. 

 
Regulation 11 of The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 
Regulations 2020 provides local authorities with the power to impose a civil penalty in 
respect of breaches of Regulation 3 of The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented 
Sector (England) Regulations 2020. 
 
In addition, section 23 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 provides that a civil penalty 
may be imposed in respect of a breach of a Banning Order.  
 
The Council has the power to impose a civil penalty of up to a maximum of £30,000 for each 
separate offence. If multiple offenders have committed the same offence at the same 
property, a separate civil penalty can, and usually will, be imposed on each offender. In each 
case, the level of civil penalty imposed on each offender will be in line with this policy.  
 
This guidance outlines the Council’s policy in setting the level of a civil penalty in each case 
where it has been determined to issue a civil penalty as an alternative to prosecution 
proceedings.  
 
The Council considers the need for transparency and consistency in the discharge of its 
functions under the Housing Act 2004 to be of primary importance. The general objective of 
this policy is, therefore, to promote both transparency and consistency in the imposition of 
financial penalties under the 2004 Act so that, for example, those managing and having 
control of rented properties in the Council (a) know how the Council will generally penalise 
relevant offences and (b) are assured that, generally, like cases will be penalised similarly, 
and different cases penalised differently. The further objectives of using financial penalties in 
particular as a means of enforcing the above offences are explained below. 
 
  

Appendix 1 

55



 

30 
 

Statutory Guidance 
 
The Government has issued statutory guidance under Schedule 9 of the Housing & Planning 
Act 2016 entitled “Civil penalties under the Housing and Planning Act 2016. Guidance for 
Local Housing Authorities”. The Council has regard to this guidance in the exercise of their 
functions in respect of civil penalties. 
 
Paragraph 3.5 of the statutory guidance states that ‘The actual amount levied in any 
particular case should reflect the severity of the offence, as well as taking account of the 
landlord’s previous record of offending’. The same paragraph sets out several factors that 
should be taken into account to ensure that the civil penalty is set at an appropriate level in 
each case: 
 

a. Severity of the offence. The more serious the offence, the higher the penalty should 
be. 

b. Culpability and track record of the offender. A higher penalty will be appropriate 
where the offender has a history of failing to comply with their obligations and/or their 
actions were deliberate and/or they knew, or ought to have known, that they were in 
breach of their legal responsibilities. Landlords are running a business and should be 
expected to be aware of their legal obligations. 

c. The harm caused to the tenant. This is a very important factor when determining the 
level of penalty. The greater the harm or the potential for harm (this may be as 
perceived by the tenant), the higher the amount should be when imposing a civil 
penalty. 

d. Punishment of the offender. A civil penalty should not be regarded as an easy or 
lesser option compared to prosecution. While the penalty should be proportionate and 
reflect both the severity of the offence and whether there is a pattern of previous 
offending, it is important that it is set at a high enough level to help ensure that it has a 
real economic impact on the offender and demonstrate the consequences of not 
complying with their responsibilities. 

e. Deter the offender from repeating the offence. The ultimate goal is to prevent any 
further offending and help ensure that the landlord fully complies with all of their legal 
responsibilities in future. The level of the penalty should therefore be set at a high 
enough level such that it is likely to deter the offender from repeating the offence. 

f. Deter others from committing similar offences. While the fact that someone has 
received a civil penalty will not be in the public domain, it is possible that other 
landlords in the local area will become aware through informal channels when 
someone has received a civil penalty. An important part of deterrence is the realisation 
that (a) the local authority is proactive in levying civil penalties where the need to do so 
exists and (b) that the level of civil penalty will be set at a high enough level to both 
punish the offender and deter repeat offending. 

g. Remove any financial benefit the offender may have obtained as a result of 
committing the offence. The guiding principle here should be to ensure that the 
offender does not benefit as a result of committing an offence, i.e. it should not be 
cheaper to offend than to ensure a property is well maintained and properly managed. 

 
The factors detailed in the statutory guidance and policy aims will be considered by the 
Council when deciding where, within the Civil Penalties matrix below, a particular offence 
and penalty fall. 
 
Other Policy Aims 
 
The Council is mindful that despite its best efforts, there may be some landlords who operate 
unlawfully for a significant period of time without detection, and only a proportion of landlords 

56



 

31 
 

committing relevant offences will be discovered. The Council is, therefore, mindful that when 
deciding to impose a Civil Penalty, it should create an environment where it is clear to the 
offender and others that operating unlawfully as a landlord will be financially 
disadvantageous when compared to operating lawfully.  
 
The Council intends to create an environment where landlords engage with the Council’s 
requests and demands fulsomely, openly and honestly. This helps create a level playing field 
which supports the aims of transparency and consistency. No landlord should be able to 
financially benefit from withholding information the Council deems relevant that is, or should 
be, in their control to disclose. It is expected that fulsome and complete supporting evidence 
is provided to support any Written Representations received in response to a Notice of 
Intent. 
 
Civil Penalties Matrix 
 
In determining the level of a civil penalty, officers will have regard to the matrix set out below, 
which is to be read in conjunction with the associated guidance. The matrix is intended to 
provide indicative ‘starting level’ under the various offence categories, with the final level of 
the civil penalty adjusted in each case, taking into account aggravating and mitigating factors 
the Council deems significant including, but not limited to, factors relating to the track record 
and culpability of the landlord and the actual or potential harm to the occupants or those at 
risk. 
 
In deciding what level of penalty to impose, officers will conduct the following four stage 
process. First, they will consider the seriousness of the relevant housing offence to identify a 
starting level of the penalty. Second, an assessment of the number of rental properties 
controlled or owned or managed by the landlord and/or their experience in the 
letting/management of property will be considered, which may have the effect of increasing 
or decreasing the penalty. Third, aggravating and mitigating factors that may relate to a 
number of factors including, but not limited to, culpability, track record and harm or potential 
harm will be considered, which may have the effect of increasing or decreasing the penalty. 
Fourth, if any of the Discounts, as set out below, apply, the penalty will be decreased.  
 
Once the seriousness of the relevant housing offence has been identified, the starting level 
of the penalty will be identified using the table below with the headings ‘Seriousness of 
offence’ and ‘Starting level [£]’. Consideration of the number and type of rental properties 
controlled or owned or managed may adjust the penalty. 
 
To reflect the seriousness of the offence(s) in question, the presence of one or more 
mitigating factors will rarely result in the penalty being decreased in excess of a total of 
£5000. In exceptional circumstances, officers may determine that the presence of one or 
more mitigating factors justify a decrease in the penalty in excess of £5000. The presence of 
numerous mitigating factors will not automatically be considered as exceptional 
circumstances. 
 
The Council has not provided a list of mitigating factors in this policy because it 
acknowledges that there are myriad possible circumstances that might give rise to 
mitigation. 
 
To ensure that any penalty imposed is proportionate to the offending behaviour the presence 
of one or more aggravating factors will rarely result in the penalty being increased in excess 
of a total of £5000. In exceptional circumstances, officers may determine that the presence 
of one or more aggravating factors justify an increase in the penalty in excess of £5000. The 

57



 

32 
 

presence of numerous aggravating factors will not automatically be considered as 
exceptional circumstances. 
 
The Council may, exceptionally, including for the reason given above, increase the penalty 
by greater than £5000 on account of aggravating factors or, again exceptionally, decrease it 
by greater than £5000 on account of mitigating factors. In order to meet the objectives of this 
policy, including the need for transparency and consistency in the use of such penalties, the 
Council will exercise its discretion to increase or decrease a penalty by greater than £5000 
on account of aggravating or mitigating factors in exceptional circumstances only excluding 
any Discounts as set out below. The Council will consider on a case-by-case basis whether 
any such circumstances exist. 
 
Seriousness of offence Starting level [£] 
Mild 2,500 
Moderate 7,500 
Serious 12,500 
Very Serious 17,500 
Severe 22,500 
Very Severe 27,500 

 
Offences where a civil penalty may be levied as an alternative to prosecution and 
relevant considerations as to the level of that penalty  
 
Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice - Section 30 of the 
Housing Act 2004  
 
Maximum Court fine following prosecution that can be levied for failure to comply with an 
Improvement Notice - Unlimited  
 
An Improvement Notice served under Part 1 Housing Act 2004 specifies 
repairs/improvements that the recipient should carry out in order to address one or more 
identified Category 1 and/or Category 2 hazards in a property. Category 1 hazards are the 
most serious hazards, judged to have the highest risk of harm to the occupiers; the Council 
has a duty to take appropriate action where a dwelling is found to have one or more 
Category 1 hazards present.  
 
In most cases, the service of an Improvement Notice will have followed an informal stage, 
where the landlord had been given the opportunity to carry out improvements without the 
need for formal action. In such cases, an identified failure to comply with an Improvement 
Notice will represent a continued failure on the part of the landlord/owner to deal 
appropriately with one or more significant hazard.  
 
The Council would view the offence of failing to comply with the requirements of an 
Improvement Notice as a significant issue. The seriousness of the offence is viewed by the 
Council as being a Severe matter, attracting a financial penalty with a starting level of 
£22,500. 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing one or two dwellings, including 
no more than one HMO, with no other relevant factors or aggravating features [see below], 
will reduce by £5,000, attracting a civil penalty of £17,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £22,500. 

58



 

33 
 

 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £27,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to non-compliance with an Improvement Notice: 
 

• The nature and extent of hazards that are present. Multiple hazards and/or 
severe/extreme hazards that are considered to have a significant impact on the health 
and/or safety of the occupant[s] in the property or visitors to the property whether 
invited or not would justify an increase in the level of the civil penalty. 

 
Generic aggravating features/factors 
 
The Council will have regard to general factors in determining the final level of the civil 
penalty including, but not limited to:  
 

• A previous history of non-compliance would justify an increased civil penalty. Non-
exhaustive examples of previous non-compliance would include previous successful 
prosecutions [including recent convictions that were ‘spent’], receipt of financial 
penalties, rent repayment orders, works in default of the landlord and breaches of 
regulations/obligations, irrespective of whether these breaches had been the subject of 
separate formal action. 

• A failure to cooperate with a Council investigation. Non-exhaustive examples of failure 
to cooperate would include failing to comply with a s.16 Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 notice, failing to comply with a s.235 Housing Act 
2004 notice, failing to provide a substantive response to a letter of alleged offence.  

• Deliberate intent when committing the offence. Non-exhaustive examples of deliberate 
intent would include knowledge that the offence was occurring, committing the offence 
after relevant correspondence was sent by the Council. 

• The number of residents placed at risk. 
• Whether any vulnerable residents were in occupation at the time of the offence. Non-

exhaustive examples of vulnerable residents include young adults and children, 
persons vulnerable by virtue of age, persons vulnerable by virtue of disability or 
sensory impairment, persons with a drug or alcohol addiction, victims of domestic 
abuse, children in care or otherwise vulnerable by virtue of age, people with complex 
health conditions, people who do not speak English as their first language, victims of 
trafficking or sexual exploitation, refugees, asylum seekers. 

 
Failure to License offences  
 
Maximum Court fine following prosecution that can be levied for failure to license an HMO or 
Part 3 House – Unlimited  
 
Failure to license a Mandatory ‘HMO’ – Section 72(1) of the Housing Act 
2004 
 
Under Part 2 Housing Act 2004, most higher risk HMOs occupied by 5 or more persons 
forming 2 or more households are required to hold a property licence issued by the local 
authority. HMO licensing was introduced to allow local authorities to regulate standards and 
conditions in high risk, multiply occupied residential premises. Through the property licence 
regime, local authorities ensure that the HMO has sufficient kitchens, baths/showers and 

59



 

34 
 

WCs and place a limit on the number of persons permitted to occupy it and the licence 
holder is required to comply with a set of licence conditions.  
 
The Council would view the offence of failing to license an HMO as a significant failing; 
Licensing was introduced by the Government in order to regulate management, conditions, 
standards and safety in the properties considered to represent the highest risk to tenants as 
regards such matters as fire safety and overcrowding. 
 
This seriousness of the offence is viewed by the Council as being a Very Serious matter, 
attracting a financial penalty with a starting level of £17,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing only one HMO dwelling and no 
more than one other dwelling that is not an HMO, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will reduce by £5,000, attracting a civil penalty of £12,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £17,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £22,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to failure to licence offences: 
 

• The condition of the unlicensed property. The nature and extent of any significant 
hazards that are present would justify an increase in the level of the civil penalty. 
Equally, an HMO that was found to be poorly managed and/or lacking amenities/fire 
safety precautions and/or overcrowded would also justify an increased civil penalty.  

• Any demonstrated evidence that the landlord/agent was familiar with the need to 
obtain a property licence e.g. the fact that they were a named licence holder or 
manager in respect of an already licensed premises. 

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 
As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above.  
 
Failure to Comply with an Overcrowding Notice – Section 139 of the 
Housing Act 2004   
 
Maximum Court fine following prosecution that can be levied for failure to comply with an 
Overcrowding Notice – Unlimited  
 
Section 139 Housing Act 2004 allows the Council to serve an Overcrowding Notice in 
respect of an HMO that is not required to be licensed under Part 2 Housing Act 2004. The 
notice specifies, on a room-by-room basis, the maximum number of persons allowed to 
occupy each room as sleeping accommodation or that the room is not considered suitable 
for that purpose. 
 
The Council would view the offence of failing to comply with the requirements of an 
Overcrowding Notice as a significant matter, exposing the tenant[s] of an HMO to 
unacceptably cramped living conditions. 

60



 

35 
 

 
The seriousness of the offence is viewed by the Council as being a Very Serious matter, 
attracting a financial penalty with a starting level of £17,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing one or two dwellings, including 
no more than one HMO, with no other relevant factors or aggravating features [see below], 
will reduce by £5000, attracting a civil penalty of £12,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £17500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £22,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to non-compliance with an Overcrowding Notice  
 

• The level of overcrowding present – breaches that related to over-occupation of 
multiple rooms or extreme over-occupation of an individual room would justify a higher 
civil penalty. 

 
Generic aggravating features/factors 
 
As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Failure to Comply with a Banning Order – Section 21 of the Housing And 
Planning Act 2016  
 
Maximum Court fine that can be levied for failure to comply with a Banning Order following 
prosecution – Unlimited. In addition, the Court can also impose a prison sentence for up to 
51 weeks. 
 
The Housing and Planning Act 2016 includes provisions and processes for a person to be 
banned from being involved, for a specified period, in one or more of the following activities: 
 

• Letting housing 
• Engaging in letting agency work 
• Engaging in property management work 

 
Banning Orders are reserved for what are recognised as being the most serious housing-
related offences. In the event that the Council was satisfied that the offence of breaching a 
Banning Order had occurred, this would normally be the subject of prosecution proceedings. 
Where it was determined that a civil penalty would be appropriate in respect of a breach of a 
Banning Order, this would normally be set at the maximum level of £30,000 to reflect the 
severity of the offence. 
 

61



 

36 
 

Failure to Comply with The Management of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation [England] Regulations 2006 and The Licensing and 
Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions) 
(England) Regulations 2007 
 
Maximum Court fine following prosecution that can be levied for failure to comply with each 
individual regulation - unlimited. 
 
The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 2006 impose 
duties on the persons managing HMOs in respect of: 
 

• Providing information to occupiers [Regulation 3] 
• Taking safety measures, including fire safety measures [Regulation 4] 
• Maintaining the water supply and drainage [Regulation 5] 
• Supplying and maintaining gas and electricity, including having these 

services/appliances regularly inspected [Regulation 6] 
• Maintaining common parts [Regulation 7] 
• Maintaining living accommodation [Regulation 8] 
• Providing sufficient waste disposal facilities [Regulation 9] 

 
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions) 
(England) Regulations 2007 impose duties on the persons managing HMOs as defined by 
Section 257 Housing Act 2004 in respect of: 
 

• Providing information to occupiers [regulation 4] 
• Taking safety measures, including fire safety measures [regulation 5] 
• Maintaining the water supply and drainage [regulation 6] 
• Supplying and maintaining gas and electricity, including having these 

services/appliances regularly inspected [regulation 7] 
• Maintaining common parts [regulation 8] 
• Maintaining living accommodation [regulation 9] 
• Providing sufficient waste disposal facilities [regulation 10] 

 
It is important that the manager of an HMO complies with all regulations, but the Council 
recognises that a failure to comply with certain regulations is likely to have a much bigger 
impact on the safety and comfort of residents than others.  
 
Failure to comply with the duty of manager to provide information to 
occupier 
 
The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with the duty of 
the manager to provide information to occupier as a Mild matter, attracting a financial penalty 
with a starting level of £2,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing only one HMO dwelling and no 
more than one other dwelling that is not an HMO, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will reduce by £2,000, attracting a civil penalty of £500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £2500. 
 

62



 

37 
 

The Council’s policy, the civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large 
property portfolio, being six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has 
demonstrated experience in the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of 
the portfolio), with no other relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase 
by £2,000, attracting a civil penalty of £4,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Management Regulation breach offences: 
 

• The number and/or nature and/or extent of the management regulation breach(es) 
and/or the deficiencies within each regulation. 

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Duty of manager to take safety measures 
 
The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with the duty of 
the manager to take safety measures as a Very Serious matter, attracting a financial penalty 
with a starting level of £17,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing only one HMO dwelling and no 
more than one other dwelling that is not an HMO, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will reduce by £5,000, attracting a civil penalty of £12,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £17,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £22,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Management Regulation breach offences 
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with the duty of manager to provide information to 
occupier’ above.  

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Duty of manager to maintain water supply and drainage 
 
The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with the duty of 
the manager to maintain the water supply and drainage as a Serious matter, attracting a 
financial penalty with a starting level of £12,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing only one HMO dwelling and no 
more than one other dwelling that is not an HMO, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will reduce by £5,000, attracting a civil penalty of £7,500. 
 

63



 

38 
 

The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £12,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £17,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Management Regulation breach offences 
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with the duty of manager to provide information to 
occupier’ above.  

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Duty of manager to supply and maintain gas and electricity 
 
The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with the duty of 
the manager to maintain the gas and electricity supply as a Serious matter, attracting a 
financial penalty with a starting level of £12,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing only one HMO dwelling and no 
more than one other dwelling that is not an HMO, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will reduce by £5,000, attracting a civil penalty of £7,500. 
 
Under the Council’s policy, the civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a 
significant property portfolio, being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no 
other relevant factors or aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of 
£12,500. 
 
Under the Council’s policy, the civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a 
large property portfolio, being six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has 
demonstrated experience in the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of 
the portfolio), with no other relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase 
by £5000, attracting a civil penalty of £17,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Management Regulation breach offences 
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with the duty of manager to provide information to 
occupier’ above.  

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
  

64



 

39 
 

Duty of manager to maintain common parts, fixtures, fittings and 
appliances 
 
The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with the duty of 
the manager to maintain the common parts, fixture, fittings and appliances as a Moderate 
matter, attracting a financial penalty with a starting level of £7,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing only one HMO dwelling and no 
more than one other dwelling that is not an HMO, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will reduce by £5000, attracting a civil penalty of £2,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £7,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £12,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Management Regulation breach offences 
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with the duty of manager to provide information to 
occupier’ above.  

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Duty of manager to maintain living accommodation 
 
The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with the duty of 
the manager to maintain the living accommodation as a Moderate matter, attracting a 
financial penalty with a starting level of £7,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing only one HMO dwelling and no 
more than one other dwelling that is not an HMO, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will reduce by £5,000, attracting a civil penalty of £2,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £7,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £12,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Management Regulation breach offences 
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with the duty of manager to provide information to 
occupier’ above.  

65



 

40 
 

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Duty to provide waste disposal facilities 
 
The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with the duty of 
the manager to provide waste disposal facilities as a Moderate matter, attracting a financial 
penalty with a starting level of £7,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing only one HMO dwelling and no 
more than one other dwelling that is not an HMO, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will reduce by £5,000, attracting a civil penalty of £2,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £7,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £12,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Management Regulation breach offences 
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with the duty of manager to provide information to 
occupier’ above.  

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Breach of licence conditions – Section 72(3) Housing Act 2004 
 
Maximum Court fine following prosecution that can be levied for failure to comply with a 
licence condition - unlimited  
 
All granted HMO licences impose a set of conditions on the licence holder. These conditions 
impose a variety of obligations relating to the letting, management and condition of the 
rented property. 
 
It is important that the manager of a licensed property complies with all imposed conditions, 
but the Council recognises that a failure to comply with certain licence conditions is likely to 
have a much bigger impact on the safety and comfort of residents than others. 
 
Failure to comply with licence conditions related to: 
 

• Signage or the provision of information for tenants 
• Provision of written terms of occupancy for tenants 
• Procedures regarding complaints 
• Procedures regarding vetting of incoming tenants 
• Compliance with deposit protection legislation 

66



 

41 
 

• The recording and provision of information regarding rent payments 
• Procedures relating to rent collection 
• The provision of information regarding occupancy of the property 
• The provision of information regarding change of managers or licence holder 

details 
• The provision of information related to changes in the property 
• The provision of information relating to a change in mortgage provider 
• Requirements relating to the sale of the property 
• Attending training courses 
• Requirements to hold insurance 
• The provision of insurance documentation 
• The provision of or obtaining of suitable references 
• The provision of keys and alarm codes 
• Security provisions for access to the property 
• The provision of suitable means for occupiers to regulate temperature  

 
The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with a licence 
condition relating to the bullet points directly above as a Mild matter, attracting a financial 
penalty with a starting level of £2,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing one or two dwellings, including 
no more than one HMO, with no other relevant factors or aggravating features [see below], 
will reduce by £2,000, attracting a civil penalty of £500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £2,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £2,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £4,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Licence Condition breach offences 
 

• The number and/or nature and/or extent of the licence condition regulation breach(es) 
and/or the deficiencies within each licence condition breach. 

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Failure to comply with licence conditions related to: 
 

• Procedures and actions regarding Inspections 
• Procedures regarding Repair issues 
• Maintenance and use of common parts (including gardens, outbuildings and 

property exterior) and living areas 
• Safeguarding occupiers and minimising disruption during works 
• The provision of information regarding alterations and construction works 
• Procedures regarding emergency issues 
• Waste and waste receptacles, pests, minor repairs, alterations or decoration. 

67



 

42 
 

• Giving written notice prior to entry 
• Allowing access for inspections 
• Minimising risk of water contamination 
• The compliance of furnishings or furniture with fire safety regulations 

 
The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with a licence 
condition relating to the bullet points directly above as a Moderate matter, attracting a 
financial penalty with a starting level of £7,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing one or two dwellings, including 
no more than one HMO, with no other relevant factors or aggravating features [see below], 
will reduce by £5,000, attracting a civil penalty of £2,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £7,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £12,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Licence Condition breach offences 
 

• The number and/or nature and/or extent of the licence condition regulation breach(es) 
and/or the deficiencies within each licence condition breach. 

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Failure to comply with licence conditions related to: 
 

• The provision of documentation regarding energy performance certificates, fire 
detection and prevention, emergency lighting, carbon monoxide detection, fire 
risk assessments, gas installations, electric installations and appliances 

• Notification of legal proceedings, contraventions and other relevant information 
that may affect a fit and proper person status 

• Procedures and actions regarding ASB 
 
The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with a licence 
condition relating to the bullet points directly above as a Serious matter, attracting a financial 
penalty with a starting level of £12,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing one or two dwellings, including 
no more than one HMO, with no other relevant factors or aggravating features [see below], 
will reduce by £5,000, attracting a civil penalty of £7,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £12,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 

68



 

43 
 

the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £17,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Licence Condition breach offences 
 

• The number and/or nature and/or extent of the licence condition regulation breach(es) 
and/or the deficiencies within each licence condition breach. 

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Failure to comply with licence conditions related to: 
 

• Minimum floor areas 
• Occupancy rates 
• Occupancy of rooms or areas that are not to be used as sleeping 

accommodation 
• Limits on number of households allowed to occupy the property or part of the 

property 
 

The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with a licence 
condition relating to the bullet points directly above as a Very Serious matter, attracting a 
financial penalty with a starting level of £17,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing one or two dwellings, including 
no more than one HMO, with no other relevant factors or aggravating features [see below], 
will reduce by £5000, attracting a civil penalty of £12,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £17,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £22,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Licence Condition breach offences 
 

• The number and/or nature and/or extent of the licence condition regulation breach(es) 
and/or the deficiencies within each licence condition breach. 

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Failure to comply with licence conditions related to: 
 

• The condition or existence of smoke alarms, carbon monoxide alarms, 
emergency lighting, gas installations, electric installations and appliances, fire 
detection or other fire safety features or requirements 

69



 

44 
 

• The prevention including provision of safe means of escape 
 

The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with a licence 
condition relating to the bullet points directly above as a Severe matter, attracting a financial 
penalty with a starting level of £22,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing one or two dwellings, including 
no more than one HMO, with no other relevant factors or aggravating features [see below], 
will reduce by £5,000, attracting a civil penalty of £17,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £22,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £27,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Licence Condition breach offences 
 
• The number and/or nature and/or extent of the licence condition regulation breach(es) 

and/or the deficiencies within each licence condition breach. 
 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
 
Failure to Comply with Regulation 3 of The Electrical Safety Standards in 
the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 
 
Regulation 3 of The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 
Regulations 2020 impose duties on private landlords in relation to electrical installations. 
Regulation 3 is detailed below: 
 
3.   Duties of private landlords in relation to electrical installations 
 

1. A private landlord who grants or intends to grant a specified tenancy must— 
a. ensure that the electrical safety standards are met during any period when the 

residential premises are occupied under a specified tenancy; 
b. ensure every electrical installation in the residential premises is inspected and 

tested at regular intervals by a qualified person; and 
c. ensure the first inspection and testing is carried out— 

i. before the tenancy commences in relation to a new specified tenancy; or 
ii. (ii)  by 1st April 2021 in relation to an existing specified tenancy. 

2. For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) "at regular intervals" means— 
a. at intervals of no more than 5 years; or 
b. where the most recent report under sub-paragraph (3)(a) requires such inspection 

and testing to be at intervals of less than 5 years, at the intervals specified in that 
report. 

3. Following the inspection and testing required under sub-paragraphs (1)(b) and (c) a 
private landlord must— 

70



 

45 
 

a. obtain a report from the person conducting that inspection and test, which gives 
the results of the inspection and test and the date of the next inspection and test; 

b. supply a copy of that report to each existing tenant of the residential premises 
within 28 days of the inspection and test; 

c. supply a copy of that report to the local housing authority within 7 days of 
receiving a request in writing for it from that authority; 

d. retain a copy of that report until the next inspection and test is due and supply a 
copy to the person carrying out the next inspection and test; and 

e. supply a copy of the most recent report to— 
i. any new tenant of the specified tenancy to which the report relates before 

that tenant occupies those premises; and 
ii. any prospective tenant within 28 days of receiving a request in writing for it 

from that prospective tenant. 
4. Where a report under sub-paragraph (3)(a) indicates that a private landlord is or is 

potentially in breach of the duty under sub-paragraph (1)(a) and the report requires the 
private landlord to undertake further investigative or remedial work, the private landlord 
must ensure that further investigative or remedial work is carried out by a qualified 
person within— 

(a) 28 days; or 
(b) the period specified in the report if less than 28 days, starting with the date of the 

inspection and testing. 
5. Where paragraph (4) applies, a private landlord must— 

(a) obtain written confirmation from a qualified person that the further investigative or 
remedial work has been carried out and that— 

i. the electrical safety standards are met; or 
ii. further investigative or remedial work is required; 

(b) supply that written confirmation, together with a copy of the report under sub-
paragraph (3)(a) which required the further investigative or remedial work to 
each existing tenant of the residential premises within 28 days of completion of 
the further investigative or remedial work; and 

(c) supply that written confirmation, together with a copy of the report under sub-
paragraph (3)(a) which required the further investigative or remedial work to the 
local housing authority within 28 days of completion of the further investigative or 
remedial work. 

6. Where further investigative work is carried out in accordance with paragraph (4) and 
the outcome of that further investigative work is that further investigative or remedial 
work is required, the private landlord must repeat the steps in paragraphs (4) and (5) in 
respect of that further investigative or remedial work. 

7. For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(e)(ii) a person is a prospective tenant in relation 
to 
residential premises if that person— 

(a) requests any information about the premises from the prospective landlord for 
the purpose of deciding whether to rent those premises; 

(b) makes a request to view the premises for the purpose of deciding whether to rent 
those premises; or 

(c) makes an offer, whether oral or written, to rent those premises. 
 
It is important that a private landlord complies with all aspects of Regulation 3 of The 
Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020, 
however, the Council recognises that a failure to comply with certain aspects of Regulation 3 
is likely to have a much bigger impact on the safety and comfort of residents than others. 
 

71



 

46 
 

Failure to comply with Regulation 3 of The Electrical Safety Standards in 
the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 sections (3)(b), 
3(d), 3(e) 
 
The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with (3)(b), 3(d) or 
3(e) of Regulation 3 of The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector 
(England) Regulations 2020 as a Mild matter, attracting a financial penalty with a starting 
level of £2,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing one or two dwellings, including 
no more than one HMO, with no other relevant factors or aggravating features [see below], 
will reduce by £2,000, attracting a civil penalty of £500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £2,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £2,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £4,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Electrical Safety Regulations breaches of duty 
 

• The number and/or nature and/or extent of the Electrical Safety Regulation breach(es) 
within each sub-regulation. 

• Using an unqualified person lacking appropriate certification to carry out inspection, 
testing, investigative or remedial work. 

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Failure to comply with Regulation 3 of The Electrical Safety Standards in the 
Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 sections (1)(a), (1)(b), (1)(c), 
(3)(a), (3)(c), (5)(b), (5)(c) 
 
The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with (1)(a), (1)(b), 
(1)(c), (3)(a), (3)(c), (5)(b) or (5)(c) of Regulation 3 of The Electrical Safety Standards in the 
Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 as a Serious matter, attracting a financial 
penalty with a starting level of £12,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing one or two dwellings, including 
no more than one HMO, with no other relevant factors or aggravating features [see below], 
will reduce by £5,000, attracting a civil penalty of £7,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £12,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 

72



 

47 
 

the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5,000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £17,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Electrical Safety Regulations breaches of duty 
 

• The number and/or nature and/or extent of the Electrical Safety Regulation breach(es) 
within each sub-regulation. 

• Using an unqualified person lacking appropriate certification to carry out inspection, 
testing, investigative or remedial work. 

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Failure to comply with Regulation 3 of The Electrical Safety Standards in the 
Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 sections (4), (5a), (6) 
 
The Council would view the seriousness of the offence of failing to comply with (4), (5a) or 
(6) of Regulation 3 of The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 
Regulations 2020 as a Very Serious matter, attracting a financial penalty with a starting level 
of £17,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing one or two dwellings, including 
no more than one HMO, with no other relevant factors or aggravating features [see below], 
will reduce by £5,000, attracting a civil penalty of £12,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a significant property portfolio, 
being three, four, or five dwellings, and/or two HMOs, with no other relevant factors or 
aggravating features [see below], will attract a civil penalty of £17,500. 
 
The civil penalty for a landlord controlling/owning/managing a large property portfolio, being 
six or more dwellings, and/or three or more HMOs and/or has demonstrated experience in 
the letting/management of property (irrespective of the size of the portfolio), with no other 
relevant factors or aggravating factors [see below], will increase by £5000, attracting a civil 
penalty of £22,500. 
 
Aggravating features/factors specific to Electrical Safety Regulations breaches of duty 
 

• The number and/or nature and/or extent of the Electrical Safety Regulation breach(es) 
within each sub-regulation. 

• Using an unqualified person lacking appropriate certification to carry out inspection, 
testing, investigative or remedial work. 

 
Generic aggravating features/factors   
 

• As set out under ‘Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice’ above. 
 
Process for imposing a civil penalty and the right to make representations.  
 
Before imposing a financial penalty on a person, the Council will give the person a Notice of 
Intent.  
 

73



 

48 
 

A person who is given a Notice of Intent may make written representations to the Council 
about the proposal to impose a financial penalty. Any representations must be made within a 
28-day period, this period starting the day after the date on which the Notice of Intent was 
given. As the burden lies with the recipient of any such notice to explain why, exceptionally, 
the Council should, or should not, depart from the Civil Penalties Matrix and guidance above, 
the Council will expect the recipient of a Notice of Intent to explain and provide fulsome and 
cogent evidence to support the existence of any such circumstances when they make 
representations in response to the notice. 
 
In the event of two or more persons receiving separate Notices of Intent for the same matter, 
it should be noted that acceptance/payment of a civil penalty by one person will not negate 
the Council’s intention to impose a civil penalty on the second or further persons.  Each 
person served with the Notice of Intent is considered individually liable to pay the civil 
penalty notified to them.  It is therefore important that any recipient of a Notice of Intent takes 
the opportunity to make representations should they consider for any reason a civil penalty 
should not be individually imposed upon them. 
 
After the end of the period for representations the Council will: 
 

a. Decide whether to impose a financial penalty on the person, and 
b. If it decides to impose a financial penalty, decide the amount of the penalty. 

 
In determining whether to impose a financial penalty, and the level of any penalty, the 
Council will consider any written representations received in the appropriate time period and 
will also consider the totality principle. 
 
Furthermore, an offender’s compliance with the identified breach during the representation 
period would not, in itself, be reason for the Council to determine that the imposition of a 
financial penalty was inappropriate. However, compliance at that stage may be relevant with 
respect to any mitigating factors that could decrease the amount of any imposed financial 
penalty. 
 
If, following the receipt of written representations and/or the expiry of the time period to make 
written representations, the Council decides to impose a financial penalty on the person, it 
will give the person a Final Notice imposing that penalty.  
 
The Final Notice will set out and summarise: 
 

a. The amount of the financial penalty,  
b. The reasons for imposing the penalty,  
c. Information about how to pay the penalty,  
d. The period for payment of the penalty,  
e. Information about rights of appeal, and  
f. The consequences of failure to comply with the notice  

 
Discounts  
 
The Council will automatically apply the following discounted rates to any imposed financial 
penalties in the following circumstances:  
 

• A discount of 15% of the original calculated financial penalty will be deducted from the 
penalty imposed in the Final Notice should the penalty be paid within a specified time 
period (normally 28 days).  

 

74



 

49 
 

Illustrative example  
 
The landlord of a Mandatory HMO property fails to obtain a licence. They only operate two 
HMO properties and there are no other relevant factors or aggravating features. The offence 
is regarded as a Very Serious matter. Upon receipt of the ‘Notice of Intent’ to impose a 
£17,500 financial penalty. Written representations are made to the Council. 
 
On account of the written representations received by the landlord, the council imposes a 
financial penalty of £16000. In the event the landlord pays within the specified period a 15% 
discount is given so that the landlord makes a discounted payment of £13,600. 

75



 

50 
 

 

 

Teignbridge District Council HMO Standards  
A guide to the minimum standards for amenities and space permitted in a house in multiple occupation. 

 
Introduction 
 
This guidance sets out Teignbridge District Council standards for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO).  These standards are based on 
legislative requirements, relevant guidance as well as the Councils expectations.  All HMOs are required to meet health and safety standards 
and have adequate space and amenities for the occupiers.  If you have any doubts about any of the standards within this guidance or you wish 
to vary one or more of the standards because of the property’s circumstances, please contact psh@teignbridge.gov.uk. 
 
It is the landlord or owner responsibility to ensure that any works carried out to meet these standards are carried out competently and meet all 
relevant standards. 
 
What is an HMO  
 
The full definition of a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) is contained in section 245 of the Housing Act 2004.  However, the information 
below describes the main types of HMO. 
 
HMOs with shared facilities 
 
An HMO is a property occupied by three or more persons who form two or more households, and they share an amenity such as a bathroom, 
toilet or cooking facilities or where the living accommodation lacks a basic amenity.  There must also be an obligation to pay rent (or other 
consideration) and it is their main or only residence.  Once occupancy reaches 5 or more persons then a licence is required.  
 
This includes shared houses (let on joint or separate agreements) and bedsits where occupants share kitchen(s) or bathroom(s). A 
‘house’ also includes a flat that is in multiple occupation. HMOs can also be houses or flats where there is a mix of self-contained 
units and units of accommodation that share amenities. 
 

Appendix 2 

76

mailto:psh@teignbridge.gov.uk


 

51 
 

Section 257 HMOs (HMOs that are converted blocks of flats)  
 
A S257 HMO is a building which has been converted, or part converted, into self-contained flats that did not comply with the appropriate 
building standards and still does not comply with those standards, and less than two-thirds of the self-contained flats are owner occupied. 
Buildings converted into fully self-contained flats will generally not be S257 HMOs, provided that they were converted in accordance, or now 
comply, with the appropriate building standards required at the time of the conversion.  The appropriate building standards, as a minimum, will 
be the 1991 Building Regulations 
 
The guidance relating to s257 HMOs in this document is based on 1 to 2 person flats. If you are intending to let a flat to 3 or more persons, 
please contact the Council for further guidance. 
 
Definition of a household  
 
A ‘household’ is defined as either a single person or members of the same family who are living together:  

• Couples married to each other or living together / co-habiting.  
• Relatives living together. A foster child living with foster parents is treated as living in the same household.  
• Any domestic staff are also included in the household if they are living rent-free in the accommodation provided by the person they are 

working for. 
 

Room size requirements 
 
Room size requirements are given in square metres (m2). For clarity, a room size of 12m2 is equivalent to a room measuring 4m by 3m and 
also a room measuring 6m by 2m.  
 

Room use Number of 
occupants 

Bedrooms with shared 
kitchen facilities  

Bedrooms with own kitchen 
facilities  

Section 257 HMOs 
(fully self-contained 

(flats) 
 
 

1 

 
 

8.5m2  

 
 

13m2 

13m2 
 

Min bedroom : 6.5 m2 

where bedroom separate 
from lounge 

 
 
Bedroom or Letting 

 
 

 
 

 
 

19m2 
 

77



 

52 
 

2 
 

13m2 19m2 Min bedroom: 10.5m2 

where bedroom is 
separate from lounge 

 
Up to 5 

 
7m2 

 
 

 

6 8.5m2   
7 10m2   

 
Kitchen 
 

 
8 -10 14m2 (or 2 rooms each 7m2)   

 
up to 5 

 
11m2 

 
 

 

6 12m2   
7 13m2   
8 14m2   
9 15m2   

 
Shared Living/Dining Room 
 

10 16m2   
 
A reduction in bedroom size will only be considered where a communal living room or kitchen with a dining area exists. This will depend on the 
size, layout and nature of the communal space and facilities available, standards of management and other health and safety considerations. 
 
Licensed HMOs are subject to mandatory minimum sleeping room sizes, which are included within the conditions of the licence.  A room 
smaller than the specified size must not be used as sleeping accommodation, and communal space in other parts of the HMO cannot be used 
to compensate for rooms smaller than the specified minimum. The mandatory room size conditions are the statutory minimum and are not 
intended to be the optimal room size. The Council will continue where necessary to have discretion to require higher standards within licence 
conditions but cannot set lower standards. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

78



 

53 
 

The mandatory minimum room sizes (useable floor area): 
   

10.22m2 Two people over 10 years old 

6.51m2 One person over 10 years old 

4.64m2 One person under 10 years old 

Less than 4.64m2 Must not be used as sleeping accommodation 

 

NOTES 
 

• All habitable rooms (bedrooms, living rooms and dining rooms), kitchens, bathrooms, and toilet compartments shall have a minimum floor 
to ceiling height of 2130mm. In the case of rooms with sloping ceilings, there shall be a minimum height of 2130mm over half of the floor 
area of the room. Floor area measurements shall be taken on a plane 1500mm above the floor. Any floor area where the ceiling height is 
less than 1500mm high shall be disregarded.  
 

• The minimum width for sleeping rooms is 1.8m for single occupancy and 2.3m for 2 or more persons. 
 

• These room sizes do not include space for bathroom/shower room or WC.  Where ensuite facilities are provided then this must be in 
addition to the space set out above.  
 

• Fitted wardrobes may be counted as useable space provided they extend from floor to ceiling and the remaining free space and utility are 
not compromised. 
  

• Rooms must be able to accommodate the required amount of appropriate furniture, allow its effective use and provide enough space for 
movement around the room. 
 

• In HMOs without a shared living room, additional shared dining space is recommended close to any shared kitchen that is more than 1 
floor distant from the letting room it serves.  

 

  

79



 

54 
 

Minimum requirements for kitchen facilities 
 

Occupants Kitchen 
area (m2) 

Work surface (m) 
(600mm standard 

depth) 
 

Power 
sockets 
above 

worktop 
 

 

Hob 
rings 

Ovens Grills Sinks/ 
drainers 

with hot and 
cold water 

Dry food 
storage 

cupboard 
 

Fresh and Frozen 
food storage 

Fire Blanket 

All Shared Kitchens  
Up to and 
including 5 

7 2 3 double 4 1 1 1 

6 8.5 2.5 4 double 4 2+ 2+ 

 
2# 

7 10 3 4 double 6 2+ 2+ 2# 
8 14  4 5 double 8 2 2 2 
9 14  4 5 double  8 2 2 2 

10 14  
[14m2 may 

be 
achieved 

by 2 
kitchens 
each of 

7m2] 

4 
At least 1m of the 

work surface 
should be a 
continuous 

unobstructed 
length in ALL 

kitchens 

5 double 8 2 2 2 

 
1 x 500mm 
base unit or 

1 x 1000 
wall unit per 

occupant 

 
1 good sized 

refrigerator shelf 
per occupant 

 
1 good sized 

freezer shelf per 
occupant 

 
 

Shelf should be at 
least 30x40cm with 

height of 20cm  

 
One suitably 
located fire 
blanket in 

accordance 
with  

the current BS 
EN or 

equivalent 
standard at the 

time of 
application or 

renewal 
 

Kitchens in individual lettings  
1 1 1 or 2 4 1 2 double  2 

or a safely 
located 

combination 
microwave/oven/

grill 

1 1 x 500mm 
base unit or 

1 x 1000 
wall unit per 

occupant 

1 good sized 
refrigerator shelf 

per occupant 
1 good sized 

freezer shelf per 
occupant 

One suitably 
located fire 
blanket in 

accordance 
with BS  

 

80



 

55 
 

 

NOTES 
 

• To provide some flexibility where 6 or 7 occupants share a kitchen: 
▪ (+)  a safely located combination microwave/oven/grill is acceptable in place of an additional oven and grill.  
▪ (#)  a dishwasher is acceptable in place of an additional sink/drainer.  

 
• To clarify, where the requirement is for a space minimum of 14m2 this can be achieved by providing 2 rooms each of 7m2 

 
• Kitchen facilities must not be located within a fire escape route and must be separated from an escape route by a proper fire door. 

 
• The kitchen layout must be such to prevent risk of collision, allow safe transfer of hot items and ease of use of equipment/appliances. 

Where there are 6 or more occupants, multiple workstations must be considered to avoid congestion and allow safe working 
arrangements. 
 

• Shared kitchens must be available for use 24 hours a day. 
 

• Kitchens should not be located more than one floor distance away from bedrooms unless it is a kitchen/diner, or a communal room is 
available on the same floor as the kitchen. 
 

• See general guidance relating to all HMOs for mechanical extract ventilation, waste disposal, hygiene and storage.  

81



 

56 
 

Minimum requirements for bathrooms/shower rooms and toilet facilities 
 

 
Occupants 

sharing 

 
Bathrooms  

Comprising 1 
Bath/Shower Unit 
and may contain a 
toilet  

 
Toilet and wash 

hand basin 

 
Separate or combined 

 
Ventilation (suitable and 

adequate) 

 
Adequate size and 

layout: 
Minimum floor area for 
safe use of bathroom 

 
 

Less than 5 
 

 
1 

 
1 

 
Can be in the same room 
as the bath or in a 
separate room 
 

 
5 

 
1 

 
1 

 
Where 1 bathroom is 
provided, a toilet and wash 
hand basin must be 
provided separate from 
the bathroom 
 

 
6-8  

 
2 

 
2 

 
Where 2 bathrooms are 
provided, 2 toilets must be 
provided but one or both 
can be within the 
bathrooms 
 

 
9 -10  

 
2 

 
2 

 
One of the toilets must be 
in a separate room from 
both bathrooms and have 
a wash-hand basin 
 

 
Mechanical ventilation is 
required in all bathrooms 
and toilet compartments 
which lack natural 
ventilation via an openable 
window. It will also be 
required in addition to any 
natural ventilation, where 
necessary, to mitigate 
problems of damp and 
mould.  
It is strongly 
recommended that 
where possible, in 
addition to any natural 
ventilation, mechanical 
ventilation is provided in 
all bathrooms and WC 
compartments.  

 

 
Bath only    2.3m2 
 
Bath & WHB    2.5m2 
  
Bath,WC & WHB 2.8m2 
  
Shower only     1.7m2 
  
Shower & WHB   2.0m2  
 
Shower,WC & WHB 
2.2m2 
  
WC & WHB     1.2 m2 

 

82



 

57 
 

 

NOTES 
 

• All bathrooms and toilets must be suitably located in relation to the living accommodation.  
 

•  Where facilities are shared they must be accessible from a common area; a bathroom must be no more than one floor distant in relation 
to the bedroom and the toilet must be within one floor distance of bedrooms and any living room. 
 

• Bathrooms and shower rooms require efficient and safe fixed space-heating that can maintain a minimum temperature of 22˚C. The 
heating must be under the control of the occupiers for timings and temperature. 
 

• All wash basins, baths and showers must be provided with hot and cold running water and connected to a proper drainage system. 
 

• A properly tiled splash-back or alternative impervious, easily cleansable surface must be provided to all baths and hand wash basins. 
 

• Shower cubicles shall have fully tiled walls (or alternative impervious, easily cleansable surface) and be provided with a suitable water-
resistant curtain or door to the cubicle.  All joints should be adequately sealed. 
 

• The flooring should be capable of being easily cleaned and slip resistant. 
 

• Obscured glazing should be fitted as necessary to ensure privacy. 
 
 

 
   
  

83



 

58 
 

Guidance relating to all HMOs 
 
 
Insulation 
and Heating  

Each unit of living accommodation in an HMO must be equipped with adequate means of fixed space heating.  
 

• Heating shall be provided in every habitable room, the common parts and bathroom and capable of maintaining the 
following internal temperatures when the external temperature is –1˚C: 

           Living room, dining room and rooms used for sleeping 21˚C 
           Bathroom 22˚C  
           Elsewhere 18˚C 
 

• The heating provision must be capable of being safely used at any time and be suitably guarded. It must be suitable, 
affordable to operate, appropriate to the design, layout and construction of the dwelling and be controllable by the 
occupants. 

• In the case of gas central heating, radiators must be fitted with thermostatic valves and a programmable timer clock 
fitted.  

• An electrical heating system will be acceptable in the form of a combined storage heater/panel heater that can be 
run on both “off peak and standard day rate” electricity tariffs, together with a fixed electric fan heater, located in the 
bathroom, powered from a fused spur. It must be capable of providing instantaneous energy efficient heating and 
controllability, on the optimum electricity tariff available.  

• All appliances shall be maintained by a competent person. Gas appliances shall be inspected annually by a Gas 
Safe Registered Engineer and certificated in accordance with the current Gas Safety Regulations and all applicable 
British Standards.  

• Work to electrical appliances must be undertaken by an electrician able to certify the work under the one of the 
following schemes: BRE Certification Limited British Standards Institution (BSI) ELECSA Limited, NAPIT 
Registration Limited, NICEIC Group Ltd. 

• The use of portable paraffin or oil-fired heaters and liquefied petroleum gas heaters (LPG) (bottled gas heaters) are 
prohibited under any circumstances, whether provided by the landlord or the tenant. 

 
All reasonable steps should be taken to insulate HMO accommodation to improve energy efficiency and reduce 
condensation risk.  Particular attention should be paid to basement and attic rooms and conversions must comply with 
Building Regulations. 
 
 
 

84



 

59 
 

HMOs must be designed with adequate electrical power output for their expected loading.  Conversion of buildings to 
large HMOs will require an increased electrical supply, over and above a standard domestic supply. 
 
Electrical sockets must be adequate in number and suitably located to minimise the need for use of adaptors and trailing 
leads which introduce additional hazards.  The following is expected as a minimum: 
 
 
 

 
Bedrooms with shared kitchen 

facilities 

 
Bedrooms with own kitchen facilities 

 

 
Section 257 HMOs (fully self-

contained (flats) 
 

 
3 double sockets 

 

 
3 double sockets + 2 double sockets 

above kitchen worktop area 

 
3 double sockets + 2 double sockets 

above kitchen worktop area 
  

 
Power 
Supply and 
Electrical 
Sockets 

 
Adequate electrical sockets must be provided to serve all electrical appliances provided by the landlord.  In shared 
kitchens a minimum of 3 double sockets must be suitably located above work surfaces. 
 
In shared living rooms, a minimum of 3 double sockets must be provided. 
 

 
Lighting and 
Ventilation 

All habitable rooms must be provided with adequate natural lighting with a glazed area of window equivalent to 1/10 of the 
floor area of the room.  Bedsit rooms that do not have access to shared communal living space are expected to have an 
external view, not just a skylight view. 
 
Artificial lighting must be sufficient to adequately illuminate the room for its intended uses. 
 
Lighting on stairs should be capable of being switched on and off from both upstairs and downstairs. 
 
All habitable rooms must be provided with adequate ventilation, normally by means of an openable area of window 
equivalent to 1/20 of the floor area of the room.  Ventilation of a sleeping room through reliance solely on opening an 
external door is not permitted.  
 

85



 

60 
 

Where possible, all habitable rooms must have controllable trickle vents and/or windows that can be securely locked in the 
night-latch position to provide background ventilation without losing too much heat. 
 
Mechanical ventilation in kitchens, bathrooms and toilet compartments must operate on suitable systems to remove moist 
air and minimise noise disturbance. Mechanical ventilation must comply with the Building Regulations that are current at the 
time of application. Any installation shall be fitted with an overrun device usually connected to the lighting circuit of the room 
unless the fan is humidity controlled, where this may not be possible. 
To avoid damp and mould occurring it is recommended to have mechanical extractors with a continuous low background 
mode and a boost mode controlled by a humidistat set to operate the fan at times of peak relative humidity. 
 
Window restrictors   
Windows at first floor levels and above that have their openings less than 1100mm from floor level must be restricted to 
100mm opening to prevent falls.  
Where sash windows require restrictors – in order to provide adequate ventilation once the bottom sashes are restricted, the 
top sashes should be in proper working order and openable without the occupant needing steps to reach up to them.  
 
Positive pressure whole house ventilation systems are becoming increasing popular with HMO landlords as a way of 
managing indoor air quality and reducing the risk of condensation and mould growth. All such systems must be installed and 
serviced in accordance with manufacturers recommendations and have room by room control. 
 
HMOs located where air pollution levels are likely to be particularly high should be designed with air intakes that minimise 
pollution ingress into the building, having regard to the design principles contained in Appendix D of Building Regulation 
Approved Document F. 
 

 
Fire Safety 

National guidance has been published by Local Authorities Coordinators of Regulatory Services (LACORS) to address fire 
safety requirements in certain types of housing including HMOs. It includes examples of how to develop risk appropriate 
designs having regard to the size and the occupancy type of HMO proposed. 
LACORS Fire Safety Guidance 
 
Whilst this guidance has been adopted in principle, it should be referred to in conjunction with the current British Standards 
for fire detection and alarm systems in domestic buildings as well as advice from the Council which may vary according to 
observations, tenancy type and individual property layout.  
 
A fire safety risk assessment of the HMO must be carried by the responsible person (normally the HMO owner) to identify 
fire safety risks and controls throughout the building.   

86

http://projects.bre.co.uk/positivevent/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61deba42d3bf7f054fcc243d/ADF1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/61deba42d3bf7f054fcc243d/ADF1.pdf
https://www.cieh.org/media/1244/guidance-on-fire-safety-provisions-for-certain-types-of-existing-housing.pdf


 

61 
 

Where a landlord carries out a fire risk assessment (the template below may prove helpful), the Council is not giving 
approval that it meets the requirements of the Fire Safety Order which is enforced by Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue 
Service. 
Fire Risk Assessment Template 
 
An evacuation plan in the event of fire is required and must be provided to all occupiers.  This is commonly posted on a 
communal noticeboard.  
 
Information provided to tenants should state that fire precaution measures must not be tampered with and it is strongly 
recommended that tenants sign to say that they have read the relevant information. 
 
Emergency Lighting will be required in larger HMOs or where the escape route is long, complicated, and has little effective 
borrowed light or where occupants are considered vulnerable.  Where fitted, it must be maintained and tested annually in 
accordance with the current British Standard. 
 
General Fire Safety guidance for those with legal duties can be found here 
 

 
Security 

HMO design must adequately control security risks without compromising fire safety.  External doors must be openable 
from inside without the use of a key and securely lockable from the outside with either: 

• A key 
• A security code 
• A door entry system  

In all circumstances other than HMOs which are occupied by a stable, cohesive group of sharers (i.e. a genuine shared 
house with a joint tenancy in place), individual letting rooms must be securely designed.   This means doors to individual 
lettings must be fitted with a combined lock and latch, where the lock is operated from the inside of the bedroom by a 
thumb-turn or lever, rather than a key.  For example a euro cylinder type lockset: 
 

87

https://www.dashservices.org.uk/Media/Default/Docs/FireRisk%20AssessmentForm.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/fire-safety-legislation-guidance-for-those-with-legal-duties


 

62 
 

  
This provides adequate security, ease of escape and avoids occupants locking themselves out of their rooms. 
 
Key operated window locks are required to all accessible windows (ground floor, basement and adjacent to external 
structures such as fire escapes and flat rooves).  Where the window is an escape window that is an integral part of the 
means of escape from fire then a suitable alternative security feature will be required so as not to rely on a key. 
 

 
Food storage 

In addition to the sink base unit and hygienic storage for cooking utensils, cutlery and crockery, a food storage cupboard 
minimum (500mm wide base unit or 1000mm wide wall unit) must be provided per occupant.  
Lockable food storage cupboards are recommended in HMOs let under separate tenancies.   
 
Adequate space for the storage of fresh and frozen food must be provided for each occupant.  This means space equivalent 
to one good sized shelf/compartment in a shared refrigerator and a good sized shelf/compartment in a shared freezer. 

 
Waste 
Disposal 

Adequate and hygienic waste disposal arrangements must be in place within the HMO.  In practice this means the provision 
of suitable bins/receptacles and on-site waste management arrangements having regard to: 
 

• The number of occupants 
• The type and size of HMO accommodation 
• The waste collection and recycling arrangements available either through the local council domestic collection 

service or a commercial waste contract 
 

All HMOs requiring a licence must comply with the local authority storage and waste disposal scheme: 
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/recycling-and-waste/ 
 

Latch bolt

Dead bolt

Note. The ‘thumb-turn’ 
operated lock should be sited 
on the room side of the door to 
facilitate escape without the 
use of a key.

88

https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/recycling-and-waste/


 

63 
 

The adequacy of waste disposal arrangements will also be subject to compliance checks under licence conditions and/or 
management regulations. 
 

 

  

89



 

64 
 

Legislation and Management Considerations 
 

 
Housing Health 
and Safety 
Rating System 
(HHSRS) 

The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) introduced by the Housing Act 2004 is a method of assessing 
hazards in all homes, regardless of tenure. It is a risk-based evaluation tool used by local authorities to help identify and 
protect against potential risks and hazards to health and safety from deficiencies in dwellings.  
 
The HHSRS applies to all HMOs in addition to the regulations for licensing, standards and management. If hazards are 
identified, the Council can take enforcement action to reduce or remove hazards to an acceptable level.  A breach of 
enforcement action is an offence for which you can be prosecuted or a civil penalty of up to £30,000 per offence can be 
imposed. 
 
HHSRS guidance for landlords can be found here 
 

 
HMO 
Management 
Regulations 

The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 2006 apply to all houses and flats which are 
occupied by three or more unrelated people where one or more basic amenities (WCs, bathrooms, kitchens) are 
shared.  HMO owners and managers must ensure that their accommodation is adequately managed in accordance with 
these requirements which reflect the additional risks and responsibilities associated with managing this type of 
accommodation. 
  These Regulations in brief, require the manager to:- 
 

• Clearly display the manager’s contact information within the property 
• Ensure safety measures are in place, including fire safety 
• Maintain common parts, fixtures, fittings and appliances 
• Maintain living accommodation 
• Supply and maintain gas and electricity 
• Maintain water supply and drainage 
• Provide waste disposal facilities. 

 
The Council expects maintenance and safety checks to be regularly undertaken and to be logged accordingly. 
It is a criminal offence to breach HMO management regulations. 
 
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
(England) Regulations 2006 are prescribed standards for licensable HMOs and which this document expands upon. 
 

90

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-guidance-for-landlords-and-property-related-professionals
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/372/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/373/schedule/3/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/373/schedule/3/made


 

65 
 

The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions)(England) Regulations 2007 
apply to section 257 HMOs. 
 

 
HMO Licensing 

Certain HMOs must be licensed and it is the responsibility of HMO owners and managers to check whether a licence is 
required.  
  
A mandatory licence scheme currently operates in Teignbridge – and is required where 5 or more persons forming 2 or 
more households are in occupation.  There are other schemes, namely Additional and Selective Licensing which are 
available to the Council not currently in operation, but kept under review.  
 
S257 HMOs are not subject to landlord licensing, however, the self-contained flats situated within the S257 HMO may 
be subject to Additional HMO, Mandatory HMO, or Selective licensing. 
 
Failure to licence a licensable HMO is an offence which may result in: 
 

• Prosecution or a civil penalty of up to £30,000 per offence 
• Rent Repayment Orders for rent paid when the HMO was required to be licensed 
• Entry onto a national rogue landlord list 

 
You can apply for a licence here 
 
 

 
Electrical Safety 
Regulations 
 
 

The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 require landlords to have 
electrical installations in their properties inspected and tested by a person who is qualified and competent, at least every 
5 years.  
 
Landlords should provide a copy of the electrical safety report to their tenants at the start of the tenancy and to the 
Council when requested.  If you are found to be in breach of the electrical safety regulations the local authority can 
impose a financial penalty. 
 
Guidance for landlords in respect of  the Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 
2020 can be found here 
 

 It must be ensured that: 

91

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1903/pdfs/uksi_20071903_en.pdf
https://myaccount.teignbridge.gov.uk/en/AchieveForms/?form_uri=sandbox-publish://AF-Process-3a49abdf-d6e7-4fc2-8560-f65ac0eb5641/AF-Stage-65241499-29d5-4a83-a762-5ccf9ef70a7e/definition.json&redirectlink=%2Fen&cancelRedirectLink=%2Fen&consentMessage=yes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/electrical-safety-standards-in-the-private-rented-sector-guidance-for-landlords-tenants-and-local-authorities/guide-for-landlords-electrical-safety-standards-in-the-private-rented-sector


 

66 
 

The Carbon 
Monoxide Alarm 
(Amendment) 
Regulations 2022  
 

• at least one smoke alarm is equipped on each storey of their homes where there is a room used as living 
accommodation.  

• A carbon monoxide alarm is equipped in any room used as living accommodation which contains a fixed 
combustion appliance (excluding gas cookers). 

• Smoke alarms and carbon monoxide alarms are repaired or replaced once informed and found that they are 
faulty. 

•  
The requirements are enforceable by the Council who can impose a fine of up to £5,000 where a landlord fails to 
comply with a Remedial Notice 
 
Please note that these regulations specify the minimum for a domestic property.  Please refer to LaCoRS fire safety 
document and the current British Standard for the appropriate fire alarm system required for a specific HMO. 
Guidance for landlords can be found here 
 

 
Minimum Energy 
Efficiency 
Standards 
(MEES) 

All rented properties are required to meet an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) Rating of an E.  
Although normally room lets/bedsits do not need an EPC, where the house containing the room lets or bedsits has been 
sold since April 2006, then the whole property would have required an EPC at the point of sale.  
As an EPC was legally required at the point of sale, then the requirement to reach an EPC E rating would apply, unless 
a valid exemption is registered.  See here for further guidance. 
 

 
Council Tax 

Landlords should be the registered liable person for Council Tax. 
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/council-tax/ 
 
HMOs occupied entirely by full time students will be exempt from Council Tax, subject to submission of the 
documentation required by the council tax department.  
Council Tax fraud is an offence which deprives funding for local services.   
 

 
Planning 
Permission and 
Listed Buildings 

Planning permission is required when 7 or more occupants will share facilities. 
Smaller HMOs do not currently require planning consent, but this is kept under review. 
 
If you are intending to do any works to a listed building of any grade, inside or outside, including curtilage buildings and 
curtilage walls, you should check with the Planning Department to find out if you need to apply for Listed Building 
Consent. Progression with unauthorised changes may result in a fine or prosecution. 
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/  

 

92

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/smoke-and-carbon-monoxide-alarms-explanatory-booklet-for-landlords/the-smoke-and-carbon-monoxide-alarm-england-regulations-2015-qa-booklet-for-the-private-rented-sector-landlords-and-tenants
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/non-domestic-private-rented-property-minimum-energy-efficiency-standard-landlord-guidance
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/council-tax/
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/


 

67 
 

Listed buildings - Advice on doing works to a listed building - Teignbridge District Council 
 

 
Utilities 

It is strongly recommended that landlords include utility charges as part of the rent and hold the utility accounts in their 
name.  This will reduce the likelihood of unreasonable interruption to supply. 
 

 
Parking and/or 
cycle storage 

Where required, planning permission is likely to be dependent on the provision of either adequate vehicle parking 
and/or secure cycle storage for the number of occupants. 
 
Regardless of planning requirements, we recommend that you plan these facilities wherever possible to help occupants 
to address their transport needs, to reduce the potential for conflict with neighbours and to help avoid management 
problems such as cycles blocking fire escape routes. 
 

 93

https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/heritage-assets/listed-buildings/advice-on-doing-works-to-a-listed-building/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  V1 March 2021 
 

 

Equality Impact Assessment     
Assessment Of:  Housing Enforcement Policy and Civil 

Penalties and Other Penalty Charges 
Policy 

☒ Policy  ☐ Strategy  ☐ Function  ☐ Service 
☐ Other:  

☐ New  
☒ Already exists / review ☐ Changing  

Directorate: Place Assessment carried out by: Alison Dolley 
Service Area: Neighbourhoods Job Role: Private Sector Housing Manager 
Version / Date of Sign Off by Director:   

Step 1: What do we want to do?  
This assessment should be started at the beginning of the process by someone with a good knowledge of 
the proposal and service area, and sufficient influence over the proposal. It is good practice to take a team 
approach to completing the equality impact assessment. Please contact the Policy Officer early for advice.  

1.1 What are the aims and objectives/purpose of this proposal? 
Briefly explain the purpose of the proposal and why it is needed. Describe who it is aimed at and the 
intended aims / outcomes. Where known also summarise the key actions you plan to undertake. Please use 
plain English, avoiding jargon and acronyms. Equality Impact Assessments are viewed by a wide range of 
people including decision-makers and the wider public. 

 
The Housing Enforcement Policy and the Civil Penalties and Other Penalty Charges policy 
provides guidance which enforcement officers shall have regard to when making enforcement 
decisions in relating to regulating conditions in all houses. It ensures consistency in approach 
and enables a robust mechanism within which to defend any challenges that are open to the 
council from landlords, agents etc, through the means of the court or a tribunal.  
 
It states the circumstances when the Council must take action as well as when they will use their 
discretionary powers to take action. 
 
It states the minimum standards required in all houses in multiple occupation including 
licensable HMOs 
 
 
 

1.2 Who will the proposal have the potential to affect? 
☒ Service users  ☐ The wider community ☐ Teignbridge workforce 

1.3 Will the proposal have an equality impact?   
Could the proposal affect access levels of representation or participation in a service, or does it have the 
potential to change e.g. quality of life: health, education, or standard of living etc.?  

If ‘No’ explain why you are sure there will be no equality impact, then skip steps 2-4 and request review by 
your manager. 

95

http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/cms-service/stream/asset/?asset_id=19824019


 

  V1 March 2021 
 

If ‘Yes’ complete the rest of this assessment. 

☒ Yes    ☐ No        [please select] 
 

Step 2: What information do we have?  

2.1 What data or evidence is there which tells us who is, or could be affected? 
Please use this section to demonstrate an understanding of who could be affected by the proposal. Include 
general population data where appropriate, and information about people who will be affected with 
particular reference to protected and other relevant characteristics (listed in 2.2). 

Use one row for each evidence source and say which characteristic(s) it relates to. You can include a mix 
of qualitative and quantitative data - from national research, local data or previous consultations and 
engagement activities. 

Outline whether there are any over or under representation of equality groups within your service - don't 
forget to benchmark to local population where appropriate.  

For workforce / management of change proposals you will need to look at the diversity of the affected 
team(s) using available evidence such as the employee profile data.   Identify any under/over-
representation for age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and 
maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation. Please see: Equality Act 2010 
(legislation.gov.uk).  

2.2  Do you currently monitor relevant activity by the following protected 
characteristics? 

☐ Age ☐ Disability ☐ Gender Reassignment 
☐ Marriage and Civil Partnership ☐ Pregnancy/Maternity ☐ Race 
☐ Religion or Belief ☐ Sex ☐ Sexual Orientation 

Data / Evidence Source 
[Include a reference where known] 

Summary of what this tells us 

BRE House condition report 2023 • 21% (of our housing stock is privately 
rented 

• 18% (2,406) of the private rented stock 
have a category 1 hazard. 

• 16% of tenants living in the private 
rented sector are in fuel poverty; 31% 
are on low income. 

• 11.4% of private rented stock have an 
EPC banding below Band E 

Record of Service Requests 
 

120 service requests received relating to poor 
housing conditions. 

HMO register 32 Licenced HMOs. Approximately 230 non 
licensable HMOs. 

Additional comments:  
 

 

96

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents


 

  V1 March 2021 
 

2.3  Are there any gaps in the evidence base?  
Where there are gaps in the evidence, or you don’t have enough information about some equality groups, 
include an equality action to find out in section 4.2 below. This doesn’t mean that you can’t complete the 
assessment without the information, but you need to follow up the action and if necessary, review the 
assessment later. If you are unable to fill in the gaps please state this clearly with a justification. 

For workforce related proposals all relevant information on characteristics may need to be sought from HR 
(e.g. pregnancy/maternity). For smaller teams diversity data may be redacted. A high proportion of not 
known/not disclosed may require action to address and identify the information needed. 

2.4 How have you involved communities and groups that could be affected?  
You will nearly always need to involve and consult with internal and external stakeholders during your 
assessment. The extent of the engagement will depend on the nature of the proposal or change. This 
should usually include individuals and groups representing different relevant protected characteristics. 
Please include details of any completed engagement and consultation and how representative this has 
been of Teignbridge’s diverse communities. 

Include the main findings of any engagement and consultation in Section 2.1 above. 

If you are managing a workforce change process or restructure please refer to HR for advice on how to 
consult and engage with employees.  Relevant stakeholders for engagement about workforce changes 
may include e.g. staff-led groups, trades unions as well as affected staff.  

We work closely with landlords and agents through landlord association and through the annual 
landlords open evening. In partnership with Torbay Council, training has been arranged for 
landlords on the Renters Rights Bill. 
Have consulted with South West Landlords Association, National Landlords Association, 
Westcountry Landlords Association (no responses received) 
 

2.5 How will engagement with stakeholders continue? 
Explain how you will continue to engage with stakeholders throughout the course of planning and delivery. 
Please describe where more engagement and consultation is required and set out how you intend to 
undertake it. Include any targeted work to seek the views of under-represented groups. If you do not intend 
to undertake it, please set out your justification. You can ask the Consultation Officer for help in targeting 
particular groups. 

We will continue to work with landlords through the above 
 

Step 3: Who might the proposal impact? 
Analysis of impacts must be rigorous. Please demonstrate your analysis of any impacts of the proposal in this 
section, referring to evidence you have gathered above and the characteristics protected by the Equality 
Act 2010. Also include details of existing issues for particular groups that you are aware of and are seeking 
to address or mitigate through this proposal.  

3.1  Does the proposal have any potentially adverse impacts on people on the 
basis of their protected or other relevant characteristics? 

Consider sub-categories (different kinds of disability, ethnic background etc.) and how people with 
combined characteristics (e.g. young women) might have particular needs or experience particular kinds 
of disadvantage. 

Where mitigations indicate a follow-on action, include this in the ‘Action Plan’ Section 4.2 below.  

97



 

  V1 March 2021 
 

GENERAL COMMENTS   (highlight any potential issues that might impact all or many groups) 
 
 
 
PROTECTED CHARACTERISTICS 
Age: Young People Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 
Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Age: Older People Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 
Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Disability Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 
Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Sex Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 
Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Sexual orientation Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 
Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Pregnancy / 
Maternity 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 

Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Gender 
reassignment 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 

Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Race Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 
Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Religion or 
Belief 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 

Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Marriage & 
civil partnership 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☐ Neutral ☒ 

Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  

 

OTHER RELEVANT CHARACTERISTICS 

Socio-Economic 
(deprivation) 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☒ No ☒ Neutral ☐ 

Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  
Other group(s) 
Please add additional 
rows below to detail 
the impact for other 
relevant groups as 

 

98



 

  V1 March 2021 
 

appropriate e.g. 
Asylums and 
Refugees; 
Rural/Urban 
Communities, 
Homelessness, Digital 
Exclusion, Access To 
Transport 
Potential impacts:  
Mitigations:  

3.2  Does the proposal create any benefits for people on the basis of their 
protected or other relevant characteristics? 

Outline any potential benefits of the proposal and how they can be maximised. Identify how the proposal 
will support our Public Sector Equality Duty to: 

✓ Eliminate unlawful discrimination for a protected group 

✓ Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who don’t 

✓ Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t 

 
Our BRE House condition report 2023 indicates that 31% of our private rented housing stock is 
occupied by low-income households and 67% in the social rented sector. This policy will help 
protect those householders most in need improve their housing condition.  

Step 4: Impact 

4.1  How has the equality impact assessment informed or changed the proposal?  
What are the main conclusions of this assessment? Use this section to provide an overview of your findings. 
This content should be used as a summary in reports, where this full assessment is included as an appendix. 

If you have identified any significant negative impacts which cannot be mitigated, provide a justification 
showing how the proposal is proportionate, necessary and appropriate despite this. 

Summary of significant negative impacts and how they can be mitigated or justified: 
 
Summary of positive impacts / opportunities to promote the Public Sector Equality Duty: 
 

4.2  Action Plan  
Use this section to set out any actions you have identified to improve data, mitigate issues, or maximise 
opportunities etc. If an action is to meet the needs of a particular protected group please specify this. 

Improvement / action required Responsible Officer Timescale  
   
   
   

99

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty


 

  V1 March 2021 
 

4.3  How will the impact of your proposal and actions be measured?  
How will you know if have been successful? Once the activity has been implemented this equality impact 
assessment should be periodically reviewed to make sure your changes have been effective and your 
approach is still appropriate.  Include the timescale for review in your action plan above. 

Performance is reported quarterly via SPAR on number Category 1 and high scoring category 2 
hazards remedied across private sector housing the number of homes improved through 
intervention by the Council. (Council Strategy – Roof Over Our Heads)  

4.4  Is there an opportunity to promote positive attitudes and good relations 
between different groups and communities?  

Step 5: Review & Sign-Off 
EIAs should only be marked as reviewed when they provide sufficient information for decision-makers on the 
equalities impact of the proposal. Please seek review and feedback from management before requesting it 
to be signed off.  All working drafts of EIAs and final signed-off EIAs should be saved in G:\GLOBAL\EIA   
Once signed-off please add the details to the ‘EIA Register’ of all council EIAs saved in the same directory.  

Reviewed by Service Manager:  
Yes ☐  
No  ☐  Instead was reviewed by: 
 
 

Strategic Leadership Team Sign-Off: 
 
 

Date:  Date:  
 

 

 

 

 

Version 3 – August 2024 

100



 

Executive Committee  
4th March 2025 

Teignbridge District Council 
Committee name: Executive Committee 
Meeting date: 4th March 2025 
Part i  

Report Title 
Ogwell Strategic Cycling and Walking Link, funding for phase 2 design work 

Purpose of Report 
To provide an update on Ogwell Strategic Link project, setting out next steps to 
progress Phase 2 design work, following successful completion of Phase 1. 
Also, to seek approval for the expenditure detailed below. 
 
 

Recommendation(s) 
That the Executive: 

(1) Approve the expenditure of £65,000 of funding for detailed designs of 

Phase 2 of the Ogwell Strategic Cycling and Walking Link comprising 

of£48,500 government grant funding and £16,500 s106 funding and  

(2) Delegate authority to the Director of Place to finalise a funding agreement 
with Devon County Council to secure delivery of the design work.  

 
 

Financial Implications 
 
The financial implications are detailed in Section 3.1.  
 
Martin Flitcroft  
Director of Finance 
Email: martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk 
 

Legal Implications 
 

See section 3.2. 
 

Paul Woodhead 
Head of Legal & Democratic Services and Monitoring Officer  
Email: paul.woodhead@teignbridge.gov.uk 
 
 

Risk Assessment 
 

See the 6th June 2023 report to Executive Committee for this information.  
 

Estelle Skinner 
Green Infrastructure Officer 
Email: estelle.skinner@teignbridge.gov.uk 
 
 

101

Agenda Item 9

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/
mailto:martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk
mailto:paul.woodhead@teignbridge.gov.uk
mailto:estelle.skinner@teignbridge.gov.uk


 

Committee: Executive Committee  
Date of meeting: 4th March 2025 

Environmental/ Climate Change Implications 
 
See section 3.4 below. 
 
William Elliot  
Climate Change Officer  
Email: William.elliot@teignbridge.gov.uk  
  
 

Report Author 
Estelle Skinner, Green Infrastructure Officer (Spatial Planning) 
Email: estelle.skinner@teignbridge.gov.uk  
 

Executive Member 
Cllr Gary Taylor, Executive Member for Planning  
 

Appendices/Background Papers 
Appendix 1 – illustrative alignment plan, Ogwell Strategic Link (Phase 2 comprises 
2a, 2b, 2c and 2d, all of which will be fully designed via the identified funding) 
Appendix 2 – Ogwell Strategic Link Phase 1 report for Executive Committee on 6th 
June 2023.   
 

1. Introduction/Background 

1.1  The objective of the Ogwell Strategic Cycling and Walking Link is delivery of a 
shared off-road bicycle and walking route between Newton Abbot and Ogwell, 
to enable significantly more appeal and safety for cycling. This off-road and 
quiet lane provision will be an alternative to on-road travel along the busy and 
constrained Totnes Road A381. Supporting high-quality active journeys aligns 
with core Council Strategy objectives:  

• a carbon neutral district 

• active and sustainable travel choices 

• encouraging our young people to stay 

• a healthier population living in resilient communities 

• a clean, green, and safe environment 

 
1.2  Devon County Council (DCC) and Teignbridge District Council (TDC) work 

closely together on delivery of strategic active and sustainable travel projects 
within Teignbridge. This partnership has seen the successful delivery of a 
series of active travel schemes in the district, including National Cycle 
Network Improvements in Newton Abbot, Queen Street enhancements in 
Newton Abbot and good progress made on the Teign Estuary Trail project 
(including planning permission being secured, a high value for money 
business case being evidenced, and funding being secured to support the 
work underway on design plans and land acquisitions).  

 

1.3  In June 2023, TDC’s Executive Committee approved the implementation of 
Phase 1 of the Ogwell Strategic Link (design and construction) using 

102

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/
mailto:William.elliot@teignbridge.gov.uk
mailto:estelle.skinner@teignbridge.gov.uk


 

Committee: Executive Committee  
Date of meeting: 4th March 2025 

£190,000 government grant funding (Garden Community). DCC led on 
delivery, working in close partnership with TDC.  

 
1.4      Phase 1 was successfully completed in 2024 and there is an underspend of 

£18,500. There is also an additional £30,000 earmarked for this project, which 
was awarded by Homes England in 2024-25, and £16,500 of s106 funding 
(application 12/00301/MAJ) to support delivery of the Council’s Air Quality 
Action Plan (AQAP). This funding collectively provides the total £65,000 
required for the detailed design work for Phase 2 of the Ogwell Strategic 
Cycling and Walking Link (see Appendix 1 – Phase 2 covers 2a, 2b, 2c and 
2d). 

 
1.5     The AQAP interventions include active travel route delivery such as this 

project, which has potential to support enhanced active travel, in particular for 
local trips, relating to the Newton Abbot Air Quality Management Area 
(hotspots are Wolborough Street and Exeter Road). Action 4 Promoting Active 
Travel, Measures 9 and 10 (page 42) specifically references delivery of the 
Heart of Teignbridge Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP). 
The Evaluation Matrix (at section 5.4.2 on page 51) ranks Measures 9 and 10 
as fifth and sixth respectively from a total of 25 actions (based on deliverability 
and effectiveness) Air quality - Air Quality Action Plan - Teignbridge District Council  

The Heart of Teignbridge LCWIP document includes Bakers Park to Ogwell 
as a short-term priority, see LCWIP Appendix B table 6.1, Priority 1. Heart of 
Teignbridge Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan - Have your say 

 
1.6     The Garden Community website includes information about the route as well 

as other active travel priorities and recent progress: Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) (arcgis.com)   

 

1.7  Ogwell Parish Council were not in objection to the Ogwell Strategic Cycling 
and Walking Link planning application. However, they noted the need for 
particular consideration in relation to Bunting Close to support safe shared-
use with off-road width constraints and to ensure safety when joining on-road. 
Their further input will be sought during the design preparation process for 
Phase 2.      

 
  
2. Report Detail  
 
2.1 Overall route alignment & existing/future potential connectivity  
 
2.1.1   The Ogwell Strategic Cycling and Walking Link will help to enable the 

following existing and proposed future connections:  

• Linking Ogwell into the Newton Abbot town centre and railway, which is 
accessible via the National Cycle Network Route 2 (NCN2).  

• Linking Ogwell (via Newton Abbot and Kingsteignton) into the National 
Cycle Network Route 28, Stover Trail and Wray Valley Trail.  

• Future connectivity enhanced between NA3 developments, Decoy Park 
and the Newton Abbot town centre facilities, by linking into the Ogwell 
Strategic Link at Bradley Road/Totnes Road junction.  

103

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/environmental-health-and-wellbeing/climate-change/air-quality/air-quality-action-plan/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/haveyoursay/consultations/heart-of-teignbridge-local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plan/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/haveyoursay/consultations/heart-of-teignbridge-local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plan/
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/b127b3cc51534c4d8c32183ad3d2b56d
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/b127b3cc51534c4d8c32183ad3d2b56d


 

Committee: Executive Committee  
Date of meeting: 4th March 2025 

• Future delivery proposals (NCN2), Teign Estuary Trail between Newton 
Abbot/Kingsteignton, via Bishopsteignton to Teignmouth and Dawlish (to 
connect into the existing Exe Estuary Trail to Exeter and Exmouth).  

• Future delivery proposals, to link into Torbay from Newton Abbot, through 
improved provision to extend the NCN2 or NCN28.  

 
2.1.2   Appendix 1 shows the illustrative alignment of Phase 2 of the Ogwell Strategic 

Cycling and Walking Link, between Baker’s Park and Beverley Way with 
onward connectivity via Bunting Close to Ogwell and alternative onward 
connectivity via Bradley Road towards future Wolborough developments and 
Decoy Park, or southbound to Abbotskerswell via existing lanes.   

 
 
3. Implications, Risk Management and Climate Change Impact 

 
3.1  Financial   
 
3.1.1  The funding is all from external and not direct TDC sources, so there are no 

direct costs for TDC. There will be a funding agreement completed between 
TDC and DCC to allocate the £65,000 funding towards detailed designs for 
Phase 2 of Ogwell Strategic Cycling and Walking Link and to require DCC to 
lead on and oversee the completion of suitable designs by the end of the 
2025 calendar year.  

 
3.2    Legal 
3.2.1   The byelaw process has been progressed and approved by Government to 
enable cycling only on any future dedicated route or routes in Bakers Park (and the 
other four parks covered by the byelaw).  Cycling was  previously prohibitedin those 
parks. Following a full public consultation, there is now a final public notification 
period underway, and any responses will be considered before either 
completing/making the new byelaw(s) or otherwise. 
3.3    Risks 

3.3.1   Phase 1 has been successfully completed and it is important that Phase 2 
follows on promptly to avoid the risk of this becoming a long-term ‘route to 
nowhere’.  

3.4   Environmental/Climate Change Impact 

3.4.1 The project aligns with various objectives within the Devon Carbon Plan and 
emerging Teignbridge Carbon Plan. A cohesive active travel network can 
support a significant improvement in health and wellbeing for the individuals 
taking part in active travel as well as for the wider local community via 
environmental benefits. There is a certain amount of embedded carbon at any 
scale of new or improved provision, but the active travel benefits are a notable 
positive output projected for this project. 
 

4. Alternative Options 
 

104

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/


 

Committee: Executive Committee  
Date of meeting: 4th March 2025 

4.1  Do not continue with the Ogwell Strategic Cycling and Walking Link project. 
This would result in no safe route for bicycles between Ogwell and Newton 
Abbot, and Phase 1 would remain a ‘route to nowhere’.  

5. Conclusion 
5.1 The Ogwell Strategic Cycling and Walking Link will support safe and 

appealing bicycle travel between Ogwell and Newton Abbot town centre, 
railway and onward leisure routes that are nationally recognised.  

5.2 The external funding from Homes England and the designated s106 funds will 
enable the full design work to be carried out for Phase 2 of the Ogwell 
Strategic Cycling and Walking Link. This will place the project in a good 
position for DCC to secure external funding for construction of Phase 2 and 
enabling the range of expected benefits from this scheme.  

105

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



107



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Executive Committee  
6th June 2023 

Teignbridge District Council 
Committee name: Executive Committee 
Meeting date: 6th June 2023 
Part i  

Report Title 
Ogwell Strategic Link, phase 1 delivery  

Purpose of Report 
To enable delivery of phase 1 of the Ogwell Strategic Link using £190,000 externally 
awarded funding from Homes England (available for spend during the 2023/24 
financial year only). Phase 1 focuses on the Baker’s Park area.  
 
 

Recommendation(s) 
The Executive approval for the following: 

(1) To approve implementation of phase 1 of the Ogwell Strategic Link cycle 

and pedestrian route using £190,000 government grant funding; and  

(2) To delegate authority to the Head of Place & Commercial Services to 
finalise agreements with Devon County Council as necessary to secure 
delivery of the project.  

 
 

Financial Implications 
 
The financial implications are detailed in Section 3.1.  
 
Martin Flitcroft  
Head of Corporate Services 
Email: martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk 
 

Legal Implications 
 

See section 3.3 
 

Paul Woodhead 
Head of Legal Service & Monitoring Officer  
Email: paul.woodhead@teignbridge.gov.uk 
 
 

Risk Assessment 
 

The project delivery process includes safety assessment/risk assessment process.  
See Section 4 below 
 
Also see Equality Impact Assessment summary (paragraph 3.4.2), and the full EqIA 
in Appendix 4.  
 

109

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/
mailto:martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk
mailto:paul.woodhead@teignbridge.gov.uk


 

Committee: Executive Committee  
Date of meeting: 6th June 2023 

Estelle Skinner 
Green Infrastructure Officer 
Email: estelle.skinner@teignbridge.gov.uk 
 
 

Environmental/ Climate Change Implications 
 
See section 3.5 below. 
 
William Elliot  
Climate Change Officer  
Email: William.elliot@teignbridge.gov.uk  
  
 

Report Author 
Estelle Skinner, Green Infrastructure Officer (Spatial Planning) 
Email: estelle.skinner@teignbridge.gov.uk  
 

Executive Member 
Cllr Gary Taylor, Executive Member for Planning and Building Control 
 

Appendices/Background Papers 
Appendix 1 – National Cycle Network map (in & surrounding Newton Abbot) 
Appendix 2 – illustrative alignment plan, Ogwell Strategic Link (phase 1 highlighted) 
Appendix 3 – illustrative general arrangement plan for phase 1, Ogwell Strategic Link   
Appendix 4 – Equality Impact Assessment for Ogwell Strategic Link  
 
 

1. Introduction/Background 

1.1  The Ogwell Strategic Link project objective is delivery of a shared off-road 
bicycle and walking route between Newton Abbot and Ogwell, to enable 
significantly more appeal and safety for cycling. This would be done via 
predominantly off-road provision, as an alternative to on-road travel along the 
busy and constrained Totnes Road A381.  

 
1.2  Devon County Council and Teignbridge District Council work closely together 

on delivery of strategic active and sustainable travel projects within 
Teignbridge. Devon County Council was granted conditional planning 
permission for the Ogwell Strategic Link in January 2019. Teignbridge 
Highways and Traffic Orders Committee (HATOC) approved the overall route 
delivery in November 2019.  

 

1.3  In 2019, the Council declared a Climate Change Emergency, became a 
signatory of the Devon Climate Emergency, and is producing a Teignbridge 
Carbon Action Plan. The delivery of active and sustainable travel 
improvements is recognised as one of the important responses to the Climate 
Emergency, with transport being the largest sector of greenhouse gas 
emissions in Teignbridge.  

 

110

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/
mailto:estelle.skinner@teignbridge.gov.uk
mailto:William.elliot@teignbridge.gov.uk
mailto:estelle.skinner@teignbridge.gov.uk


 

Committee: Executive Committee  
Date of meeting: 6th June 2023 

1.4  Supporting high-quality active journeys also aligns with core Council strategic 
objectives:  

• Moving up a Gear 

• Out and About and Active 

• Action on Climate 

• Great Places to Live & Work 

 

1.5  The Ogwell Neighbourhood Plan (Policy TP01) recognises the need to better 
connect between Ogwell and Newton Abbot with safe paths and cycleways. 
Ogwell Parish Council were not in objection to the planning application. They 
noted the need for particular consideration in relation to Bunting Close to 
support safe shared-use with off-road width constraints and to ensure safety 
when joining on-road. This will be delivered via a following phase and the 
detailed design will include appropriate safety review process.  

 
1.6  The Newton Abbot Neighbourhood Plan recognises the benefits of appealing 

and safe connectivity for on-foot and bicycle travel with local residents 
highlighting the need to make the town ‘greener’ by improving access to 
cycleways. Newton Abbot Town Council were not in objection to the planning 
application. They raised a concern about visibility and user safety at the upper 
(southern) end of Steppes Meadow where it joins Totnes Road A381. As part 
of the project delivery, the County Council (in 2021) adapted the alignment of 
the junction markings at Steppes Meadow and Totnes Road A381 junction, to 
improve safety (in particular for more vulnerable users).  

 
1.7 The Heart of Teignbridge Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 

(LCWIP) was produced during 2021 to 2022 and included a formal public 
consultation in autumn 2021. The consultation showed good overall support 
for the proposals. The LCWIP recognises the route needs that are already in 
progress, including Ogwell Strategic Link with potential future links to the 
development areas of Wolborough.  

 
1.8     The Newton Abbot and Kingsteignton Garden Community status was awarded 

by Homes England in 2019, to help revitalise neighbourhoods and shape 
significant developments and facilities for local communities. Homes England 
has awarded £190,000 capital funding towards Ogwell Strategic Link, for use 
in 2023/24. The Garden Community website includes information about the 
route as well as other active travel priorities and recent progress: Local Cycling 
and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) (arcgis.com)   

 
  
2. Report Detail  
 
2.1 Overall route alignment & existing/future potential connectivity  
 
2.1.1   Appendix 1 shows the sections of National Cycle Network (NCN) routes in 

and surrounding Newton Abbot (orange lines are off-road provision and blue 
lines are on-road provision). The Ogwell Strategic Link will help to enable the 
following existing and proposed future connections:  

111

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/b127b3cc51534c4d8c32183ad3d2b56d
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/b127b3cc51534c4d8c32183ad3d2b56d


 

Committee: Executive Committee  
Date of meeting: 6th June 2023 

• Linking Ogwell into the Newton Abbot town centre and railway, which is 
accessible via the National Cycle Network Route 2 (NCN2).  

• Linking Ogwell (via Newton Abbot and Kingsteignton) into the National 
Cycle Network Route 28, Stover Trail and Wray Valley Trail.  

• Possible future connectivity from NA3 growth areas into Newton Abbot 
town centre, by linking into the Ogwell Strategic Link at Bradley Road / 
Beverley Way.   

• Future delivery proposals (NCN2), Teign Estuary Trail between Newton 
Abbot/Kingsteignton, Teignmouth and Dawlish, connecting into the 
existing Exe Estuary Trail to Exeter and Exmouth.  

• Future delivery proposals, to link into Torbay into the from Newton Abbot, 
extending the NCN2 or NCN28.  

 
2.1.2   Appendix 2 shows the illustrative alignment of the Ogwell Strategic Link, with 

Steppes Meadow and Baker’s Park at the eastern extent and Bunting Close at 
the western extent. Phase 1 focuses on the Baker’s Park area including 
formalising ownership of Steppes Meadow (subject to due process) and 
delivering the stretch of route past the tennis courts (see phase 1 highlighted 
in Appendix 2). Subsequent phases will be required prior to fully opening the 
route for use, which will be to connect into Beverley Way and onward via 
Bunting Close into Ogwell. However, upfront benefits from phase 1 will be 
formalising the maintenance for Steppes Meadow (subject to due process), 
which is currently unregistered land.  

 
 

2.2 Local Input, byelaw process & route design information  
 
2.2.1  There is currently a byelaw in place against bicycle riding in Baker’s Park and 

four other local parks in Newton Abbot (Courtenay, Forde, Osborne, 
Powderham). Full Council in February 2022 approved following the process to 
consider amending the byelaw to enable bicycle riding suitable future routes. 
The byelaw amendment process is subject to public consultation and approval 
by the relevant government department.  

 
2.2.2   The public consultation was held during December 2022 and January 2023, 

and the public consultation feedback report is available on the Council 
website (consultations pages) and on the Newton Abbot Garden Community 
website. There was good overall support for amending the byelaw, with a 
focus on how future routes are designed (either segregating walkers and 
bicycle riders or ensuring sufficient width, visibility and promotion of respectful 
behaviour on shared routes). There were multiple comments from 
respondents about the need for a safe bicycle route between Ogwell and 
Newton Abbot, flagging the risk of using the Totnes Road A381.  

 
2.2.3   The illustrative general arrangement plan for phase 1 can be seen in 

Appendix 3. The shared-route will follow the southern path through Baker’s 
Park, which has fairly low levels of footfall, whereas the northern path is well 
used by dog-walkers and other walkers such as family groups. The width will 
be 3m minimum. There will be signage to promote respectful behaviour and to 

112

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/


 

Committee: Executive Committee  
Date of meeting: 6th June 2023 

encourage low speeds on-bicycle (signage install timing is likely to be once 
the route is fully opened).  

 
2.2.4   The footbridge over the River Lemon (see this labelled in Appendix 2) that 

connects into Steppes Meadow and Baker’s Park is below a suitable width for 
riding a bicycle and the railings are too low for formal safety of riding a bicycle 
over the footbridge. Dismounting and pushing bicycles over the bridge is not 
ideal, and so there has been an initial feasibility and broad cost estimate in 
the region of £150,000 for a replacement bridge of 4m usable width (this 
allows for investigation of ground conditions but does not allow for meeting 
any challenging ground conditions that may be encountered, nor does it allow 
for any land agreements or permits).  

 
2.2.5   There is a vehicular access permitted for No.4 Totnes Road, for access to 

No.4 via Steppes Meadow and the southern path through Bakers Park. 
However, vehicular trips are likely to be, and remain, low in volume and 
speed. The Council could consider further measures to control misuse of this 
access if the need arose at a later stage.  

 
 
3. Implications, Risk Management and Climate Change Impact 

 
3.1  Financial   
 
3.1.1  Steppes Meadow is currently unregistered and there is not any maintenance 

responsibility on either Teignbridge District Council or Devon County Council. 
However, in the interests of the Ogwell Strategic Link delivery and ongoing 
maintenance, Devon County Council will take steps to formally register 
Steppes Meadow as Highway Maintainable at Public Expense (HMPE).  

 
3.1.2 Devon County Council will complete a Deed of Dedication with Teignbridge 

District Council, for the new stretch of route alongside the tennis courts in 
Bakers Park. Devon County Council will then maintain that new stretch in 
Bakers Park. There is anticipated to be fairly minimal changes to the lifespan 
and maintenance needs of the existing southern path via Bakers Park, as 
bicycles are lightweight vehicles. This will remain under Teignbridge District 
Council maintenance.  

 
3.1.3 The Ogwell Strategic Link is a Teignbridge District Council capital project. 

Phase 1 will be delivered using external funding of £190,000, which have 
awarded for this purpose by Homes England. This is a Garden Communities 
Funding Allocation ‘infrastructure funding’ and the funds are held by 
Teignbridge District Council. The spend by date is 31st March 2024.  

 
3.1.4   Further funding will be required for future completion of the overall route link. 

This will be sought by the County Council, with relevant officer support from 
Teignbridge District Council. The County Council, as Highway Authority, is the 
lead on the delivery of the project.  

 
 

113

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/


 

Committee: Executive Committee  
Date of meeting: 6th June 2023 

3.2 Economic opportunities  
 
3.2.1  There are economic benefits that can be generated from provision of high-

quality active travel provision, in particular goods and services demand from 
high-quality multi-user trails, which can benefit the towns and villages linked to 
those trails. See the link below, which evidences positive goods and services 
benefits related to multi-user trails in Devon. Ogwell is currently fairly isolated 
in terms of ease of access to safe bicycle routes, for example linking into the 
National Cycle Network. 
https://www.northdevonbiosphere.org.uk/uploads/1/5/4/4/15448192/sqw_devo
n_cycling_and_walking_trails_economic_impact_report.pdf 

 

3.2.2  In the public consultation held in 2019, on the National Cycle Network Route 2 
(NCN2) Improvements in Newton Abbot central vicinity (66-respondents), just 
shy of 25% of respondents already use their bicycle for shopping trips in town, 
and a total of 60% of respondents said they would use their bicycle for 
shopping trips in town if the improvements to NCN2 were carried out. This 
does not include Ogwell but indicates some of the potential benefits that may 
be realised, alongside important wellbeing and environmental benefits. 
indicates similar benefits from wider connectivity improvements to the NCN2.  
For further information, please see National Cycle Network Route proposals - 
feedback - Teignbridge District Council 

 
 
3.3    Legal 
3.3.1  There is the need to complete the byelaw amendment process, in relation to 

which all necessary committee decisions have been made. A report is due to 
be submitted to the relevant government department in May 2023 and the 
response should be received by July 2023. There is a low risk of refusal 
based on the predominantly positive public consultation response and the 
safety benefits of an alternative route by bicycle away from Totnes Road 
A381, via the shared off-road provision. Phase 1 construction works would not 
commence until late in 2023.  

 
3.4   Risks 
3.4.1   As with any public provision, suitable design is important, and respectful 

behaviour by users is also particularly important. Route signage will function 
as a visual reminder of the expectation of respectful use by all. Ongoing 
feedback on route outcomes will be requested via the Teignbridge Cycle 
Forum, which is held biannually and is open to anyone interested in local 
active and sustainable travel.  

Risks related to practical aspects of delivery are weather and ground 
conditions. This is mitigated by building relevant contingency into the delivery 
timeframe to allow for any unavoidable slippage. This will reduce risk of 
slippage beyond the spend date of 31st March 2024. In terms of finances, 
inflation pressures may continue to notably affect costs of project delivery, 
and this is mitigated by building relevant contingency into the cost estimate to 
allow for continued high levels of inflation. The adoption of Steppes Meadow 

114

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/community-and-people/major-projects-and-regeneration/future-high-street-fund/national-cycle-network-route-proposals-feedback/
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/community-and-people/major-projects-and-regeneration/future-high-street-fund/national-cycle-network-route-proposals-feedback/


 

Committee: Executive Committee  
Date of meeting: 6th June 2023 

involves a low risk, as the process includes advertising a public notice and 
any representations will be properly considered.  

 

3.4.2  An Equality Impact Assessment form has been completed and is in Appendix 
3. A brief summary of this is below:  

Summary of significant negative impacts and how they can be mitigated or 
justified:  

The byelaw consultation feedback noted the importance of ensuring good 
quality design and encouraging respectful behaviour by all users (such as 
clear and appropriate signage), to limit risk of impact on more vulnerable 
pedestrians on shared-use provision (ie – shared provision by those on-foot 
and on-bicycles).    
Summary of positive impacts / opportunities to promote the Public Sector 
Equality Duty:  

Provision of safe off-road routes for those on-bicycles and on-foot often 
encourages increased levels of uptake and uptake by a greater diversity of 
local communities and visitors. The byelaw consultation feedback noted the 
challenges of on-road travel using the busy and constrained Totnes Road 
A381, and the lack of safe and appealing connectivity for those on-bicycle 
to travel between Ogwell and Newton Abbot.  

 
 

3.5    Environmental/Climate Change Impact 
3.5.1 The project aligns with various objectives within the Devon Carbon Plan and 

emerging Teignbridge Carbon Plan. A cohesive active travel network can 
support a significant improvement in health and wellbeing for the individuals 
taking part in active travel as well as for the wider local community via 
environmental benefits. There is a certain amount of embedded carbon at any 
scale of new or improved provision but as phase 1 is being delivered utilising 
the existing provision and a relatively short stretch of new provision with some 
Cell-web (not impermeable tarmac) surfacing there will be a reduced level of 
embedded carbon.   

 

4. Alternative Options 
 

4.1  An alternate option was considered via the Bradley Manor grounds, which is 
managed by National Trust. However, due to the volume of pedestrian usage 
this was not considered feasible by the Trust.  

4.2     The funding was originally dedicated by Homes England towards the Bradley 
Lane Bus Link project. Following public consultation on this project in Autumn 
2022, we informed Homes England that we would not be able to take this 
project forward. Officers worked closely with Homes England to explore the 
potential for other unfunded active/sustainable travel schemes to benefit from 
the funding instead.  Homes England were amenable to this on the basis that 
schemes should benefit from local support, could be implemented 
immediately and would benefit the Newton Abbot and Kingsteignton Garden 
Community area.  

115

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/


 

Committee: Executive Committee  
Date of meeting: 6th June 2023 

4.3   The Jetty Marsh link was identified as a possible option that might free up 
funds for other projects like the Ogwell Strategic Link. However, Homes 
England’s preference was for the funds to be directed straight to the Ogwell 
Strategic Link. No other relevant schemes are ready for immediate 
implementation. Ogwell Strategic Link has planning permission, has formed 
part of multiple public consultations (planning application consultation, Heart 
of Teignbridge Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan consultation, 
and Newton Abbot bicycle riding and parks byelaw consultation), and already 
has Devon County Council approval for delivery.  

4.3  No action would result in no safe route for bicycles between Ogwell and 
Newton Abbot.  

 

5. Conclusion 
5.1 The Ogwell Strategic Link will support safe and appealing bicycle travel 

between Ogwell and Newton Abbot town centre, railway and onward leisure 
routes that are nationally recognised.  

5.2 The external funding from Homes England for Phase 1 of the Ogwell Strategic 
Link is available for spend during 2023/24 financial year only. Positive and 
timely delivery of external funding is important, so funders see evidence that 
funds awarded for improvements to benefit communities in the Heart of 
Teignbridge will be used accordingly.  

 

116

http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/


 

117



Appendix 1
To PTE/19/43

APPENDIX 2Footbridge

Tennis
Courts

Wolborough Street

To
tn

es
 R

oa
d

Bakers
Park

PH
AS

E 
O

N
E

118



Existing Ordnance /

Topographical Survey

Proposed surfacing

Proposed Earthwork Cutting

Proposed Earthwork

Embankment

Proposed Verge

Proposed Route

Legend

9

3

E

D

 
&

 
W

a

r
d

 
B

d

y

C

S

1

3

5

8

B

r

e

d

o

n

O

L

D

 

T

O

T

N

E

S

 

R

O

A

D

2
3

2

1

5

T

O

T

N

E

S

 
R

O

A

D

L
o
d
g
e

6

B

E

V

E

R

L

E

Y

P

C

s

1

2

.

5

m

T

e

n

n

i
s

 
C

o

u

r
t
s

L

B

C

h

o

l

w

e

l

l

B

a

k

e

r

'

s

 

P

a

r

k

1

2

L

e

 

C

a

t

e

a

u

W

o

l

b

o

r

o

u

g

h

 

C

h

u

r

c

h

 

P

a

t

h

P

a

v

i

l

i

o

n

W

A

Y

1

1

7

1

4

P

l

a

y

g

r

o

u

n

d

1

7

1
0

3

2

1

A

l

l

o

t

m

e

n

t

 

G

a

r

d

e

n

s

G

G

G

M
H

M
H

M
H

M
H

M
H

M
H

M
H

M
H

M
H

M
H

M
H

M
H M

H

M
H

M
H

M
H

M
H

IC

IC

IC

IC

IC

IC

ToWToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

ToWToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

ToW

DP
DP

Bol

Bol

Bol

Bol

Bol

Bol

Bol

Bol

Bol

IC

G

HH

HH

HH

HH

TF

TF

TF

TF

TF

TF

TF

TF

JP120.98

JP2

27.61

JP323.42

JP417.86

JP521.78
OLD1

26.97

JQ10

24.77

SR210.49

SR612.52

CB19.59

SR19.52

SR313.90

SR414.97

SR714.84

SR815.19

SR516.35

SR920.05

SR10

21.75

RN120.18

RN2

21.53

1

2

8

9

3

5

C

P

E

l

 

S

u

b

 

S

t

a

B

a

k

e

r

'

s

 

P

a

r

k

1

P

l

a

y

g

r

o

u

n

d

S

T

E

P

P

E

S

 
M

E

A

D

O

W

F

B

D

W

D

W

D

W

New section of 3.0m wide

shared use path.

Existing path signing permitting

cycling to be added (respectful

shared use).

Surfacing and drainage

improvements to facilitate

adoption as HMPE.

Existing footbridge over

River Lemon.

Contains Ordnance Survey data.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2023. 100019783.

RP MM

S2 - FOR INFORMATION

wsp.com

 The Forum, Barnfield Road, Exeter, EX1 1QR, UK

T+ 44 (0) 1392 229 700, F+ 44 (0) 1392 229 701

DO NOT SCALE

APPROVED:

DRAWING No:

SCALE @ A1:

TITLE:

SITE/PROJECT:

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DATE:

REV:

CLIENT:

DRAWING STATUS:

F
i
l
e

 
n

a
m

e
 
\
\
U

K
.
W

S
P

G
R

O
U

P
.
C

O
M

\
C

E
N

T
R

A
L

 
D

A
T

A
\
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

S
\
7

0
1

0
7

X
X

X
\
7

0
1

0
7

3
4

0
 
-
 
O

G
W

E
L

L
 
T

O
 
N

E
W

T
O

N
 
A

B
B

O
T

\
0

3
 
W

I
P

\
3

G
 
D

O
C

S
 
R

E
C

E
I
V

E
D

\
S

C
H

E
M

E
 
I
N

F
O

R
M

A
T

I
O

N
 
F

R
O

M
 
R

I
C

H
A

R
D

 
K

-
S

\
W

O
R

K
I
N

G
 
D

R
A

W
I
N

G
S

\
I
C

R
C

 
D

R
A

W
I
N

G
S

\
A

C
A

D
\
7

0
1

0
7

3
4

0
-
W

S
P

-
H

G
N

-
S

C
-
1

0
0

-
D

R
-
0

1
.
D

W
G

,
 
p

r
i
n

t
e

d
 
o

n
 
1

6
 
M

a
y
 
2

0
2

3
 
1

0
:
1

2
:
1

6
,
 
b

y
 
O

p
i
e

,
 
L

a
u

r
a

DRAWN:

WSP UK Ltd

c

PROJECT NO:

May 23GRBM

MMRP1:500

GENERAL ARRANGEMENT  PLAN

PHASE 1

OGWELL STRATEGIC LINK

P0170107340-WSP-HGN-SC-100-DR-01

70107340

Notes

1. Do not scale from this drawing

2. Drawing to be printed in colour

3. Dimensions are in meters unless

otherwise stated

119

AutoCAD SHX Text
REV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
CHK

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
APP

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
P01

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
15/05/2023

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
GR

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
FIRST ISSUE



 

 

Equality Impact Assessment     

Assessment Of: National Cycle Network 

Route 2 improvements project (Newton 

Abbot central area) 

 

☐ Policy  ☐ Strategy  ☐ Function  ☒ Service 

☒ Other [please state] Infrastructure provision 

☐ New  

☐ Already exists / review ☒ Changing  

Directorate: Place and Commercial Services Assessment carried out by: Estelle Skinner 

Service Area: Spatial Planning Job Role: Green Infrastructure Officer  

Version / Date of Sign Off by Director:  05-05-2023 

Step 1: What do we want to do?  

This assessment should be started at the beginning of the process by someone with a good knowledge of 

the proposal and service area, and sufficient influence over the proposal. It is good practice to take a team 

approach to completing the equality impact assessment. Please contact the Policy Officer early for advice.  

1.1 What are the aims and objectives/purpose of this proposal? 

Briefly explain the purpose of the proposal and why it is needed. Describe who it is aimed at and the 

intended aims / outcomes. Where known also summarise the key actions you plan to undertake. Please use 

plain English, avoiding jargon and acronyms. Equality Impact Assessments are viewed by a wide range of 

people including decision-makers and the wider public. 

The objective of the Ogwell Strategic Link is to provide a safer and more appealing bicycle 

route (as a shared bicycle and walking route) from Ogwell to Newton Abbot town centre, 

enabling access to shops, the railway station, and onward leisure routes that are of national 

status. The Ogwell Strategic Link will offer an alternative to on-road travel, for which the primary 

route is the busy and constrained Totnes Road A381.  

 

 

1.2 Who will the proposal have the potential to affect? 

☒ Service users  ☒ The wider community ☒ Teignbridge workforce 

1.3 Will the proposal have an equality impact?   

Could the proposal affect access levels of representation or participation in a service, or does it have the 

potential to change e.g. quality of life: health, education, or standard of living etc.?  

If ‘No’ explain why you are sure there will be no equality impact, then skip steps 2-4 and request review by 

your manager. 

If ‘Yes’ complete the rest of this assessment. 

☒ Yes    ☐ No        [please select] 
 

The provision of the Ogwell Strategic Link it’s anticipated will support following outcomes: 

120

http://intranet.bcc.lan/ccm/cms-service/stream/asset/?asset_id=19824019


- Higher volumes of bicycle trips, and broader diversity of users, from Ogwell to Newton 

Abbot town centre, offering access to shops, the railway station, and onward leisure links 

that are of national status. 

- More bicycle trips into the Newton Abbot town centre can benefit local businesses and 

the market, and may also benefit towns and villages along wider leisure routes: 

https://www.northdevonbiosphere.org.uk/uploads/1/5/4/4/15448192/sqw_devon_cycling_
and_walking_trails_economic_impact_report.pdf  

- Feedback from the public consultation for amending the byelaw against bicycle riding in 

five Newton Abbot parks (including Baker’s Park) was predominantly favourable and 

there were multiple comments with regard to the need for a safe bicycle option 

between Ogwell and Newton Abbot, in particular to a wider range of users who would 

not travel on the busy and constrained Totnes Road A381.  

- The consultation feedback did also note the need to promote respectful behaviour of all 

users on pedestrian & bicycle shared routes, to reduce risk of users with reduced mobility, 

or hearing/sight difficulties, and other relevant health conditions, from being 

disadvantaged.  

- There are various local examples of popular, well-functioning shared routes, including on 

the Stover Trail, Wray Valley Trail, and Exe Estuary Trail.  

- In general, there are wellbeing benefits of regular bicycle riding and/or walking, both 

mental and physical.  

- In general, there are environmental benefits of bicycle riding and walking, where these 

modes of travel may replace some car/van journeys, particularly for local trips into the 

town.  

 

 

Step 2: What information do we have?  

2.1 What data or evidence is there which tells us who is, or could be affected? 

Please use this section to demonstrate an understanding of who could be affected by the proposal. Include 

general population data where appropriate, and information about people who will be affected with 

particular reference to protected and other relevant characteristics (listed in 2.2). 

Use one row for each evidence source and say which characteristic(s) it relates to. You can include a mix 

of qualitative and quantitative data - from national research, local data or previous consultations and 

engagement activities. 

Outline whether there are any over or under representation of equality groups within your service - don't 

forget to benchmark to local population where appropriate.  

For workforce / management of change proposals you will need to look at the diversity of the affected 

team(s) using available evidence such as the employee profile data.   Identify any under/over-

representation compared with Teignbridge’s economically active citizens for age, disability, ethnicity, 

gender, religion/belief and sexual orientation.  

Data / Evidence Source 
[Include a reference where known] 

Summary of what this tells us 

Public consultation on the amendment to the 

byelaw against bicycle riding in five Newton 

Abbot parks (including Baker’s Park). See 

consultation report via the Teignbridge District 

Council consultation webpages and on the 

Newton Abbot & Kingsteignton Garden 

Community website (parks & green spaces 

section).  

 

Feedback is predominantly supportive of 

enabling suitable provision for bicycle riding 

within Newton Abbot parks. It was recognised 

that this would be likely to support a wider 

range of potential users. The design of routes 

was raised as particularly important, to 

support respectful behaviour of all users, most 

notably on routes shared by those on-foot 

and on-bicycle, and to reduce risk of 

negative impact on pedestrians with limited 121



2.2  Do you currently monitor relevant activity by the following protected 

characteristics? 

☐ Age ☐ Disability ☐ Gender Reassignment 
☐ Marriage and Civil Partnership ☐ Pregnancy/Maternity ☐ Race  

☐ Religion or Belief ☐ Sex ☐ Sexual Orientation 

2.3  Are there any gaps in the evidence base?  

Where there are gaps in the evidence, or you don’t have enough information about some equality groups, 

include an equality action to find out in section 4.2 below. This doesn’t mean that you can’t complete the 

assessment without the information, but you need to follow up the action and if necessary, review the 

assessment later. If you are unable to fill in the gaps please state this clearly with a justification. 

For workforce related proposals all relevant information on characteristics may need to be sought from HR 

(e.g. pregnancy/maternity). For smaller teams diversity data may be redacted. A high proportion of not 

known/not disclosed may require action to address and identify the information needed. 

We monitor volume of use of certain routes (via cycle counters) but we do not specifically 

monitor usage across the protected characteristics. However, we receive local input via the 

Teignbridge Cycle Forum (which includes stakeholders for walking and accessibility as well as 

cycling) and via local consultations.  

 

The feedback indicates there are key barriers to uptake of walking and cycling, and those 

barriers include the quality and perceived safety of provision, the need for more dedicated 

provision, and the need for better connected provision. This correlates with national survey 

research and the recent Newton Abbot parks byelaw consultation:  Cycling Factsheet, 

England 2020 (publishing.service.gov.uk) 
 

2.4 How have you involved communities and groups that could be affected?  

You will nearly always need to involve and consult with internal and external stakeholders during your 

assessment. The extent of the engagement will depend on the nature of the proposal or change. This 

should usually include individuals and groups representing different relevant protected characteristics. 

Please include details of any completed engagement and consultation and how representative this has 

been of Teignbridge’s diverse communities. 

Include the main findings of any engagement and consultation in Section 2.1 above. 

If you are managing a workforce change process or restructure please refer to HR for advice on how to 

consult and engage with employees.  Relevant stakeholders for engagement about workforce changes 

may include e.g. staff-led groups, trades unions as well as affected staff.  

mobility, sight/hearing difficulties, and any 

other relevant health conditions.   

 

The Heart of Teignbridge Local Cycling and 

Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) identifies 

the need to improve links within and to the 

Heart of Teignbridge, to support use by all 

ages and abilities.  Heart of Teignbridge 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 

Plan - Have Your Say (devon.gov.uk) 

 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 

Plan (LCWIP) (arcgis.com) 

New and improved active travel delivery can 

broaden uptake by offering routes to appeal 

to a wider range of ages and abilities.   

122

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1019372/cycling-factsheet-2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1019372/cycling-factsheet-2020.pdf
https://www.devon.gov.uk/haveyoursay/consultations/heart-of-teignbridge-local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plan/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/haveyoursay/consultations/heart-of-teignbridge-local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plan/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/haveyoursay/consultations/heart-of-teignbridge-local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plan/
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/b127b3cc51534c4d8c32183ad3d2b56d
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/b127b3cc51534c4d8c32183ad3d2b56d


We host the Teignbridge Cycle Forum biannually and this includes a wide range of 

stakeholders with interests in cycling, walking and accessibility, as well as sustainable 

transport. There has also been public consultation on the Newton Abbot parks byelaw, 

and on the Heart of Teignbridge Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.  
 

 

2.5 How will engagement with stakeholders continue? 

Explain how you will continue to engage with stakeholders throughout the course of planning and delivery. 

Please describe where more engagement and consultation is required and set out how you intend to 

undertake it. Include any targeted work to seek the views of under-represented groups. If you do not intend 

to undertake it, please set out your justification. You can ask the Consultation Officer for help in targeting 

particular groups. 

Communication will continue via these means:  

- Teignbridge Cycle Forum  

- Newton Abbot and Kingsteignton Garden Community website 

- Teignbridge District Council website  

- Resident’s newsletter updates 

- Social media  

Step 3: Who might the proposal impact? 

Analysis of impacts must be rigorous. Please demonstrate your analysis of any impacts of the proposal in this 

section, referring to evidence you have gathered above and the characteristics protected by the Equality 

Act 2010. Also include details of existing issues for particular groups that you are aware of and are seeking 

to address or mitigate through this proposal.  

3.1  Does the proposal have any potentially adverse impacts on people on the 

basis of their protected or other relevant characteristics? 

Consider sub-categories (different kinds of disability, ethnic background etc.) and how people with 

combined characteristics (e.g. young women) might have particular needs or experience particular kinds 

of disadvantage. 

Where mitigations indicate a follow-on action, include this in the ‘Action Plan’ Section 4.2 below.  

GENERAL COMMENTS   (highlight any potential issues that might impact all or many groups) 

 

 

 

PROTECTED CHARACTERISTICS 

Age: Young People Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes  x  No  ☐  

Potential impacts: Likely to see increased uptake of bicycle riding from Ogwell to Newton 

Abbot (particularly young families).  

Mitigations: n/a 

Age: Older People Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes  x  No  ☐  

Potential impacts: Likely to see increased uptake of bicycle riding from Ogwell to Newton 

Abbot.   

Mitigations: n/a 

123



Disability Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes x  No  ☐  

Potential impacts: Likely to see increased uptake of bicycle riding from Ogwell to Newton 

Abbot (the route design will seek to avoid physical barriers for 

modified bicycle equipment). Important to design for and promote 

respectful behaviour by all route users (and recognition of personal 

responsibility when sharing routes with other users), to limit risk of 

disadvantaging those with reduced mobility, sight/hearing difficulties, 

and any other relevant health conditions.  

Mitigations: n/a 

Sex Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes  x  No ☐ 

Potential impacts: Likely to see increased uptake of bicycle riding from Ogwell to Newton 

Abbot (female uptake is often lower for cycling on routes that are not 

good-quality and are lacking dedicated provision and/or lacking a good 

perceived level of safety).  

Mitigations:  

Sexual orientation Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes  ☐  No  x 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Pregnancy / 

Maternity 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes  ☐  No  x  

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Gender 

reassignment 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes  ☐  No   x 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Race Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No   x   

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations: n/a 

Religion or 

Belief 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes  ☐  No  x  

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

Marriage & 

civil partnership 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes  ☐  No  x  

124



Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

 

OTHER RELEVANT CHARACTERISTICS 

 

Socio-Economic 

(deprivation) 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes x    No  ☐  

Potential impacts: Between 20 – 25% of households in Newton Abbot do not have access to 

a private car/van, and so rely on other modes of transport.  

Mitigations: n/a 

Other group(s) 

Please add 

additional rows below 

to detail the impact 

for other relevant 

groups as 

appropriate e.g. 

Asylums and 

Refugees; 

Rural/Urban 

Communities, 

Homelessness, Digital 

Exclusion, Access To 

Transport 

 

Homelessness 

 

Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No  x 

 

Potential impacts: 

 

 

Mitigations: 

 

 

Digital Exclusion Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐  No  x 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations: 

 

 

Asylums/refugees Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐  No  x 

Potential impacts:  

Mitigations:  

 

125



3.2  Does the proposal create any benefits for people on the basis of their 

protected or other relevant characteristics? 

Outline any potential benefits of the proposal and how they can be maximised. Identify how the proposal 

will support our Public Sector Equality Duty to: 

✓ Eliminate unlawful discrimination for a protected group 

✓ Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those 

who don’t 

✓ Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t 

 
See section 1, 2.1 and 3.1 for identified impacts which are likely to have relevant outputs for the 

stated protected characteristics. 

 

 

 

 

Step 4: Impact 

4.1  How has the equality impact assessment informed or changed the proposal?  

What are the main conclusions of this assessment? Use this section to provide an overview of your findings. 

This content should be used as a summary in reports, where this full assessment is included as an appendix. 

If you have identified any significant negative impacts which cannot be mitigated, provide a justification 

showing how the proposal is proportionate, necessary and appropriate despite this. 

Summary of significant negative impacts and how they can be mitigated or justified: 
Many byelaw consultation respondents noted the need to design for and promote respectful 

behaviour by all route users, to reduce risk of anti-social behaviour and possible impact on 

pedestrians with limited mobility, hearing/sight difficulties, and any other relevant health 

conditions. Route design process, as standard, seeks to ensure the most appropriate provision 

on a site-by-site basis, in terms of type of route, width, directness, gradient and other 

considerations. Signage will be installed as part of route delivery, to promote respectful use of 

the route and to remind users of personal responsibility to others. There are good examples of 

well-functioning shared route provision locally, including on the Stover Trail, Wray Valley Trail and 

Exe Estuary Trail.  

Summary of positive impacts / opportunities to promote the Public Sector Equality Duty: 

The Ogwell Strategic Link project delivery is likely to encourage more bicycle riding between 

Ogwell and Newton Abbot, by a wider diversity of users, particularly those who are less 

experienced/confident, enabling more local people to benefit from associated wellbeing and 

environmental outcomes.  

4.2  Action Plan  

Use this section to set out any actions you have identified to improve data, mitigate issues, or maximise 

opportunities etc. If an action is to meet the needs of a particular protected group please specify this. 

Improvement / action required Responsible Officer Timescale  

   

   

   

126

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty


4.3  How will the impact of your proposal and actions be measured?  

How will you know if have been successful? Once the activity has been implemented this equality impact 

assessment should be periodically reviewed to make sure your changes have been effective and your 

approach is still appropriate.  Include the timescale for review in your action plan above. 

Teignbridge Cycle Forum update/input sessions (biannually)  

Newton Abbot and Kingsteignton Garden Community website  

 

Step 5: Review & Sign-Off 

EIAs should only be marked as reviewed when they provide sufficient information for decision-makers on the 

equalities impact of the proposal. Please seek review and feedback from management before requesting it 

to be signed off.  All working drafts of EIAs and final signed-off EIAs should be saved in G:\GLOBAL\EIA   

Once signed-off please add the details to the ‘EIA Register’ of all council EIAs saved in the same directory.  

Reviewed by Service Manager:  

Yes ☒  

No  ☐   

Fergus Pate  

Strategic Leadership Team Sign-Off: 

Neil Blaney, Head of Place & Commercial 

Services 

Date:  Date:  
 

127



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	The Executive Member for Corporate Services Cllr Parrot presented the agenda report. In proposing the recommendation set out in the agenda report the following was also referred to:
	It was proposed by the Executive Member for Corporate Services, seconded by the Leader and unanimously,
	RECOMMENDED


	7 Dog PSPO
	Teignbridge District Council Executive 4th March 2025 Part i
	Renewal of the Public Spaces Protection Order 2022 for dog control
	Purpose of Report
	Recommendation(s)
	Financial Implications
	Legal Implications
	Risk Assessment
	Environmental/ Climate Change Implications
	Report Author
	Executive Member
	Background Papers

	EIA PSPO Renewal
	Step 1: What do we want to do?
	1.1	What are the aims and objectives/purpose of this proposal?
	1.2	Who will the proposal have the potential to affect?
	1.3	Will the proposal have an equality impact?

	Step 2: What information do we have?
	2.1	What data or evidence is there which tells us who is, or could be affected?
	2.2 	Do you currently monitor relevant activity by the following protected characteristics?
	2.3 	Are there any gaps in the evidence base?
	2.4	How have you involved communities and groups that could be affected?
	2.5 How will engagement with stakeholders continue?

	Step 3: Who might the proposal impact?
	3.1 	Does the proposal have any potentially adverse impacts on people on the basis of their protected or other relevant characteristics?
	3.2 	Does the proposal create any benefits for people on the basis of their protected or other relevant characteristics?

	Step 4: Impact
	4.1 	How has the equality impact assessment informed or changed the proposal?
	4.2 	Action Plan
	4.3 	How will the impact of your proposal and actions be measured?
	4.4 	Is there an opportunity to promote positive attitudes and good relations between different groups and communities?

	Step 5: Review & Sign-Off


	8 Housing enforcement policy
	Teignbridge District Council Executive Meeting date:  4TH March 2025
	Part i
	Housing enforcement policy and Civil penalties and other penalty charges policy
	Purpose of Report
	Recommendation(s)
	Financial Implications
	Legal Implications
	Risk Assessment
	Environmental/ Climate Change Implications
	Report Author
	Executive Member
	Appendices/Background Papers

	New enforcement policy  Final Draft Feb 2025
	Housing Enforcement Policy
	Tenants:
	Landlords and managing agents:
	Owners of empty homes:
	The Council:
	Informal approach
	Formal Approach
	Charges for Notices and Orders
	Rent Repayment Orders
	Amount of rent to be repaid:
	Banning Orders
	Notices, representations and appeals:
	Other types of enforcement
	The Redress Schemes for Lettings Agency Work and Property Management Work (Requirement to Belong to a Scheme etc) (England) Order 2014
	Additional Enforcement Options for Empty homes
	Summary of Standards
	Penalties
	Application for HMO licence
	Suitability for multiple occupation
	Fit and Proper Person
	Management Arrangements
	Licence Conditions

	Licence Term
	Issuing licences
	Variation of licences
	Revocation of licences
	Appeals of licence decisions
	Temporary Exemption Notices (TENs)
	Fees
	Additional Enforcement Options for HMOs
	Determining the amount of the penalty charge for a first breach
	Determining the amount of the penalty charge for a subsequent breach
	Civil Penalties under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 and The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020
	Statutory Guidance
	Other Policy Aims
	Civil Penalties Matrix
	Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice - Section 30 of the Housing Act 2004
	Failure to License offences
	Failure to license a Mandatory ‘HMO’ – Section 72(1) of the Housing Act 2004
	Failure to Comply with an Overcrowding Notice – Section 139 of the Housing Act 2004
	Failure to Comply with a Banning Order – Section 21 of the Housing And Planning Act 2016
	Failure to Comply with The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation [England] Regulations 2006 and The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007
	Failure to comply with the duty of manager to provide information to occupier
	Duty of manager to take safety measures
	Duty of manager to maintain water supply and drainage
	Duty of manager to supply and maintain gas and electricity
	Duty of manager to maintain common parts, fixtures, fittings and appliances
	Duty of manager to maintain living accommodation
	Duty to provide waste disposal facilities
	Breach of licence conditions – Section 72(3) Housing Act 2004
	Failure to Comply with Regulation 3 of The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020
	3.   Duties of private landlords in relation to electrical installations
	Failure to comply with Regulation 3 of The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 sections (3)(b), 3(d), 3(e)
	Failure to comply with Regulation 3 of The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 sections (1)(a), (1)(b), (1)(c), (3)(a), (3)(c), (5)(b), (5)(c)
	Failure to comply with Regulation 3 of The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 sections (4), (5a), (6)
	Process for imposing a civil penalty and the right to make representations.
	Discounts
	A guide to the minimum standards for amenities and space permitted in a house in multiple occupation.
	Introduction
	What is an HMO
	HMOs with shared facilities
	Section 257 HMOs (HMOs that are converted blocks of flats)
	Definition of a household
	Room size requirements
	A reduction in bedroom size will only be considered where a communal living room or kitchen with a dining area exists. This will depend on the size, layout and nature of the communal space and facilities available, standards of management and other health and safety considerations.

	NOTES
	Minimum requirements for kitchen facilities
	NOTES
	Minimum requirements for bathrooms/shower rooms and toilet facilities
	NOTES
	Guidance relating to all HMOs
	Legislation and Management Considerations


	EIA DRAFT Enforcement policy (1)
	Step 1: What do we want to do?
	1.1	What are the aims and objectives/purpose of this proposal?
	1.2	Who will the proposal have the potential to affect?
	1.3	Will the proposal have an equality impact?

	Step 2: What information do we have?
	2.1	What data or evidence is there which tells us who is, or could be affected?
	2.2 	Do you currently monitor relevant activity by the following protected characteristics?
	2.3 	Are there any gaps in the evidence base?
	2.4	How have you involved communities and groups that could be affected?
	2.5 How will engagement with stakeholders continue?

	Step 3: Who might the proposal impact?
	3.1 	Does the proposal have any potentially adverse impacts on people on the basis of their protected or other relevant characteristics?
	3.2 	Does the proposal create any benefits for people on the basis of their protected or other relevant characteristics?

	Step 4: Impact
	4.1 	How has the equality impact assessment informed or changed the proposal?
	4.2 	Action Plan
	4.3 	How will the impact of your proposal and actions be measured?
	4.4 	Is there an opportunity to promote positive attitudes and good relations between different groups and communities?

	Step 5: Review & Sign-Off


	9 Ogwell, Newton Abbot - Strategic cycling and walking link phase 2
	Appendix 1 - Ogwell Strategic Link, phase 2 approx. layout
	Appendix 2 - Ogwell Strategic Link Phase 1 report
	Sheets and Views
	01




